Photoacclimation of phytoplankton in different biogeochemical provinces of the Southern Ocean and its significance for estimating primary production

Die Photoakklimatisierung von Phytoplankton in verschiedenen biogeochemischen Provinzen des Antarktischen Ozeans und ihre Bedeutung für die Abschätzung der Primärproduktion

Astrid Bracher

Ber. Polarforsch. 341 (1999) ISSN 0176 - 5027

# **Astrid Bracher**

Am Handelshafen 12 Alfred-Wegener-Institut für Polar- und Meeresforschung D-27515-Bremerhaven Germany

Die vorliegende Arbeit ist die Zusammenfassung einer Dissertation, die in kumulativer Form erbracht und im Dezember 1998 dem Fachbereich Biologie/Chemie vorgelegt wurde.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS		III
SUMMARY		V
ZUSAMMENFASSUNG		VIII
1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION		1
1.1	Marine primary production	1
1.2	Southern Ocean	2
1.2.1	Primary production and the Antarctic Paradox	5
1.2.2	Ozone hole and ultraviolet radiation	9
1.3	Methodological considerations	12
1.4	Thesis outline	13
2. THEORETICAL ASPECTS OF MARINE PRIMARY PRODUCTION		16
2.1	Underwater radiation	16
2.2	Photosynthetic pigments	19
2.3	<i>In vivo</i> light absorption	20
2.4	Photosynthetic responses: The P versus E curve	21
2.5	Photoacclimation and photoinhibition	24
3. SUMMARY OF RESULTS		28
4. GENERAL DISCUSSION		32
4.1	Introduction	32
4.2	Biogeochemical provinces within the Southern Ocean	32
4.2.1	Effect of the upper mixed layer on the formation of biogeochemical provinces	34
4.2.2	Effects by iron and silicate availability	37
4.2.3	Phytoplankton communities	38
4.2.4	Contribution of different regions on total biomass of the Southern Ocean	40
4.3	Biooptical characteristics of phytoplankton	41
4.3.1	Total light absorption by phytoplankton	42
4.3.2.	Specific absorption by phytoplankton	43
4.3.3	Quantum yield	48
4.3.4	Sensitivity to enhanced UVR	49
4.4	Methodological aspects	54

I

4.4.1.	Spectral resolution of the underwater light field and absorbance characteristics	54
4.4.2.	Areal daily primary production rates	56
4.5	Application to remote sensing	60
4.5.1.	Obtaining pigment concentration	60
4.5.2.	Obtaining primary production rates	65
4.6	Concluding remarks and future perspectives	66
5. REFERENCES		71
DANKSAGUNG		89

.

# ABBREVIATIONS

absorption coefficient
detritus absorption coefficient
phytoplankton absorption coefficient
chlorophyll-specific absorption coefficient
spectrally weighted absorption coefficient of phytoplankton for PAR
Antarctic Circumpolar Current
areal daily primary production
the maximum light utilisation coefficient
Antarctic Polar Front
Antarctic Polar Frontal Zone
Atlantic-Southern-Ocean-algorithm developed in our study
Atlantic-Southern-Ocean-algorithm at blooms developed in our study
chlorophyll a and phaeophytin a concentration at the surface
biological weighting function
chlorophyll $a$ and phaeophytin $a$ concentration at depth (z)
the coastal and continental shelf zone
chlorofluorocarbons
chlorophyll a concentration
carbon dioxide
Coastal Zone Color Scanner
Dobson Unit
downwelling irradiance in the air
downwelling irradiance at $\lambda$
downwelling irradiance at subsurface water at $\lambda$
light saturation parameter
downwelling irradiance of PAR at depth z
light saturation parameter
maximum quantum yield
maximum yield of fluorescence in PSII
minimum yield of fluorescence in PSII
quantum yield of electron transport in PSII
Global-Processing-algorithm by Gordon (1983)
"High-Nutrient Low-Chlorophyll" area

HPLC	high pressure liquid chromatography
IV	in vitro
JGOFS	Joint-Global-Ocean-Flux-Studies
$k_{c}[\lambda]$	chl <i>a</i> -specific vertical light attenuation coefficient at $\lambda$
$k_d[\lambda]$	vertical light attenuation coefficient at $\lambda$
$k_g[\lambda]$	vertical light attenuation coefficient due to non algal material at $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$
$k_w[\lambda]$	vertical light attenuation coefficient due to water at $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$
λ	wavelength
$L_u[\lambda]$	upwelling radiance at $\lambda$
$L_w[\lambda]$	radiance just above the surface measured by remote sensing at $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$
MAAs	mycosporine-like-amino-acids
MIZ	marginal ice zone
O <sub>3</sub>	ozone
PAR	photosynthetic active radiation from 400-700 nm
phaeo a	phaeophytin a concentration
P <sup>*</sup> <sub>m</sub>	maximum chl a-specific photosynthetic production rate
$P^*(z)$	chl a-specific photosynthetic production rateat dept (z)
PSII	photosystem II
P versus E	photosynthesis as a function of irradiance
R <sub>i</sub>	reflectance data
RUBISCO	ribulose biphosphate carboxylase / oxygenase
SAF	Sub-antarctic Front
SeaWiFS	Sea-viewing-Wide-Field-of-view-Sensor
SIS	simulated in situ
SO	Southern-Ocean-algorithm by Mitchell and Holm-Hansen (1991)
STC	Sub-tropical Convergence
TOVS	Tiros Operational Vertical Sounder
UML	upper mixed layer
UV-A	ultraviolet-A radiation from 320-400 nm
UV-B	ultraviolet-B radiation from 280-320 nm
UVR	ultraviolet radiation from 280-400 nm
Zeu	euphotic depth, as defined by the depth where underwater PAR has decreased to 1% of the coincident surface value
Z <sub>UML</sub>	upper mixed layer depth

IV

#### SUMMARY

The present thesis summarises the results from a series of publications where the production process of phytoplankton was studied in the Southern Ocean in order to assess its regional variability as defined by provinces and to provide basic data which can be used as bases for the estimation of productivity in the Southern Ocean. In Decembre to January 1995-96 during the German JGOFS cruise ANTXIII/2 various bioptical measurements, including the spectral composition of the underwater light field and phytoplankton absorption characteristics, and experiments on the relationship between photosynthesis and irradiance (P versus E curves) in the PAR and UV range were performed in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. These data were used to calculate primary production rates integrated over the water column for various stations; in addition, a diagnostic model was established to estimate synoptically the mesoscale distribution of primary production at the ambient region of the Antarctic Polar Front by using in addition to the P versus E relationships and absorbance characteristics obtained at certain points (stations) within the survey area, on-line chl a and underwater light data measured by sensors contained in a towed undulating vehicle. The composition of the phytoplankton communities was derived from HPLC data on pigment composition and from the distribution of the various size fractions on total chl a.

Phytoplankton composition and primary productivity in the study showed a regional distribution which was reflected in different biogeochemical provinces of the Southern Ocean: the Antarctic Polar Front (APF) with a diatom bloom and very high productivity (>1000 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), the interfrontal area between the APF and the marginal ice zone (MIZ) of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC) with scarce phytoplankton biomass, low primary productivity (<300 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), and the MIZ with a *Phaeocystis* bloom of large colonies and productivity values of 560 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>. The observed phytoplankton blooms occured at sites of shallow upper mixed layers (UML; at least <50 m) and stratified water columns creating a light climate giving enough potential to result in high production and growth rates. Grazing by small-size-class zooplankton probably influenced size-fractionated distribution and species composition of phytoplankton within the two bloom sites. Only at the northern boundary of the APF silicate concentrations were nearly depleted and this fact probably limited phytoplankton (mainly diatom) growth. Low temperature and low iron availability might have

restricted growth of phytoplankton in the whole area, because the maximum biomass did not reach 2.5 mg chl a m<sup>-3</sup>.

In addition, the thesis provides evidence that differences in biooptical characteristics coincide with the different biogeochemical provinces of the Southern Ocean, where the study was performed:

• Enhanced levels of UVR caused by stratospheric ozone depletion impaired primary production in the Southern Ocean more strongly outside of phytoplankton blooms than within. Within the phytoplankton blooms at the APF and the MIZ, dynamic photoinhibition as an photoprotective mechanism was governing the effect of UVR. Outside of the bloom, primary production decreased significantly and phytoplankton photosynthesis exhibited photodamage. Only inside both blooms shallow upper mixed layers (UMLs) caused an underwater light field, which induced MAA synthesis and repair mechanisms of PSII at a turnover rate sufficient to compensate negative effects of UVR. Although in all samples a significant amount of MAAs had been measured, outside the blooms efficient protection by MAAs would have been only achieved with an investment > 10% of the dry biomass due to the small size of the cells (diameter <20 $\mu$ m) which as a response to a single ecological factor this is regarded as waste of energy for the algal cell.

• Compared with other oceanic regions attenuation of light by non-algal material was low since in the Southern Ocean riverine input of terrestrially derived humic and dissolved material is very low. At a large scale the diffuse attenuation coefficient of underwater light,  $k_d[\lambda]$ , was correlated with changes of chl *a*. However, measurements of the spectral absorption by phytoplankton showed more subtle variations in the optical properties that are related to the phytoplankton population structure, which were missing in the bulk analyses to which the diffuse attenuation coefficient is subjected. Absorption by phytoplankton normalised to chl *a*,  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$ , within the blooms was far lower than outside of the blooms, and decreased significantly below the upper mixed layer. The regional differences in absorption characteristics are due to differences in pigment composition and the package effect, which depends on phytoplankton cell size and photoacclimation in accordance to the UML.

• The comparison of *in situ* chl *a* to reflectance data of our survey, obtained from upwelling data measured *in situ*, showed that due to the low concentration of non algal material the global-processing-algorithm developed by Gordon et al. (1983) fails for

deriving chl *a* from remote sensing reflectance data in the Southern Ocean (mean difference  $150\% \pm 84\%$ ); furthermore, the Southern-Ocean-algorithm developed by Mitchell and Holm-Hansen (1991a) fails too in calculating reasonable values of chl *a* (mean difference to *in situ* data  $250\% \pm 150\%$ ) because the observed regional differences in  $a_{\phi}^{*}[\lambda]$  result in different relationships between chl *a* and reflectance. In future, algorithms for deriving pigment concentrations from remote sensing reflectance data, should be even specific for the various biogeochemical provinces. Using different algorithms for the different provinces improved estimates by 50%.

This study showed that averaging chlorophyll and light attenuation values over depth, irradiance over the day and not spectrally weighting  $\alpha$ , the slope of the P versus E curve, introduces severe errors in the calculation of primary production rates (mean difference 30-50%  $\pm$  10-40%). Hence, the spatial discontinuity in biooptical characteristics, recognised for conversion of reflectance data into chl *a*, has also to be considered when extrapolating *in situ* observations relevant for the estimation of primary production in space and time, to match satellite data.

#### ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

In der vorliegenden Doktorarbeit wurde der Produktionsprozeß des Phytoplanktons im Antarktischen Ozean untersucht. Damit wurden regionale Unterschiede der Produktivität ermittelt und Informationen geliefert, die als Grundlage für die Abschätzung der Produktivität im Antarktischen Ozean benötigt werden. Im Dezember-Januar 1995/96 wurden während einer deutschen Forschungsreise im Rahmen des JGOFS Programms verschiedene biooptische Untersuchungen, u. a. die spektrale Zusammensetzung des Unterwasser- Strahlungsfeldes, das Absorptionsverhalten von Phytoplankton und die Beziehung zwischen Photosynthese und Strahlung (sog. PE-Kurven) im UV- und im PAR-Bereich, durchgeführt. Diesen Daten wurden für die Berechnung von über die Wassersäule integrierten Primärproduktionsraten an verschiedenen Stationen genutzt; darüberhinaus wurde ein diagnostisches Modell entwickelt, das die synoptische Schätzung der Verteilung der Primärproduktion in der Region der Antarktischen Polar Front (APF) im mittleren Maßstab veranschaulicht. Dafür wurden die an verschiedenen Punkten innerhalb des Untersuchungsgebietes bestimmten Absorptionscharakteristiken und PE-Beziehungen, sowie kontinuierlich gemessene Chlorophyll- und Unterwasserstrahlungsdaten verwendet. Diese wurden mit Hilfe des "Sea-Soar" gemessen, ein vom Schiff geschlepptes Gerät, das sich unter Wasser in Wellen auf und ab bewegt. Zusätzlich wurde die Zusammensetzung der Phytoplanktongemeinschaft durch Bestimmung der Pigmentzusammensetzung mit HPLC-Analyse und der Anteile der einzelnen Größenklassen an der Gesamtbiomasse charakterisiert.

In unseren Untersuchungen zeigte sich eine regionale Verschiedenheit von Phytoplanktonzusammensetzung und Primärproduktion, die den verschiedenen biogeochemischen Provinzen des Antarktischen Ozeans entsprach: Die APF mit einer Diatomeenblüte und sehr hoher Produktivität (>1000 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), der Bereich zwischen APF und Eisrandzone (MIZ) im Antarktischen Zirkumpolarstrom (ACC) mit sehr geringer Phytoplanktonbiomasse und niedrigen Primärproduktionsraten (>300 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), und die MIZ mit einer *Phaeocystis*-Blüte und Produktivität wurde von einem Komplex untereinander in Beziehung stehender Faktoren bestimmt und ist das

Ergebnis verschiedener Wachstums- und Verlustfaktoren. Die beobachteten Phytoplanktonblüten traten nur dort auf, wo die Durchmischungszone an der Oberfläche eher flach (<50 m) und die Wassersäule stratifiziert war. Unter diesen Bedingungen wird ein Lichtklima erzeugt, das hohe Produktions- und Wachstumsraten ermöglicht. Der vorwiegend von kleinem Zooplankton ausgeübte Fraßdruck prägte die Größenverteilung und Gruppen-zusammensetzung der Phytoplanktongemeinschaft innerhalb der beiden Blüteregionen. Nur an der nördlichen Grenze der APF war die Silikatkonzentration so niedrig, daß sie wahrscheinlich das Phytoplanktonwachstum (v.a. das der Diatomeen) begrenzte. Die generell tiefen Temperaturen und niedrigen Eisenkonzentrationen haben möglicherweise das Wachstum von Phytoplankton im gesamten Untersuchungsgebiet eingeschränkt, da die maximale Biomasse eine Chlorophyll-Konzentration von 2.5 mg chl *a* m<sup>-3</sup> nicht erreichte.

Zusätzlich konnte in der vorliegenden Arbeit erstmalig gezeigt werden, daß auch die festgestellten Unterschiede in den biooptischen Eigenschaften eine regionale Verteilung zeigen, die mit den verschiedenen biogeochemischen Provinzen des Antarktischen Ozeans übereinstimmt:

• Erhöhte UV-Strahlung, die infolge des stratosphärischen Abbaus von Ozon entsteht, beeinträchtigte die Primärproduktion im Antarktischen Ozean stärker außerhalb der beiden Regionen mit Phytoplanktonblüte als innerhalb davon. In den Blüteregionen führte erhöhte UV-Strahlung dazu, daß die Photosynthese "dynamisch" inhibiert wurde, was als Schutzmechanismus eingestuft wird. In der Region ohne Phytoplanktonblüte sanken die Primärproduktionsraten signifikant ab und der Photosyntheseapparat wurde geschädigt. Nur in den Blüteregionen wurde durch die flache und relativ stabile obere Durchmischungszone ein Lichtklima erzeugt, welches die Synthese von UV absorbierenden Substanzen (sog. MAAs) und die Reparationsmechanismen mit Umsatzraten induzierte, die eine Kompensation der negativen Wirkungen der UV-Strahlung ermöglichten. In allen Proben waren nicht unerhebliche Mengen von MAAs gemessen worden. Trotzdem hätte außerhalb der Blüten wegen Dominanz von Phytoplanktonzellen kleiner Größe (über 70% mit einem Durchmesser <20µm) ein ausreichender Schutz durch MAAs nur mit Einsatz von mehr als 10% der Trockenbiomasse erzielt werden können. So ein Aufwand, um einem einzigen ökologischen Faktor zu begegnen, ist vom energetischen Standpunkt aus gesehen sehr kostspielig.

- Verglichen mit anderen ozeanischen Gebieten ist generell im Antarktischen Ozean die Lichtattenuation von photosynthetisch nicht aktivem Material niedrig, da hier der Eintrag von Huminstoffen und gelösten Substanzen aus terrestrischen Gebieten sehr gering ist. Der diffuse Attenuationskoeffizient von Licht unter Wasser, k<sub>d</sub>[λ], war mit Veränderungen von chl *a* im gesamten Untersuchungsgebiet korreliert. Durch Messungen der spektralen Phytoplanktonabsorption wurden feine Unterschiede in den optischen Eigenschaften aufgedeckt, die mit der Struktur der Phytoplanktongemeinschaft in Beziehung gebracht werden konnten und sonst in der "groben" Berechnung zur Bestimmung des k<sub>d</sub>[λ] fehlen. Die Phytoplanktonabsorption normiert auf chl *a*, a<sub>φ</sub>\*[λ], war innerhalb der Blütenregionen sehr viel niedriger als außerhalb, und sank unterhalb der oberen Durchmischungszone noch deutlich ab. Die regionalen Unterschiede der Absorptionseigenschaften entstehen durch unterschiedliche Pigmentzusammensetzung und den "package effect"; der "package effect" ist abhängig von der Zellgröße und der Anpassung an die Lichtverhältnisse, die von der Tiefe der Duchmischungszone geprägt werden.
- Der Vergleich von *in situ* chl *a* Daten zu Reflektionswerten, welche aus Messungen von *in situ* gemessenen Lichtdaten bestimmt wurden, zeigte, daß aufgrund der geringen Absorption von photosynthetisch nicht aktivem Material der Global-Processing-Algorithm von Gordon et al. (1983) nicht genutzt werden kann, um chl *a* aus mit Fernerkundung gewonnenen Reflektionsdaten im Antarktischen Ozean zu berechnen (mittlere Abweichung zu *in situ* chl *a* von 150% ± 84%); außerdem kann auch hier nicht der Southern-Ocean-Algorithm von Mitchell und Holm-Hansen (1991a) angewendet werden, da die gemessenen Unterschiede der a<sub>0</sub>\*[ $\lambda$ ]-Werte eine unterschiedliche Beziehung zwischen chl *a* und Reflektion implizieren (mittlere Abweichung zu *in situ* chl *a* von 250% ± 150%). In Zukunft müssen Algorithmen zur Bestimmung von Pigmentkonzentrationen aus Fernerkundungs-Reflektionsdaten entwickelt werden, welche spezifisch für die einzelnen biogeochemischen Regionen sind. Dies wird zusätzlich gerechtfertigt durch die Tatsache, daß durch die Benutzung unterschiedlicher Algorithmen innerhalb und außerhalb von Phytoplanktonblüten die Abschätzung von chl *a* im Mittel um 50% verbessert wird.

Die vorliegende Arbeit zeigt, daß bei der Berechnung von Primärproduktionsraten große Fehler durch folgende Vereinfachungen verursacht werden können: die Verwendung von Mittelwerten für Chlorophyllkonzentrationen und Lichtattenuationskoeffizienten über die euphotische Tiefe, sowie von Tageslichtmittelwerten und spektral nicht gewichteten  $\alpha$ , dem Parameter, der die Steigung der PE-Kurve beschreibt. Wichtig für Schätzungen der räumlichen Verteilung der Primärproduktion wäre deshalb auch die *in situ* gemessenen Daten, zur Verwendung mit Fernerkundungsdaten in der Form zu extrapolieren, die die regionalen Unterschiede der biooptischen Eigenschaften berücksichtigt, wie es auch bei Berechnung von chl *a* aus Reflektionsdaten gemacht werden soll.

## 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Marine primary production

Phototrophic primary producers are able to use solar energy for the build-up of their biomass using anorganic material. The biomass built up from anorganic substances over time is generally referred to as primary production, which is the basis for all other life on earth. Photosynthesis is the first step of primary production where solar energy is converted into chemical energy. Photosynthesis includes the absorption of photons by photosynthetic pigments and various photochemical reactions in which under the liberation of free oxygen adenosine diphosphate is converted to higher energy adenosine triphosphate (ATP), and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (or NADPH<sub>2</sub>) is formed. These compounds are subsequently used for the fixation of inorganic carbon. In the second step of primary production, so-called biosynthesis, the end products of high energy carbohydrates (usually polysaccharides) and other organic compounds (including lipids, amino acids, and proteins) involving the uptake of anorganic nutrients are produced that comprise the cell (Kirk 1994a).

Phytoplankton are the dominant primary producers of the pelagial. Phytoplankton biomass in the oceans only amounts to 1-2 % of the total global plant carbon. Despite its relatively low biomass, these organisms collectively fix between 30 and 50 X 10<sup>9</sup> tons of carbon per annum by photosynthesis, i.e. is no less than 30-60% of the global annual fixation of carbon on Earth (Berger et al. 1989, Falkowski and Woodhead 1992, Falkowski 1995). Therefore, the functioning of the entire ecosystem of the world's oceans is dependent for energy almost on the photosynthetic activity of the small phytoplankton confined to the thin layer of lighted surface waters of the oceans.

The process of photosynthesis began to evolve in the ocean about 2000 million years ago (Callot 1991, Scheer 1991). Photosynthesis had a dramatic impact on the biogeochemistry of the earth, changing its environment from oxygen-poor, UV-rich and chemically-reducing environment to the oxygen-rich, geochemically more corrosive environment of the present day (Lovelock 1979, Walker et al. 1983). Classically, phytoplankton are recognised as the basis of most food webs upon which the world's fisheries are based. It is important to be able to monitor these phytoplankton populations

1

since failures in the abundance and timing of algal blooms can lead to the collapse of fisheries.

The present biological productivity of the ocean is of central concern to a world concerned about global climate change. Indeed, phytoplankton can themselves influence the global chemical budgets and climate change by a number of mechanisms:

The utilisation of carbon dioxide through photosynthesis affects the global carbon cycle via the biological pump: Sedimentation of phytoplankton can result in a carbon transport from the atmosphere into deep ocean layers which are not in exchange with the atmosphere (Longhurst 1991, Lewis 1992, Sarmiento and Siegenthaler 1992). This is most effective during intense phytoplankton blooms, when a rapid build-up of biomass can greatly affect the carbonate system (Codispoti et al. 1982) which is typically seen in high sedimentation rates upon nutrient exhaustion (e.g. Smetacek 1985). To predict the response of the ocean (and the significance of the biological pump) to increasing amounts of the greenhouse gas carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) in the atmosphere is still difficult, due to uncertainities about relevant processes and rates determining carbon fluxes (Longhurst 1991).

In addition to that, the production of volatile compounds (e.g. dimethylsulfide (DMS)), derived from several major phytoplankton species, escape into the atmosphere and act as cloud seeding nuclei in the marine atmosphere (Charlson et al. 1987), and the absorption and backscattering of biogenic particles affect the albedo of the ocean and the rate of heating the surface water (Sathyendranath et al. 1991).

# 1.2 Southern Ocean

The Southern Ocean is defined by water masses marked by the northern boundary of either the Sub-tropical convergence (STC) or the Subantarctic Front (SAF). The STC is specified by the Joint-Global-Ocean-Flux-Studies (JGOFS) as the northern boundary of a coherent body of circumpolar Antarctic water, while the SAF forms a more natural biogeographic interface and is considered by Smith and Nelson (1986) and more recent studies (Priddle et al. 1996) as the northern boundary of the Antarctic Ocean. The total area of the Southern Ocean comprises 20% south of the SAF, 10.6% south of the



Fig. 1.1: Map of the Southern Ocean according to the description by Treguer and Jacques (1992). The Southern Ocean circumscribes the Antarctic continent and covers the southern areas of the Atlantic, Indian and Pacific Oceans. The northern border of the Southern Ocean is marked by the Subantarctic Front (SAF), but many studies refer to the Southern Ocean as to the water masses south of the zone of convergence at about 40°S (Sub-Tropical Convergence = STC). The main current is the Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC), which flows continuously around the Antarctic continent in a clockwise direction, driven by the prevailing westerly winds. The transition zone between the SAF and the Antarctic Polar Front (APF) is marked by the Antarctic Convergence, also referred to as the Antarctic Polar Frontal Zone (APFZ). The marginal ice zone (MIZ) of the Southern Ocean which varies in accordance to the season and is shown here in its maximal extension during winter. The zone between the APF and MIZ is described as the permanently open ocean zone (POOZ). South of the MIZ on the ice-free parts of the shelf is the coastal and continental shelf zone (CCSZ). The winds over the Antarctic mainland are predominantly easterly winds, driving the coastal current. The transition of the eastwards flowing ACC and the westwards flowing coastal currents is referred to as the Antarctic Divergence (AD). Here, part of the deep North Atlantic water, upwelling in the region of the ACC, comes to the surface. The local anomaly in surface temperature, however, is low and not easily discernible (from Sievers and Nowlin 1988, Orsi et al. 1995). The black frame marks the area where all studies in this thesis were performed

Antarctic Polar Front (APF) of the world's ocean (Fahrbach 1995). This thesis focuses on the area from the APF south to the marginal ice zone (MIZ) of the Southern Ocean (Fig. 1.1).

Until the early sixties, it was believed that the Southern Ocean was very rich in primary production based on the obvious assumption that the maintenance of the observed large animal stock required correspondingly high levels of the basic primary producers in Antarctic waters, the phytoplankton. In the seventies and eighties intensive research of the Southern Ocean was related to increasing interest in the exploitation of the krill as a major world food supply. During that time, the view of the Antarctic ecosystem was imprinted by a short food chain from large phytoplankton (diatoms) to krill. Since krill swarms are grazing intensely on phytoplankton, the studies involved measurements on phytoplankton biomass and production. Later on the plans on using krill as the world's major protein supply had been resigned, because it became clear, that in the Southern Ocean primary productivity is low in large parts (El-Sayed 1984), nanoplankton cells (<20 µm) may sometimes comprise more than 50% of the phytoplankton biomass (von Bröckel 1981, Koike et al. 1986) and more than 90% of the primary production (von Bröckel 1985), and the foodweb structure is much more complex, with the larger part occupied by food webs without much krill (Hempel 1985). Former estimates of krill stocks had to be corrected by an order of magnitude (Lubimova 1983).

Not only due to its volume, and thus potential for phytoplankton production, but also due to its hydrographic features the Southern Ocean is thought to play a critical role in the global climate system. Relatively rapid exchange of deep water masses with surface waters, and subsequently the atmosphere, make it an area that is extremely sensitive to fluctuations in atmospheric  $CO_2$  (Siegenthaler and Sarmiento 1993). In the Southern Ocean, important sink areas for  $CO_2$  are observed along the confluence zones (Antarctic Polar Frontal Zone, APFZ), where deep water formation of Antarctic Intermediate Water (AAIW) results in the transport of  $CO_2$  into the deep ocean. On the other hand, the Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC), the main current that flows clockwise around the Antarctic continent, is an area where upwelling takes place on a large scale. As a consequence, the Southern Ocean would be a source of  $CO_2$ , via upwelling of water masses rich in  $CO_2$  due to deep mineralisation of organic matter (Takahashi et al. 1993).

The incorporation of CO<sub>2</sub> in phytoplankton biomass may counterbalance or even exceed the CO<sub>2</sub> supply by upwelling. In the Southern Ocean grazing events have been observed where swarms of krill consume phytoplankton blooms within several hours (Jacques and Panouse 1991). The faecal pellets that are subsequently produced ensure considerable transport of carbon from the surface layers to the ocean floor, then biologically driven carbon transport can be considerable and result in an undersaturation of CO<sub>2</sub> in the surface waters (Wefer et al. 1988). Also at other sites of bloom formation in the Southern Ocean the undersaturation of CO<sub>2</sub> in the surface water was measured, which resulted in an uptake of CO<sub>2</sub> from the atmosphere (de Baar et al. 1995, Robertson and Watson 1995, Bakker et al. 1997). However, observations on nitrogen-isotope records preserved in Southern Ocean sediments, along with several geochemical tracers for the settling fluxes of biogenic matter, indicate that surface water stratification, rather than increased export production, was the primary process contributing to the lowering of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> during the last glacial period (Francois et al. 1997). It is yet unclear whether the net effect of these processes result in the Antarctic Ocean being a source or a sink for CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### 1.2.1 Primary production and the Antarctic Paradox

Today it is obvious that primary productivity in the Southern Ocean is spatially and temporally highly variable (Sullivan et al. 1993); however, compared to other regions maximum phytoplankton growth rates are generally low ( $<0.6 d^{-1}$ ) due to low temperature (Sakshaug and Slagstad 1991). In spring and summer, phytoplankton blooms are frequently observed at coastal regions, near the ice-edge and at frontal zones systems; however, despite high levels of the major nutrients in the surface water, which are maintained by the combined effects of wind stress and thermohaline circulation which result in circumpolar surface divergence and upwelling (e.g. Bainbridge 1980, Nelson et al. 1987), the main body of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC) is characterised by low levels of biomass and primary productivity,  $<0.5 mg chl a m^{-3}$  and  $<300 mg C m^{-2} d^{-1}$ , respectively (e.g. Holm-Hansen et al. 1977, El-Sayed 1978, Sakshaug and Holm-Hansen 1984, Holm-Hansen and Mitchell 1991). Therefore, this region of the Southern Ocean like the subarctic Pacific and the equatorial Pacific, is called a "High Nutrient- Low Chlorophyll" (HNLC) area. In these areas phytoplankton

do not exhaust phosphate and nitrate in the surface waters. This results in a "slippage" of the global coupling between the supply of nutrients to the surface and organic synthesis, and hence, a less efficient transfer of carbon from surface to deep waters via the biological pump (Chisholm and Morel 1991).

In a paper on Antarctic ecology, Hart (1934) discussed several potential reasons for the lack of nutrient utilisation including seasonal light, grazing, temperature, physical mixing, and iron limitation. Over the past decades, based on these concepts, oceanographers have put forward several hypothesis to explain the lack of phytoplankton blooms in the HNLC area, the so-called "Antarctic Paradox" (Treguer and Jacques 1986). Today, it is commonly accepted that the alternative hypotheses to explain the dynamics of the phytoplankton community are not mutually exclusive, and that different factors can be effective at different times and places (Cullen 1991, Lehmann 1991).

Patterns of phytoplankton biomass and primary production are determined by a complex interaction of growth and biomass-build-up:

Biomass build-up is discussed to be prevented through a tight coupling between microzooplankton and the flagellates, that constitute mainly the phytoplankton community in the Antarctic HNLC areas. The grazers have found to have equally high growth rates as their prey, and can therefore respond rapidly to any potential increase in phytoplankton biomass (Smetacek et al. 1990, Dubischar and Bathmann 1997, 1998). Also the episodic passages of krill swarms have been illustrated to be of importance in depleting diatom blooms in ice free planktonic communities (Smetacek et al. 1990, Lancelot et al. 1991)

Phytoplankton growth may be dictated by resource availability, such as light and temperature limitation, trace metal deficiency (iron), and physiological inefficiency. Any unfavourable growth condition would result in a retarded phytoplankton growth rates (rate limitation). Furthermore, extreme limitation of one of these factors would result in a complete blockage of phytoplankton growth (stock limitation). This could occur when the concentration of an essential element approaches zero, or when the light intensity is below the threshold for net growth. In the following, the different factors limiting the rate of phytoplankton growth are discussed.

#### Iron

Iron is an essential element for synthesis of several structural components used in photosynthesis and other processes within the cell (Geider and LaRoche 1994) and is considered the most necessary trace metal for algal growth (Scharek et al. 1997). Martin (1990) and Martin et al. (1990a, 1990b) claimed that iron fertilisation of the Southern Ocean would promote a phytoplankton bloom sufficient to remove from the atmosphere substantial amounts of the CO2 derived from fossil fuel. Their hypothesis is based on two observations. First, the absolute concentrations of trace nutrients (i.e. iron) in openocean Antarctic waters are low relative to nitrate and other macronutrients (Martin et al. 1990b, de Baar et al. 1990) and second, experiments in which uncontaminated Antarctic near-surface waters were enclosed in bottles subjected to high light and additional iron resulted in rapid growth of some of the phytoplankton present and complete utilisation of the available macronutrients (i.e. nitrate) (de Baar et al. 1990, Martin et al. 1990a, Buma et al. 1991). Also ancillary observations support the iron hypothesis because they give evidence that the ACC has one of the lowest fluxes of atmospheric dust (Duce 1986) and that there is an inverse correlation over the last 100,000 years between aluminium dust (a proxy for iron and other trace elements in the atmospheric dust) and atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> in Antarctic ice cores (de Angelis et al. 1987, Martin 1990).

#### Temperature

Water temperature in the Antarctic ranges from 5°C at the APF to -1.8°C in ice-covered waters towards the coast. These values are virtually constant and increase only slightly during the summer. The condition of permanently low temperatures imposes the first constraint on phytoplankton growth, since it slows down cellular processes such as the activity of enzymes. When light is saturating the photochemical apparatus of the cell a lowering of temperature will primarily lead to a decrease in photosynthesis (photosynthetic capacity; Neori and Holm-Hansen 1982). Under extremely low temperatures light-limited photosynthetic rates also become temperature dependent (Tilzer et al. 1986). Therefore, under low temperatures maximum specific growth rates of phytoplankton are reduced (Eppley 1972, Jacques 1983, Sommer 1989) and half-saturation constants for the uptake of silicate and nitrate are increased (Sommer 1986, Jacques 1983). Nevertheless, low temperature is not itself an explanation for the Antarctic Paradox, because maximum specific growth rates at *in situ* temperatures

principally enable the development of a dense bloom within a few weeks (Jacques 1989).

### **Light conditions**

Light is essential for receiving chemical energy by photosynthesis, therefore, phytoplankton growth depends above all on the availability of incident light, which is very variable in the Southern Ocean. The annual cycle of solar irradiance has a strong influence on phytoplankton growth (Smith and Sakshaug 1990). During late fall and winter, when light fluxes are low, productivity is marginal. During the summer months, the amount of light energy reaching the water column will depend on the sun or the transparency of the atmosphere. Near the Antarctic coast skies are often lightly clouded or clear. Here incident light fluxes may reach up to 2500  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> on a summer day, and total daily fluxes exceed those of tropical latitudes. Photoinhibiton phenomena may occur frequently under this light conditions (*see* chapter 1.2.3 and 2.5). On the other hand over the open ocean low pressure systems develop continuously, which results in persistent cloud cover that attenuates 40-90% of the light (Bishop and Rossow 1991).

The amount of light penetrating the water column depends upon the absorption by suspended particles and the presence of ice. While the non-algal light absorption in the Southern Ocean is generally particularly low due to minimal terrestrial influx (Mitchell 1992), phytoplankton pigment concentration within the water column not only influences the light intensity, but also the spectral composition of the underwater light (Tilzer et al. 1994). Ice cover of the Southern Ocean varies highly over the year (5-25 Mio. km<sup>2</sup>). Light is greatly attenuated by ice and in dependence of the snow cover, the ice may take away 15-99.9% of the irradiance that reaches the sea surface (Palmisano et al. 1987).

In addition to that, light conditions for phytoplankton photosynthesis also strongly depend on hydrological conditions: phytoplankton are the mercy of motions in the water column and therefore depend upon vertical mixing. Only during spring and summer phytoplankton blooms may develop mainly restricted to the areas of the marginal ice zone (e.g. Smith and Nelson 1985, Lancelot et al. 1993) and frontal systems (e.g. Laubscher et al. 1993, Jochem et al. 1995); here due to the stability of the water column

the phytoplankton occur in the upper layers of the water column, where they can receive sufficient light for photosynthesis (Smith and Nelson 1986, Perissinotto et al. 1990). Records on wind speeds show that the wind stress driving the ACC is the largest of all oceans (Trenberth et al. 1990); this wind stress mixes in combination with relatively weak vertical stability the upper ocean and its resident assemblages over depth intervals (often >100 m), that result in a low time-integrated irradiance for the cells (e.g. Holm-Hansen et al. 1977, Smith and Nelson 1985). As a consequence, in the ACC, phytoplankton are subjected to highly variable light.

Although photoacclimation mechanisms allow the cells to maintain growth under very low light conditions and enable the cells to respond to rapid light fluctuations (*see* chapter 2.5), in large parts of the Southern Ocean, phytoplankton cells cannot maintain high growth rates; mixing induces a wind-mixed layer deeper than the critical depth as defined by Sverdrup (Sverdrup 1953, Nelson and Smith 1991). Sverdrup (1953) defined the "critical depth" as that depth at which the vertically integrated rates of photosynthesis and respiration by the phytoplankton were equal; blooming can only occur if the depth of the mixed layer is less than the critical value.

Mitchell et al. (1991) simulated Antarctic phytoplankton growth in a one dimensional ecosystem model including mixing depths, surface irradiance, grazing, sinking and respiration. The results of the model showed, that due to the persistent of mixed layers lower than 50 m in the ACC, which result in light deficiency, massive iron additions in the ACC would fail to significantly mitigate the atmospheric  $CO_2$  derived from fossil fuel.

#### 1.2.2 Ozone hole and ultraviolet radiation

In addition to greenhouse gases, changes in ozone  $(O_3)$  due to anthropogenic reasoning cause radiative forcing of the Earth's climate. Decreases in stratospheric ozone have occurred since the 1970s. There is mounting evidence that the solar flux of ultraviolet B radiation (UV-B) has increased at certain locations over the Earth's surface and this has been attributed to the continuing destruction of the ozone layer by atmospheric pollutants, in particular chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) (Crutzen 1992). Since the stratospheric abundances of these compounds are expected to continue to increase for a few more years before they decline, stratospheric ozone losses are expected to peak near

the end of the century, with a gradual recovery throughout the first half of the  $21^{st}$  century (Hougthon et al. 1996). Although these pollutants are mainly released from human activities in the Northern Hemisphere, the effects have been most clearly identified in the Antarctic region, where a unique combination of extreme cold and stratospheric circulation (the polar vortex) results in conditions that are favourable for the CFC-O<sub>3</sub> reactions (Anderson et al. 1991). Each year, the Antarctic "ozone hole" (defined as a O<sub>3</sub>-layer <200 Dobson Units (DU)) appears in spring. In October 1995 the average total O<sub>3</sub> values over Antarctica were 50-70% lower than those observed at the same time of the year in the 1960s (Houghton et al. 1996). While the depletion was first observed only in October, it has lately been present from September until December. Recently, significant ozone depletion has also been reported in the north polar region (Hofmann and Deshler 1991, Heese 1996).

Diminished stratospheric O<sub>3</sub> results in an increased flux of ultraviolet radiation (UVR), especially UV-B (280-320 nm), reaching the surface of the Southern Ocean and the upper part of the euphotic zone (i.e. 10% of surface UVR can penetrate to depths of 5 to 25 m; Smith and Baker 1981, Smith et al. 1992); effects on the UV-A (320 to 400 nm) and PAR (photosynthetically available radiation: 400-700 nm) portion are negligible (Smith et al. 1992, Stolarski et al. 1992). UV-B is known to have various deleterious effects on plants, including phytoplankton, especially with respect to growth and photosynthesis (e.g. Smith 1989, Rundel 1983, Caldwell et al. 1989, Coohill et al. 1989, Häder and Worrest 1991). Boucher and Prezelin (1996) determined the UV action spectra for Antarctic phytoplankton photosynthesis at a high spectral resolution. This study showed that phytoplankton are extremely sensitive to short wavelengths of UV-B and that this sensitivity decreases approximately exponentially as wavelength increases. By multiplying the wavelength-dependent UV action spectrum with the spectral irradiance, the effective action spectrum of UV (the so-called biological weighting function (BWF)) can be derived. Since with increasing ozone depletion the intensity of irradiance at shorter wavelegths is most strongly increasing, also the damage to photosynthesis by UV increases exponentially (Fig. 1.2). It was also shown that the BWF of UV inhibition of photosynthesis, varies with both the absolute amount of UV-B and the ratio of UV-B: UV-A+PAR, but not UVR: PAR (Cullen et al. 1992). Vertical mixing plays a crucial role in mitigating photoinhibition and UV-B exposure. Phytoplankton, as other marine organisms, employ a range of responses and adaptations

to minimise their UV-B exposure. These include the synthesis of photoprotective pigments, DNA repair mechanisms, and avoidance mechanisms (Karentz 1994; chapter 2.5).



**Fig. 1.2:** Comparison of the daily averaged biological weighting function (BWF) for the *in situ* inhibition of primary production by UV radiation,  $\varepsilon(\lambda)$ , and the average irradiance over the incubation time,  $E(\lambda)$ , in Antarctic phytoplankton (from Boucher and Prezelin 1996)

Antarctic phytoplankton blooms reach their maximum biomass during late spring and early summer (November- January; Holm-Hansen and Vernet 1990), and it is reasonable to assume that phytoplankton blooms are initiated during the period of maximum ozone hole development. In addition to that, the Southern Ocean is considered most at risk from negative effects from increasing UV-B, because organisms are experiencing the greatest changes in UV-B here and have evolved under conditions relatively low in UV-B (Vincent and Roy 1993). Even under maximal development of the ozone hole, the flux of UV-B is still less than at low latitudes, rather it is the relative increase of UV-B to UV-A and visible radiation that is maximal in Antarctica. Effects of enhanced UVR during ozone depletion on Antarctic primary production may have an influence on the Earth's climate. Concern has been expressed that any diminution in marine primary production may lead to a positive feedback with respect to atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, that would exacerbate the greenhouse effect (e.g. Smith et al. 1992). Also it has been found, that there are substantial differences between species in their response to UV-B exposure (e.g. Karentz et al. 1991a), indicating the possibility of shifts in community structure. Such a shift would have consequences for both food web dynamics and biogeochemical cycles.

#### 1.3 Methodological considerations

Reliable estimations of global marine primary production are difficult to obtain because of methodological problems and sampling limitations (Bidigare et al. 1992). Because of this, estimations of global daily primary productivity range from 50-2000 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> (Bidigare et al. 1992). Since the Southern Ocean is an area remote from continents and its weather conditions are often characterised by heavy storms, shipboard measurements are especially difficult and expensive to conduct; therefore, the ocean cannot be sampled at all spatial and temporal scales, necessary to adequately resolve variations in phytoplankton biomass and productivity.

Particularly in this region, variations in chlorophyll *a* as revealed by satellite imagery, and validated by *in situ* measurements may improve estimations of marine primary production on the basis of the distribution of the phytoplankton biomass (e.g. Smith et al. 1982, Eppley et al. 1985, Platt and Sathyendranath 1988, Morel and Andre 1991, Behrenfeld and Falkowski 1997). No data on the net carbon fixation at a few given places are needed, but a set of the parameters of functions that relate the carbon fixation rate of phytoplankton to irradiance and chlorophyll, or light absorption (Sakshaug et al. 1997). The photophysiological responses of phytoplankton vary as a function of light regime, temperature and nutrient status. A major goal in understanding how phytoplankton photosynthesis affects carbon cycles, and is affected by ocean dynamics, is to determine how the photosynthetic processes respond to geochemical and physical processes.

Platt and Sathyendranth (1988) suggested that estimates of primary production at the global scale should be partitioned among biogeochemical provinces rather than being done within an ecological continuum. There are sufficient data of phytoplankton biomass for interpreting ocean colour data obtained by remote sensing on a global scale, but on the other side estimating primary productivity from remotely sensed information requires regional data on phytoplankton photosynthesis characteristics, which are, especially within the Southern Ocean, still much undersampled (Longhurst et al. 1995).

In addition to that, until now the remotely sensed signal can only be used to infer chlorophyll *a* concentration from measurements where light is reflected from near surface waters. Therefore, algorithms have been developed that combine ocean colour data with information on irradiance spectrum, phytoplankton biomass distribution within the vertical profile, and its photosynthetic characteristics in order to estimate areal integrated primary production (Platt and Sathyendranath 1988, Sathyendranath et al. 1989, Berthon and Morel 1992, Lewis 1992, Behrenfeld and Falkowski 1997). The advanced models differ from each other less in the philosophy of the approach than in the practical routes adopted for defining the distribution of parameters in time and space.

Mitchell and Holm-Hansen (1991a) demonstrated that using the global algorithm for deriving chlorophyll from ocean colour data developed by Gordon et al. (1983) gives a severe underestimation of phytoplankton chlorophyll concentrations in parts of the Southern Ocean. In addition, Mitchell (1992) demonstrated large differences in biooptical relationships for polar oceans as compared to temperate waters, and also between Antarctic and Arctic waters; the size of the data set and the multiple cruises for different regions implied that this conclusion is general. Therefore, it is of great importance to develop algorithms for deriving pigment concentration and estimating primary production which are specific for the Southern Ocean. In addition, the question if the same algorithm applies to the different hydrographic regions of the Southern Ocean has to be raised, since differences in optical properties of the underwater light spectrum in different regions of the Southern Ocean have been observed (Fenton et al. 1994, Stambler et al. 1997). Phytoplankton photoacclimation influences the properties of the underwater light field, by that consequently estimates of primary production from ocean colour data are affected.

#### 1.4 Thesis outline

A principal topic of this thesis is the study of the production process of phytoplankton in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean, mainly with the following objectives in mind:

• to assess the regional variability of the production process as defined by provinces within the Southern Ocean

- to investigate photoacclimation of phytoplankton to the underwater light field as an important strategy to maximise productivity and to minimise damage by excessive irradiance
- to specify effects of UV radiation on near-surface photosynthesis
- to provide ground-truth data which can be used for the estimation of productivity of the Southern Ocean over large areas from remote sensing information

Our knowledge of the productivity is important mainly for two reasons:

- to improve evaluations of the Southern Ocean's contribution to the global production process. This is of importance because the Southern Ocean comprises nearly 11% of the world's ocean and can be considered the largest upwelling region
- to provide information on the role of the Southern Ocean as a potential sink of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> by contributing to the removal of an important greenhouse gas

In Bracher and Tilzer (1999), regional characteristics of the spectral water transparency at the sample sites and the phytoplankton samples absorbance of visible light are shown. The regional characteristics of the underwater light field in this study are compared to results of other studies measured in the Southern Ocean. Differences in phytoplankton absorbance are interpreted as a result of different pigment composition (determined in Bracher et al. 1999) and pigment packaging, caused by the photoacclimational status and size of the phytoplankton cells (determined in Bracher et al. 1999). Data of this kind are of importance for modelling underwater light penetration and by that, for regional computations of primary production.

In Bracher et al. (1999), the distribution of primary production, biomass size fractions and photosynthetic pigment composition from HPLC-analysis of phytoplankton are determined. Photosynthetic characteristics of phytoplankton are studied by photosynthesis-versus-irradiance experiments. Biotic and abiotic factors influencing the regional distribution pattern of differences in primary production and the composition of the phytoplankton community are discussed. In addition, methodological aspects of determining daily primary production rates in the water column from *in vitro* incubations are discussed, focusing on the dependence of the responsible parameters on depth, time and the underwater light spectrum.

14

In Strass et al. (1999), a diagnostic model is established to estimate synoptically the mesoscale distribution of primary production at the Antarctic Polar Front. This three dimensional map of phytoplankton is developed by using on-line chlorophyll and underwater light data measured by sensors contained in a towed undulating vehicle, the so-called SeaSoar, and the photosynthesis-light relationships from *in vitro* incubations obtained only on certain points within the survey area. By intercalibrating the different radiation measurement systems, the spectral composition of light is considered. Distribution of primary production rates are compared to various abiotic parameters.

Both studies, Bracher et al. (1999) and Strass et al. (1999), give an insight on factors of controlling phytoplankton growth in the Southern Ocean. The results of these studies can be used for regional modelling of primary production resolved on a coarse and a fine spatial scale; this may include models of primary production where information on pigment concentration is derived from remote sensing data.

In Bracher and Wiencke (1999), the effect of sun spectra inside and outside the ozone hole on primary production rates and electron transport at photosystem II is considered. In addition, UV absorbing compounds in phytoplankton samples are determined. Phytoplankton damage by enhanced UV radiation and UV protection mechanisms at the different study sites are analysed. The observed substantial differences between phytoplankton communities in their response to UV-B exposure, indicate the possibility of shifts in community structure which may have consequences for both food web dynamics and biogeochemical cycles.

The main results of these studies are summarised here in a general discussion. The differences in phytoplankton photoacclimation shown in three biogeochemical provinces of the Southern Ocean (Bracher et al. 1999, Bracher and Tilzer 1999and Bracher and Wiencke 1999) and the methods used for obtaining areal primary production rates on a fine and a coarse scale (Bracher et al. 1999 and Strass et al. 1999) are evaluated in the context of the current debates on factors controlling phytoplankton growth and methods estimating primary production rates within the Southern Ocean, including models using ocean colour data obtained by remote sensing.

#### 2. THEORETICAL ASPECTS OF MARINE PRIMARY PRODUCTION

This chapters focuses on various theoretical aspects of marine primary production which are relevant for the understanding of the biooptical studies performed in this thesis. This chapter includes a characterisation of the underwater light field, photosynthetic pigments, phytoplankton absorbance, the parameters describing the P versus E curve, photoacclimation and photoinhibition of photosynthesis.

## 2.1 Underwater radiation

During any day, the actual amount of radiation reaching the sea surface at any point is thus a function of the sun angle, the length of the day, and weather conditions. The intensity and quality of light reaching the pigments of the plankton algae depend on the optical properties of the water and on the incident light reaching the surface of the sea. Solar radiation coming to the outside of the Earth's atmosphere is fairly constant at about 1360 W m<sup>-2</sup> (solar constant). About half of this energy is absorbed and scattered in the various layers of the atmosphere, so that the amount reaching the sea surface (referred as global radiation) is about 50% of that received at the top of the atmosphere. About 30% of the incoming solar irradiance is either reflected or scattered back into the outer space by the atmosphere and the Earth's surface. Some of this is reflected back into the atmosphere from the sea surface. The amount reflected from the sea surface depends on the sun angle and becomes very large below a sun angle of 5° to the horizon. This is influenced by the proportions of diffuse versus direct sunlight; if the diffuse part is high (e.g. under cloudy or hazy conditions) the dependence of the reflection on the sun angle is relatively small. The sun angle is determined by the time of year, time of day, and by the latitude. At the equator, the seasonal variation of daily irradiance is small, but, at 50°S, the seasonal variation in incident radiation ranges from about 140 kW m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> in July to about 700 kW m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> in December.

Only about 0.4% of the total solar radiation that reaches the Earth's surface belongs to UV-B (280-320 nm), while about 2% belong to the UV-A wavelength (320-400 nm), 46% belong to the photosynthetically active radiation (PAR, 400-700 nm) with wavelengths used by plants for photosynthesis and the remaining 50% belong to the infrared radiation (>700 nm). The maximum flux of energy of PAR with the sun

overhead is about 400 W m<sup>-2</sup>. This value also varies with the sun angle and decreases to zero as the sun approaches the horizon (Kirk 1994a).

In comparison with other liquids, pure water is relatively transparent to radiation with the exception to red light at wavelengths >600 nm, but much less than air. The infrared radiation is quickly absorbed and converted to heat in the upper few metres. The penetration of UV wavelengths into natural waters is highly dependent on the concentration of disssolved organic compounds and of particulate material; usually, it is rapidly scattered and absorbed within the water column (Kirk 1994b). However, in clear, ultraoligotrophic lake and ocean environments, the depth of 1% of surface radiation is 132 m for 360 nm and 30 m for 300 nm light, which was measured in a tundra lake by Smith and Baker (1981) and in the Southern Ocean by Smith et al. (1992). PAR is also scattered and absorbed in the water, with different wavelengths of the PAR spectrum penetrating to different depths. Red light (ca. 650 nm) is quickly absorbed, with only about 1% still remaining at 20 m in very clear seawater. Blue light (ca. 470 nm) penetrates deepest, with about 1% remaining at 100 m in clear water (e.g. Fig. 2.1 b, Fig. 2.2).

As a result of absorption and backscattering the downward irradiance,  $E_d$ , exponentially decreases with depth which is expressed by the attenuation coefficient of light,  $k_d$ . This attenuation coefficient can be calculated from measurements taken with a radiometer lowered into the sea, and using the following equation in which  $E_0[\lambda]$  is the surface radiation and  $E_d[\lambda](z)$  the radiation at depth z at a specific wavelength:

$$k_{d}[\lambda] = \ln \left( E_{o}[\lambda]/E_{d}[\lambda](z) \right)/z \qquad (equation 2.1)$$

The amount of coloured dissolved organic material in seawater, and the amount of chlorophyll contained in living phytoplankton and in plant debris also affect the attenuation coefficient  $k_d$ . In very clear waters  $k_d$  is about 0.04 m<sup>-1</sup> for blue light, and about 0.38 m<sup>-1</sup> for red light (Bracher and Tilzer 1999). If many particles are present in the water, the blue light is scattered more than the red, and this will affect the colour spectrum of undersea light, resulting in a shift of the most deeply-penetrating wavelength toward a green colour (Fig. 2.1 a, c). At any given wavelength, vertical light attenuation in natural water bodies can be ascribed to the water itself ( $k_w$ ), non-algal material suspended and/or dissolved in the water, ( $k_g$ ), and phytoplankton. The



Fig. 2.1: Transmittance of downwelling irradiances (Ed[A]) for 443 nm, 490 nm, 550 nm and 665 nm plotted semilogarithmically measured in the Southern Ocean during ANTXIII/2 cruise a) for Station S21 (a station within the AFF), b) for Station S31 (a station within the ACC) and c) for Station S30 (a station within the MIZ). Figure was taken from Fig. 3 in Bracher and Tilzer (1999)

18

contribution of phytoplankton to overall light attenuation can be predicted by multiplying the chlorophyll-specific attenuation coefficient  $(k_c)$  by the respective chlorophyll (including phaeophytin) concentration, assuming that chlorophyll co-varies with the carotenoid pigments, all of which control light attenuation.

 $k_{d}[\lambda] = k_{c} [chl a + phaeo a] + k_{w}[\lambda] + k_{g}[\lambda]$ 

(equation 2.2)



Fig. 2.2: Transmittance of downwelling irradiances ( $E_d[\lambda]$ ) for 340 nm (broken lines) and 380 nm (solid lines) measured in the Southern Ocean during ANTXIII/2 at a station in the MIZ with high chl *a* (>2.0 µg l<sup>-1</sup> at the surface; thick lines) and at a station in the ACC with low chl *a* (<0.5 µg l<sup>-1</sup> at the surface; thick lines thin lines). Figure was taken from Fig. 6 in Bracher and Tilzer (1999)

#### 2.2 Photosynthetic pigments

Light harvesting is carried out by the photosynhetic pigments. The three main pigment groups in photosynthetic phytoplankton are the chlorophylls, the carotenoids and the phycobiliproteins (Rowan 1989). In eukaryotic phytoplankton, these pigments are contained in the thylakoids in the chloroplast. The prokaryotic cyanobacteria do not have chloroplasts, but the pigments are nevertheless found in the thylakoids which are freely distributed within the cytoplasm (Kirk 1994a). All of these photosynthetically active pigments absorb light of wavelengths within the range of about 400-700 nm

(PAR), but each shows a different absorption spectrum. Often the accessory pigments, carotenoids and phycobiliproteins, dominate over the green colour of chlorophyll, and therefore many phytoplankton appear to be brown, golden, or even red in colour. Some pigments are species-specific and therefore can be used as taxonomical markers (*see* Bracher et al. 1999).

## 2.3 In vivo light absorption

The absorbance spectrum of a cell or colony suspension (in the case of unicellular algae) will be found to differ noticeably from that of dispersed thylakoid fragments. The in vivo light absorption characteristics of phytoplankton depend mainly on the pigment composition of the cell and the package effect (Johnsen 1994). The package effect is defined as the reduction of the light absorption of a suspension of pigmented particles (living phytoplankton cells) relative to the same amounts of pigments in solution (dispersed thylakoid fragments, "unpacked absorption", cf. Kirk 1994a). It is a consequence of the fact that the pigment molecules, instead of being uniformly distributed, are contained in discrete packages: within chloroplasts, cells, and colonies. The package effect depends on a) pigment composition, b) cell size, shape or morphology, c) chloroplast size, shape, number, morphology and distribution, d) the degree of stacking of the thylakoid membranes, e) the optical properties of the thylakoid membranes and f) the orientation of the chlorphyll-containing body towards the incoming photons (Berner et al. 1989, Johnsen and Sakshaug 1993, Johnsen et al. 1994). The total particular absorption coefficient  $(a[\lambda], m^{-1})$  is corrected for detrital absorption  $(a_d[\lambda], m^{-1})$  to derive the absorption coefficient of phytoplankton  $(a_{\phi}[\lambda], m^{-1})$  by various methods (e.g. Kishino et al. 1985, Bricaud and Stramski 1991, Roessler et al. 1992, Cleveland and Weidemann 1993). It is a common practice to express  $a_0[\lambda]$  as a specific absorption coefficient,  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$ , and [chl *a* + phaeo *a*]:

$$\mathbf{a}_{\phi}[\lambda] = \mathbf{a}_{\phi}^{*}[\lambda] \cdot [\operatorname{chl} a + \operatorname{phaeo} a]$$
 (equation 2.3)

Changes in the absorption properties of phytoplankton, consequently affect the attenuation coefficient of phytoplankton  $k_c[\lambda]$ , since the latter depends on  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$ . While  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$  only defines the specific absorption coefficient of phytoplankton which was determined by measurements of the beam attenuation in the laboratory with a

spectrophotometer,  $k_c[\lambda]$  includes scattering and absorption from irradiance coming from all directions since it is determined by linear regression of  $k_d[\lambda]$  versus [chl a + phaeo a]. The difference between the values of  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$  and  $k_c[\lambda]$  is due to geometrical differences of the irradiance during the two measurement techniques, which are mainly determined by scattering and the angle of the incoming irradiance (Kirk 1994a).

A useful concept when considering light capture by phytoplankton is the effective absorption coefficient of the phytoplankton population existing at a given depth for the light field at that depth, over the whole photosynthetic spectrum (PAR). This spectrally weighted absorption coefficient of phytoplankton for PAR,  $\bar{a}^*$ , is defined according to Atlas and Bannister (1980) by

$$\bar{\mathbf{a}}_{\phi}^{*} = \frac{\sum_{\substack{100\\200}}^{400} \mathbf{a}_{\phi}[\lambda] \mathbf{E}_{d}[\lambda] \Delta \lambda}{\sum_{\substack{100\\200}}^{400} \mathbf{E}_{d}[\lambda] \Delta \lambda}$$
(equation 2.4)

### 2.4 Photosynthetic responses: The P versus E curve

The photon fluence rate strongly affects both the amount and rate of photosynthesis. The instantaneous rate of photosynthesis, P\* [mg C (mg chl *a*)<sup>-1</sup>h<sup>-1</sup>], in a phytoplankton cell depends on the rate of capture of quanta of visible light (400-700 nm). The asterisk (\*) in P\* denotes that the photosynthetic rate (carbon uptake per unit of time) is scaled to chl *a* (Sakshaug et al. 1997). The light-capture rate is determined by the light absorption characteristics of the cell, the irradiance and its spectral composition (Morel et al. 1987, Johnsen 1994, Kirk 1994a). The gross photosynthetic rate increases linearly with irradiance and approaches the maximum photosynthetic rate, P\*<sub>m</sub> (same units as P\*). With further increase in irradiance, P\* begins to decrease again, a phenomenon referred to as photoinhibition (*see* chapter 2.5). Figure 2.3 shows a typical photosynthesis versus irradiance (P versus E) curve which is determined by two parameters: the maximum light utilisation coefficient ,  $\alpha^*$ , [mg C (mg chl *a*)<sup>-1</sup>h<sup>-1</sup> (µmol quanta m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>] which is the slope of the curve at the light-limited portion and a measure of photon capture and utilisation, and the maximum photosynthetic rate or photosynthetic capacity, P\*<sub>m</sub>, [mg C (mg chl *a*)<sup>-1</sup>h<sup>-1</sup>]. A third parameter, the irradiance at onset of light saturation, E<sub>k</sub> [µmol

quanta m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>], equals P\*<sub>m</sub> / $\alpha$ \*. E<sub>k</sub> indicates the irradiance at which control of photosynthesis passes from light absorption and photochemical energy conversion to reductant utilisation and may be a convenient indicator of photoacclimation and photoadaptation. The photosynthetic parameters are affected by the nutrient supply (including CO<sub>2</sub>), temperature and salinity (Falkowski 1981, Morris 1980, Tilzer et al. 1993). The ability of aquatic plants, including phytoplankton, to utilise light of any given intensity can be highly dependent on the light climate to which they were exposed during growth; for ecological interpretation it is therefore preferable to measure P versus E curves on naturally occurring, rather than laboratory grown, plant material (Sakshaug et al.1997).



**Fig. 2.3:** Two typical photosynthesis versus irradiance (P versus E) curves (a) according to the equation 2.6 by Webb et al. (1974):  $P^* = P^*_m$  (1-exp((E  $\alpha^*)/P^*_m$ )), where  $\alpha^*$  [mg C (mg chl a)<sup>-1</sup>h<sup>-1</sup> (µmol quanta m<sup>2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>] is the slope of the curve at the origin and P<sup>\*</sup><sub>m</sub>, [mg C (mg chl a)<sup>-1</sup>h<sup>-1</sup>] is the maximum photosynthetic rate or photosynthetic capacity and (b) according to the equation 2.8 Platt et al. (1980) including inhibition:  $P^* = P^*_m$  [1-exp((-E  $\alpha^*)/P^*_m$ )] (exp((-E  $\beta^*)/P^*_m$ )), where  $\beta^*$  is the parameter chosen to characterise photoinhibition
The maximum light utilisation coefficient,  $\alpha^*$ , is a spectrally dependent parameter and has to be corrected when the experimental light conditions differ qualitatively from the ones *in situ*, according to the relationship (Lewis et al. 1985):

$$\alpha^*_{\text{(spectrally corrected)}} = (\alpha^*_{\text{incubator}} \cdot \bar{\mathbf{a}}_{\phi} *_{\text{in situ}}) / \bar{\mathbf{a}}_{\phi} *_{\text{incubator}} \qquad (\text{equation 2.5})$$

Knowledge of P versus E parameters and their variability is crucial for modelling primary production on larger scales on the basis of monitored remotely sensed optical data (Smith et al. 1987, 1989, Prezelin an Glover al. 1991, Bidigare et al. 1992, Prezelin et al. 1992). A number of attempts have been made to find mathematical expressions which give a reasonable fit to the empirical curves relating P\* to E. Here the description originally proposed by Webb et al. (1974) is chosen which excludes photoinhibition (since we did not find photoinhibition in our P versus E experiments performed in a photosynthetron - *see* Bracher et al. 1999).

$$P^* = P^*_{m} (1 - \exp((E \alpha^*) / P^*_{m}))$$
 (equation 2.6)

The quantum yield of photosynthesis,  $\Phi$ , is defined to be the number of CO<sub>2</sub> molecules fixed or oxygen evolved in a biomass per quantum light absorbed by the plant. Morel (1978) calculated  $\Phi$  at a series of depths from <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> fixation, chlorophyll and light data for a variety of oceanic waters. In most cases  $\Phi$  increased with depth. Within the initial, linear portion of the P versus E curve  $\Phi$  is constant and has its highest value (Bannister 1974). Therefore, the maximum quantum yield of photosynthesis,  $\Phi_m$ , can be calculated from the equation (Bannister 1974):

$$\Phi_{\rm m} = \alpha *_{\rm (spectrally corrected)} / \bar{a}_{\phi} *_{in \, situ} \qquad (equation \, 2.7)$$

The maximum quantum yield represents the efficiency with which the photosynthetic apparatus converts absorbed photons to chemical energy. By calculating  $\Phi_m$  from the phytoplanktonic component of absorption, changes in  $\Phi_m$  can be related to phytoplankton physiology (Cleveland et al. 1989). In principle,  $\Phi_m$  is spectrally dependent, in practice, however, it is usually treated as a non-spectral parameter (Sakshaug et al. 1997). Because studies of  $\alpha^*(\lambda)$  are few, there are few accurate spectral

estimates of  $\Phi_m(\lambda)$  of photosynthesis in natural phytoplankton communities (Lewis et al. 1985, Schofield et al. 1993, 1996, Carder et al. 1995). It is generally accepted that  $\Phi_{\rm m}$  is 0.125 mol O<sub>2</sub> (mol photons)<sup>-1</sup>, indicating that 8 quanta are required to produce one  $\mathrm{O}_2$  molecule (Kok 1960). For reasons not well understood,  $\Phi_m$  for carbon fixation of phytoplankton populations in the oceans is extremely variable. Some of this spatial variation may have a genetic base, i.e. it may be due to the presence of taxonomically different phytoplankton populations: diatom-dominated communities in the Southern California Bight had  $\Phi_m$  values twice as high as the cyanobacterial picoplankton in the deep chlorophyll maximum (Schofield et al. 1991). Some of it may have a physiological basis, due to populations differing in respiration rates (Lizotte and Priscu 1994), nutritional status (Cleveland et al. 1989), or recent light exposure history (Prezelin et al. 1991, Tilzer 1984). Reduction of nitrate to ammonium competes with CO<sub>2</sub> fixation for photochemically produced reductant, so that  $\Phi_m$  for carbon fixation is lower than  $\Phi_m$ for oxygen evolution when phytoplankton are grown on nitrate. As a consequence, the ratio of O2 evolved to CO2 fixed varies with the redox state of the nitrogen source (Megard et al. 1979). Bannister and Weidemann (1984) state a maximum for  $\Phi_{m \text{ in-situ}}$  at 0.08 and claim that values >0.1 are almost certainly due to imprecision or systematic error.

### 2.5 Photoacclimation and photoinhibition

Compared to photosynthesis in a terrestrial milieu, photosynthesis in an aquatic environment differs in regards of the availability of light. Phytoplankton have to compete for light quanta with their surroundings due to the high optical density of water compared to air. Unlike in terrestrial environments, phototrophs can only utilise the absorption peak for blue light because even in very clear waters red light is absorbed quickly. Harvesting of underwater light by the photosynthetic antenna pigment is a function of pigment concentration and composition on the one, the spectral properties and the extent of light attenuation by the non-algal material on the other hand. Many phytoplankton species exhibit a remarkable physiological plasticity and are able to respond to wide variations in the light regime (irradiance, its spectral composition and daylength). The physiological acclimation of the photosynthetic apparatus to specific

light conditions appear to have common molecular biological causes that are signaled by the redox status of specific elements in the photosynthetic electron transport chain (Escoubas et al. 1995). Acclimation to different light levels of irradiance is achieved by altering the cellular pigment contents. Falkowski et al. (1981) have demonstrated that there are two principle mechanisms: variation in the numbers or variations in the size of photosynthetic units. Both mechanisms are reflected in the alteration of the P versus E curve in response to variations in the ambient light field to which they acclimate. In addition to that, changes in the intensity and the spectrum of light are generally characterised changes in cell volume, the enzymatic activities involved in photosynthesis and respiration, chemical composition and respiration rate. In fluctuating light, photoacclimational responses apparently lower variations in the growth rate (Sakshaug and Holm-Hansen 1986). Photoacclimation is thus the sum of compensation mechanisms which allows the phytoplankton to grow under a wide range of irradiances at nearly the same optimum growth rate (the optimum range). The compensation is, however, not total. As the growth irradiance decreases, the growth rate will also be reduced, but the reduction is not as great as it would have been without photoacclimation.

When on a summer day, cells in the shallow upper layers of the sea are for extended periods exposed to high irradiance levels, photodamage of the photosystems can occur. In addition, UV damage due to ozone depletion may occur in the upper part of the water column. Equations that account for this high irradiance inhibition of photosynthesis have been developed by several investigators. Platt et al. (1980) extended the exponential formulation of Webb et al. (1974) (equation 2.6) to account for photoinhibition (Fig. 2.3):

$$P^* = P^*_{m} [1 - \exp((-E \alpha^*) / P^*_{m})] (\exp((-E \beta^*) / P^*_{m}))$$
(equation 2.8)

where  $\beta^*$  is the parameter chosen to characterise photoinhibition.

In order to quantify the biological effects of changes due to photoinhibition, wavelength-dependent weighting functions are required (Caldwell et al. 1989, Coohill 1989). Jones and Kok (1966) measured action spectra of photoinhibition of electron transport in spinach chloroplasts. The spectrum showed its main activity in the ultraviolet (UV) region with a peak at 250-260 nm. Photoinhibition also occurred in the

visible region but with a very much lower quantum efficiency. Between 400 and 700 nm, the action spectrum followed the absorption spectrum of chloroplast pigments, with a distinct chlorophyll peak at 670-680 nm. Now, also among phytoplankton it has been found that the lesion appears primarily to affect the light reactions of photosynthesis, by damaging the reaction centre of photosystem II (PSII) and the carboxylating enzyme (RUBISCO)- e.g. Lesser et al. 1996. The shape of the action spectrum in the UV region suggests that plastoquinone or some other quinone functional in the reaction centre may be the sensitive molecule so far as UV inhibition is concerned. Biological and physical reactions with UV-B radiation increase sharply as wavelength decreases; the most damaging wavelengths are also the most difficult to measure (Kirk et al. 1994b). The shape of the action spectrum in the visible region indicates that at very high light intensities some of the energy absorbed by the photosynthetic pigments themselves is transferred to a sensitive site - not necessarily the same site as that affected by UVwhere it causes damage. Choice of the biological weighting function (BWF) can have an overriding influence on the prediction of relative biological effects (Rundel 1983, Booth and Madronich 1994, Coohill 1994). While BWF have been described for temperate phytoplanktonic organisms (Cullen et al. 1992), Boucher and Prezelin (1996) determined a daily integrated in situ BWF for inhibition of primary production by UVR on a natural community of Antarctic diatoms under day light conditions. The BWF determined by Boucher and Prezelin (1996) displayed a greater sensitivity to UV-B than BWFs determined under laboratory conditions. Here daily exposure to ambient levels of UV resulted in a 34% reduction in average carbon fixation, while the O<sub>3</sub>-dependent UV-B portion of the solar spectrum photoinhibited 15%, the O<sub>3</sub>-independent UV-A portion inhibited 19%.

The sensitivity of phytoplankton photosynthesis to irradiance stress has been demonstrated by several studies, e.g. Neale (1987), Smith et al. (1992), Long et al. (1994). However, showing whether this stress actually occurs remains difficult. The essential problem is that phytoplankton cells are suspended in the water. Their irradiance exposure will be determined by mixing processes that transport the cells over a vertical gradient in light availability. Depth profiles of phytoplankton photosynthesis determined by the suspended bottle method, tend to overestimate the extent to which photoinhibition diminishes primary production since in such experiments phytoplankton are incubated under a constant light regime (Harris and Piccinin 1977, Marra et al.

1978). In nature the phytoplankton are not forced to remain at the same depth for prolonged periods. Since photoinhibition is usually a time-dependent process, the light history of the cells must be known to specify the overall effect. Although it is possible to deduce the rate of mixing from the light history of the phytoplankton (e.g. Falkowski 1983), the effect of photoinhibition cannot be simply calculated from the product of irradiance and duration of exposure. For instance, Cullen and Lesser (1991) have demonstrated that for equal doses of UV-B, short exposures to high irradiance are more damaging than longer exposures to lower irradiance.

Some measurements have tried to simulate mixing (Marra et al. 1978, Helbling et al. 1994); neither of these approaches allow an accurate estimation of photoinhibition in the water column. Neale et al. (1998) developed a model of UV-influenced photosynthesis during vertical mixing, where the potential effects of ozone depletion on daily photosynthesis integrated through the water column (areal daily primary production rate = ADP) were calculated. Inhibition of ADP could be enhanced or decreased by vertical mixing, depending on the depth of the mixed layer and on the mixing rate. Under all modelled conditions, photosynthesis was strongly inhibited by near-surface UVR and when mixing was rapid.

#### **3. SUMMARY OF RESULTS**

In this thesis different biological parameters determining primary production were studied in one part of the Atlantic Sector of the Southern Ocean (Fig. 1.1). All studies were performed during the German JGOFS-cruise ANTXIII/2 at the same time, December 1995 to January 1996, and the same phytoplankton samples were used for all studies. All phytoplankton samples were from the open sea. The study area of Bracher and Tilzer (1999), Bracher et al. (1999) and Bracher and Wiencke (1999) comprised an area between 49° and 67°S and between 6°W and 12°E, including the regions of the Marginal Ice Zone (MIZ), the Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC) outside of frontal systems and the Antarctic Polar Front (APF); the study area of Strass et al. (1999) was the area within and surrounding the APF, centred at roughly 50°S and 10°E (Fig. 1.1). While in Bracher and Tilzer (1999), Bracher et al. (1999) and Bracher and Wiencke (1999) biooptical characteristics were studied at stations, a three dimensional map of primary production was developed in Strass et al. (1999) by using on-line data of light and fluorescence obtained by a towed undulating vehicle. The results from all four publications characterised the three biogeochemical provinces, MIZ, ACC and APF, in the following way (see Table 3.1):

#### The Marginal Ice Zone

In the MIZ close to the ice edge a "second period bloom" (>2.4 mg chl a m<sup>-3</sup>) was found within a water column of a shallow upper mixed layer (<15m). *Phaeocystis* was dominating the phytoplankton bloom with large colonies (over 60% >20  $\mu$ m) (Bracher et al. 1999).

Within the euphotic zone, below the sea surface and within the shallow upper mixed layer, about 65% in the blue spectral range of the attenuated light were absorbed by phytoplankton; absorption was highest where phytoplankton biomass was highest. In contrast, specific absorption of phytoplankton,  $a_{\phi}^*$ , was low and significantly lower at depths below the upper mixed layer (Bracher and Tilzer 1999). P\*<sub>m</sub> at surface were higher then at 1% light depth and primary production rates were high 560 C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> (Bracher et al. 1999).

Maximum primary production rates were not significantly influenced by enhanced UVR corresponding to conditions inside the ozone hole. The amount of UV absorbing compounds, mycosporine-like-amino-acids (MAAs), was rather low, but in combination with the on average prevailing big size of *Phaeocystis* colonies within the bloom, the sunscreen effect of those compounds may be big enough in addition with other UV protection processes to compensate inhibition by UV enhanced radiation (Bracher and Wiencke 1999).

#### Antarctic Circumpolar Current outside of frontal systems

This region was characterised by deep UMLs, which always exceeded 40 m and indicated low stability. From south to north salinity decreased and surface temperature increased, 34.50 to 33.86 and -1.5 to <4 °C, respectively. Biomass was low with values <0.5 mg chl a m<sup>-3</sup> and maxima of chl a were found in 40 to 80 m. Dinophyceae, Prymnesiophyceae, diatoms and Cryptophyceae contributed equally to the phytoplankton community, and only 10 % of those phytoplankters were found to be bigger than 20  $\mu$ m. (Bracher et al. 1999).

Within the euphotic zone only about 25% in the blue spectral range of light being attenuated were absorbed by phytoplankton. The contribution of phytoplankton on the total attenuation of light was increasing with increasing depth, which can be explained by the combination of strong red attenuation by water molecules already at the surface and low biomass. Specific absorption of phytoplankton,  $a_{\phi}^*$ , was high due to the small cell size and did not change with depth because of deep UMLs (Bracher and Tilzer 1999). Primary production rates were low (110-300 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>). However, in the south of the ACC at areas which were close to the ice edge, primary production rates were found to be 390 to 480 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>. Here, more diatoms were found within the community (up to 40%) and chlorophyll maxima were at a shallower depth (20-40 m) (Bracher et al. 1999).

Maximum primary production rates were found to be significantly decreased by UVR corresponding to conditions inside the ozone hole. An explanation for that might be the inefficient protection by MAAs to act as sunscreen effect due to the small size of the cells (Bracher and Wiencke 1999).

#### **Antarctic Polar Front**

The Antarctic Polar Front was characterised by surface temperatures above 4°C and salinities lower than in the ACC outside of the frontal system (33.80-33.85). The water column was stratified with upper mixed layers between 15 and 35 m, and a phytoplankton bloom dominated by large or long chains of diatoms (at least 60-80% were diatoms and >20  $\mu$ m) was found at the front (Bracher et al. 1999). Phytoplankton biomass was a bit lower than within the MIZ phytoplankton bloom (1-1.8 mg chl *a* m<sup>-3</sup>). The chlorophyll maxima in the very centre were at 20-40 m, close to that at 40-60 m, and at the edge of the bloom rather evenly distributed from 0-50 m (Hense et al. 1998).

Within the euphotic zone about 60% in the blue spectral range of the attenuated light was absorbed by phytoplankton. This portion was highest where phytoplankton biomass was highest. Specific absorption of phytoplankton,  $a_{\phi}^*$ , was low because the amount of chlorophyll in a large cell is much higher than in a small cell. This results in an overall increase of absorption, but the value of the absorption normalised to chlorophyll, a<sub>6</sub>\*, decreases (Bracher and Tilzer 1999). While within the APF chlorophyll values were always high, exceeding 1 mg chl a m<sup>-3</sup>, primary production rates varied: Primary production rates and values of  $P_m^*$  were very high at the centre of the bloom, > 1000 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> and >2.5 mg C \*mg chl  $a^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup>, respectively; those parameters decreased towards the edge of the bloom down to around 300 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> and 1 mg C \*mg chl ah<sup>-1</sup> (Bracher et al. 1999, Strass et al. 1999). The same feature appeared at individual stations (Bracher et al. 1999) and in the mesoscale map in the area of the APF (Strass et al. 1999); since the on-line data (chlorophyll, underwater light climate- data) for this study were obtained at other days, there is some variation in the exact primary production values for one point, but overall values are in the same range (Bracher et al. 1999).

Maximum primary production rates were not significantly influenced by higher UVR corresponding to conditions inside the ozone hole. The amount of MAAs may be enough to work in combination with the large diameter of the big cells (*Thalassiothrix*) or the long chains (*Chaetoceros, Pseudonitzschia*) of phytoplankton as effective sunscreens; probably due to that and other UV protection mechanisms photoinhibition by enhanced UV radiation, seen in a lowering of quantum yield at PS II, could be compensated (Bracher and Wiencke 1999).

**Table 3.1:** Distribution of the various parameters into the different biogeochemical provinces: marginal ice zone (MIZ), Antarctic Circumpolar Current outside of frontal systems (ACC), Antarctic Polar Front (APF); some values are from the surface (0) and the 1% light depth (1%); all symbols are explained in the abbreviations (summary of results obtained in Bracher et al. 1999, Bracher and Tilzer 1999, Bracher and Wiencke 1999, Strass et al. 1999)

parameter	MIZ	ACC	APF
salinity	33.7	33.86-34.5	33.80-33.85
surface temperature [°C]	0.6	-1.5-<4	> 4
Z <sub>umi</sub> [m]	<15	40-75	15-35
daylength [h]	20-24	14-20.5	16-17.5
daily maxima of E₀[PAR] [μmol q m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> ]	1000-2200	400-2200	900-1500
Z <sub>eu</sub> [m]	40	45-90	28-50
k₄ 490 [m <sup>-1</sup> ]	0.11	0.04-0.06	0.08-0.16
k <sub>d</sub> 520 [m⁻¹]	0.11	0.06-0.07	0.09-0.12
k₀ 665 [m <sup>-1</sup> ]	0.41	0.25-0.46	0.37-0.52
k <sub>d</sub> 340 [m <sup>-1</sup> ]	0.41	0.12-0.14	0.19-0.35
k <sub>d</sub> 380 [m <sup>-1</sup> ]	0.23	0.07-0.08	0.13-0.19
ā,* (0) [m² mg chl <i>a</i> -¹]	0.014	0.016-0.027	0.006-0.017
ā <sub>s</sub> * (1%) [m <sup>2</sup> mg chl a <sup>-1</sup> ]	0.007	0.018-0.030	0.006-0.018
a <sub>s</sub> *[440] at surface [m <sup>2</sup> * mg chl a <sup>-1</sup> ]	0.034	0.043-0.052	0.020-0.039
$a_{a}^{*}$ [440] with depth [m <sup>2</sup> * mg chl $a^{-1}$ ]	<uml decreasing<="" td=""><td>constant</td><td>UML&lt;20 m: decreasing</td></uml>	constant	UML<20 m: decreasing
chl a in euphotic zone [mg chl a m <sup>-3</sup> ]	0.90-2.43	0.15-0.8	1.0-1.79
depth of chl a maximum [m]	0-15	40-80	20-60 *
dominating species	Phaeocystis sp.	none **	large diatoms
dominating size class among phytoplankton	>60%: >20µm	>70%: 2-20µm	>60%: >20µm
P <sup>*</sup> <sub>m</sub> (0) [mg C mg chl a <sup>-1</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> ]	1.28	0.7-1.4	0.83-3.1
P <sup>*</sup> <sub>m</sub> (1%) [mg C mg chl <i>a</i> <sup>-1</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> ]	1.06	0.27-3.2	1.30-3.2
$\alpha^{(0)}$ [mg C mg chl $a^{-1}$ h <sup>-1</sup> (µmol q m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup> ]	0.0080	0.006-0.027	0.009-0.022
$\alpha'(1\%)$ [mg C mg chl $a^{-1}$ h <sup>-1</sup> (µmol q m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup> ]	0.014	0.015-0.05	0.014-0.032
E <sub>k</sub> (0) [µmol q m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> ]	160	34-180	74-246
E <sub>k</sub> (1%) [μmol q m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> ]	78	8-70	56-139
$\Phi_{\sf m}$ (0) [mol C (mol photons) $^{-1}$ ]	0.014	0.010-0.024	0.024-0.035
$\Phi_{\sf m}$ (1%) [mol C (mol photons) <sup>-1</sup> ]	0.047	0.020-0.058	0.040-0.093
ADP [mg C m <sup>-2</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> ]	560	110-300***	300-1050*
effect of high UVR*** on P*m	no change	s.d.****	no change
effect of high UVR*** on $F_v/F_m$	s.d.****	s.d.****	s.d.****
MAAS conc. [ $\mu$ g MAAs $i^1$ ( $\mu$ g chl a $i^1$ ) <sup>-1</sup> ]	<0.5	3.8-8.0*****	2.5-3.9
number of sampled stations	1	10	13

\* for details see text

\*\* except in the South, close to ice edge: diatoms >40%

\*\*\* except in the South close, to ice edge: 390-480

\*\*\*\* s.d. = significant decrease

\*\*\*\*\*\*except in the South, close to ice edge: 1.2-1.7

# 4. GENERAL DISCUSSION

### 4.1 Introduction

This study provides first evidence that differences in biooptical characteristics coincide with the different biogeochemical provinces of the Southern Ocean, where the study was performed. The differences in biooptical characteristics were reflected in phytoplankton community structure, phytoplankton absorption characteristics, parameters describing the P versus E curve, and the underwater light field. Primary production rates were calculated taking into account all biooptical parameters studied in this thesis. Furthermore, factors influencing these parameters and primary production rates in the different biogeochemical provinces were determined, which also included studies on the effect of enhanced UV radiation due to ozone depletion on phytoplankton photosynthesis. Knowledge of global-scale features of phytoplankton biomass and productivity is crucial for the understanding of the Southern Ocean's role in the contemporary global carbon cycle (Sarmiento and Toggweiler 1984, Peng and Freyer 1987, Sarmiento et al. 1988, Fasham et al. 1990), and the relation between the distribution of primary producers and higher trophic-level consumers on a planetary scale. In the following sections, primary production and factors influencing it in the different biogeochemical provinces of the Southern Ocean (chapter 4.2), the specific biooptical parameters characterising these provinces (chapter 4.3), the methods used in this thesis (chapter 4.4), and the usage of our results to improve the calibration of ocean colour data received by remote sensing (chapter 4.5) and perspectives for the future (chapter 4.6) are discussed.

### 4.2 Biogeochemical provinces within the Southern Ocean

Within the Southern Ocean biogeochemical provinces can be defined which correspond broadly to different hydrographic regions. They are predominantly zonal. The hydrographic regimes are either characterised by fronts or interfrontal areas. The main current of the Southern Ocean is the Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC), which flows continuously around the Antarctic continent driven by the prevailing westerly winds. All the waters south of the Antarctic Polar Front (APF) constitute the Antarctic Ocean proper. The zone between the Subantarctic Front (SAF) in the north and the APF in the south is referred to as the Antarctic Polar Frontal Zone (APFZ). The APFZ, where flows like in the ACC are driven by west winds, is an area of downwelling, where the Antarctic Intermediate Water is formed. The winds over the Antarctic mainland are predominantly easterly winds, driving the coastal current. The transition of the eastwards flowing ACC and the westwards flowing coastal currents is referred to as the Antarctic Divergence (AD). Here, part of the deep North Atlantic water comes to the surface. The local anomaly in surface temperature, however, is low and not easily discernible. The marginal ice zone (MIZ) is defined as delimiting the influence of the input of low density melt water from the receding pack-ice and its southern border is marked by the shelf break. The coastal and continental shelf zone (CCSZ) constitues the ice free part of the continental shelf (Sievers and Nowlin 1988, Treguer and Jacques 1992, Orsi et al. 1995).



**Fig. 4.1:** Areal daily primary production rates at all stations in the Southern Ocean during ANT XIII/2; where SAPF = stations within the ACC, but just south of the APF, APF diff. (different) in depth = APF stations where  $P_m^*$  1% light depth >  $P_m^*$  surface. APF centre = stations within the centre of the bloom. Figure was taken from Fig. 5 in Bracher et al. (1999)

Enhanced biomass and primary production have been found in the MIZ (Hart 1934, Smith and Nelson 1986, Sullivan et al. 1988, Comiso et al. 1990, Cota et al. 1992, Lancelot et al. 1993, Bracher et al. 1999- Fig. 4.1), in the shallow coastal waters and coastal polynyas (Comiso et al. 1990, Holm-Hansen and Mitchell 1991) and within the frontal areas (Kanda and Fukuchi 1979, Allanson et al. 1981, Tanimura 1981, Fukuchi and Tamura 1982, Lutjeharms 1985, Bidigare et al. 1986, Lutjeharms 1986, Laubscher et al. 1993, Bathmann et al. 1997, Bracher et al. 1999- Fig. 4.1) while the interfrontal areas show low values for both (Bracher et al. 1999- Fig. 4.1, and authors above); in this thesis we are focusing on the Antarctic Polar Front (APF), the ACC between Polar Front and MIZ (here referred as ACC) and the MIZ (Fig. 1.1).

#### 4.2.1 Effects of the upper mixed layer on the formation of biogeochemical provinces

Sakshaug et al. (1991) have suggested a simple 1-dimensional-2-layer model to simulate the development of Antarctic spring blooms as a function of a) depth of the wind-mixed layer, b) light distribution in the water column, c) local meteorological conditions, d) size of initial standing stock, e) loss rate. Sakshaug's model fits well with the dynamics of shade-adapted, large-celled bloom-forming diatoms. It demonstrates that during spring and summer, even with moderate loss rates, blooms are prevented from developing, as soon as the mixed-layer depth reaches 40-50 m (although blooms of prymnesiophytes have been reported in mixed layers of 80 m by Treguer and Jacques 1992).

The underwater light field, which phytoplankton encounter, is influenced by the upper mixed layer (UML) depth which is associated with the vertical stability of the water column. The mixed layer depth has great importance for the planktonic production process. Within a vertical light gradient phytoplankton adjust their photosynthetic characteristics to the local light level at different depths (Sakshaug and Slagstad 1991). In the Southern Ocean density stratification is caused by differences in salinity rather than in temperature. Strongly stratified regions have only been observed around land masses, in the MIZ and in an area of high stability at sloping frontal edges (Orsi et al. 1995). In accordance to the above described model by Sakshaug et al. (1991), waters with shallow and rather stable UML were found to be essential for the formation of Antarctic phytoplankton blooms (El-Sayed 1984, Smith and Nelson 1985, Legendre



**Fig. 4.2:** Temperature (solid line) and salinity (dotted line) profiles in the Southern Ocean at several stations during ANTXIII/2: a) Station S30, MIZ; b) Station S9 as an example of the ACC; c) Station F10 as an example of the SAPF; d) Station S20 as an example of the APF. Data are obtained from CTD measurements by Strass et al. (1997) during ANTXIII/2. Figure was taken from Fig. 2 in Bracher et al. (1999)

1985, Perissinotto et al. 1990, Laubscher et al. 1993, Bracher et al. 1999- see Fig. 4.2). In shallow UMLs phytoplankton are held above the critical depth, which, compared to conditions at lower latitudes, have been suggested to be deeper in the Antarctic Ocean than under conditions of higher water temperatures; this has been inferred from the observation that respiration rates exhibited smaller temperature dependence than light-saturated photosynthesis (Tilzer and Dubinsky 1987). In contrast to that, weak vertical stability of surface water prevents phytoplankton from staying in the optimum light zone long enough for extensive production (Jacques 1989).

The differences in UML seem to be responsible directly or indirectly for most of the observed differences in phytoplankton physiology among the different provinces within the Southern Ocean (Bracher and Tilzer 1999, Bracher et al. 1999, Bracher and Wiencke 1999 and chapter 4.3). However, differences in UML depths within and outside the bloom at the Polar Front were not as clearly reflected when looking at the detailed map of primary production (Strass et al. 1999) as opposed to the survey only considering individual stations (Bracher et al. 1999, Tab. 3.1). This might be due to the temporal variance of obtaining data. Bathmann et al. (1997) observed during the first German JGOFS cruise phytoplankton blooms at the APF; substantial biomass often extended to depths below the shallow UMLs, where growth rates must have been light-limited. They suggested that despite the possibility of a fertilising effect by iron enhancement in this region, the blooms were facilitated earlier under favourable light conditions caused by the dynamics of the frontal zone which led to subduction of the surface layer.

The development of shallow UMLs within the two blooming areas, MIZ and APF, are caused differently. In the Marginal Ice Zone (MIZ) according to the seasonal cycle sea ice is forming and melting. The melting of the sea ice in spring and summer produces low salinity water. If this is not dispersed, the resultant buoyancy of the surface water produces a stable layer subject to high irradiance in which rapid growth may occur (Savidge et al. 1996). The Polar Front is the boundary of two main water masses; warmer waters from the mid-latitudes meet colder waters from the Antarctic area; the region is a site of substantial mesoscale activity, meanders and eddies are typical for this region (e.g. Gille and Kelly 1996). Taylor et al. (1978) has defined the Polar Front where the Antarctic surface water produces a circumpolar belt of minimum salinity at

200 m, which occurs generally one or two degree north of the surface discontinuity where the temperature minimum sinks. In the interfrontal areas deep UMLs or strong turbulences, seem to be responsible for no significant build-up of biomass (Savidge et al. 1996, Bracher et al. 1999). Although during the ANTXIII/2 expedition euphotic depths within the ACC were deeper than the UML depth (Bracher et al. 1999, Tab. 3.1), on cloudy days, which are very frequent in the Southern Ocean, phytoplankton were transported into layers too deep to obtain positive net primary productivity.

#### 4.2.2 Effects by iron and silicate availability

Iron limitation has been proposed as a major factor responsible for the low production levels of Southern Ocean phytoplankton (Martin and Fitzwater 1988, Martin et al. 1989). Within the Southern Ocean iron concentrations are generally low (<1nM Fe) due to the marginal input by aeolian dust from the Antarctic continent since most of the land is covered by ice. Only in the areas with increased water column stability, iron availability is enhanced: While in coastal areas the shelf input from the continental crust forms an important source of iron for the seawater, a steady supply of iron via upwelling and lateral transport in frontal jets, forms an important source in remote areas of the Southern Ocean (de Baar et al. 1995). Iron is required by the photosynthetic apparatus for synthesis of several structural components (Glover 1977) and plays a role in reduction of nitrate to ammonium (Verstraete et al. 1980). Iron-enrichment experiments carried out by Van Leeuwe et al. (1997) on natural phytoplankton samples of the Southern Ocean indicate that they are not iron-starved per se, but iron stress leads to sub-optimal growth. During the first German JGOFS expedition to the Southern Ocean in 1992, iron concentrations appeared to govern distribution of phytoplankton biomass at the APF (de Baar et al. 1995), while during the second expedition in 1995/1996 iron concentrations remained low throughout the cruise and may have been responsible for maximum biomass and primary productivity below values obtained by optimum growth. However, the distribution of phytoplankton biomass and primary productivity was not determined by iron concentrations (de Jong et al. 1997).

It is widely accepted that phosphate and nitrate are not limiting factors for phytoplankton growth in the Southern Ocean (Holm-Hansen et al. 1977, Hayes et al. 1984, Jacques 1989, Laubscher et al. 1993). Nitrate, in particular, is always present in

concentrations far in excess of phytoplankton demand, also during the ANTXIII/2 cruise (Hense et al. 1998). Of all nutrients, only north of the APF silicate concentrations were present which limit phytoplankton, especially diatom, growth (Allanson et al. 1981, Jacques 1989, Verlencar et al. 1990, Löscher et al. 1997, Hense et al. 1998). South of the Polar Front higher silicate concentrations could not stimulate growth there since the instability of the water column was too high.

## 4.2.3 Phytoplankton communities

Blooms which are typically observed in the vicinity of fronts and in the MIZ in the Southern Ocean, tend to be dominated by net-plankton (>20  $\mu$ m), as opposed to the areas between fronts where mainly nanoplankton (<20  $\mu$ m) form the community (Holm-Hansen and Mitchell 1991, Laubscher 1993, Bracher et al. 1999 - Fig. 4.3). Franks (1992) has claimed that due to the different swimming and buoyancy characteristics the phytoplankton are differentially advected at fronts, with the strongest swimmers away from the front. This hypothesis cannot explain the seasonal effect found by Laubscher et al. (1993): Only in early summer net-phytoplankton (>20  $\mu$ m) was consistently the major components of the frontal blooms, while in late summer (March) phytoplankton community at the APF was mainly formed by nanoplankton and major net-phytoplankton blooms were only encountered south of the APF where silicate levels exceed 20  $\mu$ M.



Fig. 4.3: Size fractionated (>20  $\mu$ m, 2-20  $\mu$ m and <2  $\mu$ m) chl *a* concentrations within the euphotic zone from ANTXIII/2 where SAPF = stations within the ACC, but just south of the APF, APF diff. (different) in depth = APF stations where P\*<sub>m</sub> 1% light depth > P\*<sub>m</sub> surface; ACC diatom = ACC stations close to the ice edge with a high portion of diatoms in the phytoplankton community, and ACC mix = ACC stations with equal contributions of phytoplankton groups in the community. Figure was taken from Fig. 3 in Bracher et al. (1999)

The netplankton which form Antarctic phytoplankton blooms mainly consists of largecelled and colonial diatoms (e.g. El-Sayed and Taguchi 1981, Jacques 1983, von Bröckel 1985, El-Sayed and Weber 1985, Heywood and Priddle 1987, Bianchi et al. 1992, Crawford 1995, Savidge et al. 1995, bloom at the APF in Bracher et al. 1999 -Fig. 4.3 and Fig. 4.4 or Hense et al. 1998). Blooms formed by *Phaeocystis* colonies are often observed in the coastal and continental shelf zone (CCSZ), especially at the western Ross Sea (e.g. Palmisano et al. 1986) and the Weddell Sea (Hayes et al. 1984, Nöthig 1988), but also often form the second period of MIZ blooms (Karsten 1905, Hart 1942, El-Sayed 1984, Garrison et al. 1987, Fryxell 1989, Smetacek et al. 1990, Jacques and Panouse 1991, Stöcker 1995, Bracher et al. 1999 - Fig. 4.3 and Fig. 4.4). The second period of blooms at fronts north of the APF are formed by nanoplankton (Laubscher et al. 1993).

#### Dinophyceae Chrysophyceae □ Prymnesiophyceae Diatoms 100% 80% 60% 40% 20% 0% zone MIZ ACC-ACC-SAPF APF APF diatom mix diff. in centre depth

#### phytoplankton composition

**Fig. 4.4:** Phytoplankton composition within the different areas from ANTXIII/2. Ratios (%) of each algal group were obtained according to the method described in Bracher et al. (1999) by converting characteristic accessory pigment concentrations to chl *a* and relating it to the total extracted chl-a. All pigments for this calculation were determined by HPLC analyses. SAPF = stations within the ACC, but just south of the APF, APF diff. (different) in depth = stations in this area where the  $P^*_m$  values from 1% light depth were significantly higher than at the surface. ACC diatom = stations in the area of the ACC close to the ice edge with a high portion of diatoms in the phytoplankton community. ACC mix = stations in the area of the ACC with equal contributions of phytoplankton groups in the community. Figure was taken from Fig. 3 in Bracher et al. (1999)

At the second German JGOFS cruise the variation of phytoplankton biomass distribution in the various size classes corresponded to the distribution of grazers in different size classes (Dubischar and Bathmann 1998): within the APF growth of small phyotplankton (< 20  $\mu$ m) seemed to be suppressed by grazing of large numbers of small cyclopoids, while in the ACC the bigger calanoids were five times more abundant and putting high grazing pressure on larger phytoplankton. Still, the long spines (especially *Chaetoceros* spp.) and big frustules (esp. *Thalassiothrix* sp.) of the dominating species at the APF bloom may act as efficient protectors against grazing pressure, and therefore the disadvantage of growing slower can be compensated in shallower UMLs (Schültke 1998).

#### 4.2.4 Contribution of different regions on total biomass of the Southern Ocean

The positive correlation of phytoplankton productivity and biomass observed by the same three-dimensional map of the APF (Strass et al. 1999 - Fig. 4.5), points out the importance of the initial chlorophyll distribution when environmental conditions become favourable for growth. Most studies indicate increased biomass and productivity at the APF (see chapter 4.2), but there have been reports of poor productivity (El-Sayed 1984, Verlencar et al. 1990, Laubscher et al. 1993). A seasonal trend of chlorophyll concentrations at the APF has been observed by several studies (Fukuchi and Tamura 1982, Wantanabe and Nakajima 1983, Sasaki 1984, Laubscher et al. 1993), which were high in early summer, but low in late summer with a shift in the area of maximum biomass to the south of the APF. Ice-edge blooms have been found due to evaluating remotely sensed ocean colour data, not only to be a spring-summer feature, but also extent into austral autumn (Comiso et al. 1990). However, recent studies in the JGOFS programme have reinvestigated ice-edge systems and found that blooms of the type described may not always appear; Turner and Owens (1995) and Bathmann et al. (1997) have demonstrated the absence of stability-induced phytoplankton blooms associated with the MIZ in the open waters of the Southern Ocean at 6°W and in the Bellinghausen Sea, respectively. Still even when only regarding 25 % of the MIZ forming blooms, Savidge et al. (1996) calculated in their model that the contribution of the MIZ to the Southern Ocean's biomass is still significant: looking at the area within the Southern Ocean from the Subantarctic Front (SAF) to the south, the specific contributions of the

three zones to the overall biomass are the following: APF 5-10%, MIZ 20% and ACC (from APF to MIZ) 30%. These numbers diminish to 50% of their value when considering the area within the Southern Ocean south from the Sub-Tropical Convergence.



Fig. 4.5: Scatter diagram of vertically integrated production (Int-P) versus chlorophyll content (vertically integrated chlorophyll concentration (Int-Chl) within the APF and the SAPF during the ANT XIII-2 cruise. Figure was taken from Fig. 9a in Strass et al. (1999)

# 4.3 Biooptical characteristics of phytoplankton

Regional differences in biooptical characteristics have been observed among phytoplankton, regarding overall absorption, specific absorption coefficient (both Bracher and Tilzer 1999), quantum yield of carbon fixation (Bracher et al. 1999), sunscreen effect of UV absorbing compounds, and sensitivity to enhanced UVR (Bracher and Wiencke 1999) which are mainly due to species composition, size of phytoplankton cells, chains or colonies, and overall biomass (Bracher et al. 1999). Factors influencing these phytoplankton characteristics are mainly the depth of the upper mixed layer and the rate of vertical mixing (Bracher and Tilzer 1999, Bracher et al. 1999) and differences in grazing pressure (Dubischar and Bathmann 1998, *see* Bracher et al. 1999).



Fig. 4.6: Horizontal distribution of (a) the 1 % and (b) the 0.1 % light depth of PAR within the APF and the SAPF during the ANT XIII-2 cruise. Figure was taken from Fig. 2 in Strass et al. (1999)

#### 4.3.1 Light attenuation by phytoplankton

When biomass reaches a certain value, self shading is lowering the rate of capturing photons for photosynthesis. This results in a mesoscale variation of the different light depths roughly by a factor of 2-3 (Bracher and Tilzer 1999 - Fig. 2.1 and Strass et al. 1999 - Fig. 4.6). However, blooms within the Southern Ocean as compared to ones in lower latitudes are moderate and self shading is smaller. In addition, non-algal substances in Antarctic waters are mainly derived from autochthonous sources since there is hardly any input of terrestrial material from the Antarctic continent. Concentrations and attenuation of these materials are found to be particularly low (Mitchell 1992, Tilzer et al. 1994, Bracher and Tilzer 1999 - Fig. 4.7). Therefore, the fractional light attenuation by phytoplankton within the blue spectrum is higher in Southern Ocean blooms (>60% in Bracher and Tilzer 1999 - Fig. 4.8, Tilzer et al. 1994), compared to blooms at lower latitudes and the Arctic (Mitchell 1992, Kirk 1994a). Outside of blooms the portion still remains 25%. Within the vertical component, the effect of water absorbing nearly everything in the red spectrum already below surface, is ensued by increasing absorbance of phytoplankton with depth. This feature gets eroded when the phytoplankton biomass reaches a certain value (above 1 mg chl a m<sup>-3</sup>); under these circumstances biomass determines the depth of maximal absorption by phytoplankton (Bracher and Tilzer 1999 - Fig. 4.9).



Fig. 4.7: Comparison of  $k_g$  values from the during the ANT XIII-2 cruise and literature. Figure was taken from Fig. 12a in Bracher and Tilzer (1999)

# 4.3.2 Specific absorption by phytoplankton

The chlorophyll specific absorption by phytoplankton,  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$ , at any given wavelength is a variable depending on pigment composition and pigment packaging. In our study  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$  varied widely, at least two-fold at 440 nm which is the wavelength of maximum absorption by the majority of pigments. The pigment composition in natural samples is influenced by the species composition itself, but also responds to the light environment algal cells encounter. The package effect depends on cell size, shape, cellular pigment composition, the number and shapes of chloroplasts, and thylakoid stacking. This is manifested as a decrease in  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$  with increasing chl *a* concentration per cell and with increasing chl *a* C<sup>-1</sup> ratios (Dubinsky et al. 1986). In cells acclimated to low-light,  $a_{\phi}^{*}[\lambda]$  is generally lowest which is described to the package effect (Morel and Bricaud 1986, Dubinsky 1992, Johnsen and Sakshaug 1993, Kirk 1994a, Bracher and Tilzer 1999). These cells, compared to cells acclimated to high-light, are packed with more photosynthetic pigments. By that the number of photons captured increases which is



**Fig. 4.8:** Contributions of pure water (white), non-algal material (grey) and phytoplankton (black) to light attenuation as a function of wavelength at low (b) a station within the ACC with 29 mg chl a m<sup>-2</sup>) and at high (a station a) within the APF with 122 and c) within the MIZ with 95 mg chl a m<sup>-2</sup>) phytoplankton biomass during the ANT XIII-2 cruise. Figure was taken from Fig. 8 in Bracher and Tilzer (1999)

44







**Fig. 4.10:** Spectra of specific absorption  $a_6^*$  (absorption of phytoplankton normalised to chl *a*) at three representative stations: a) Station S21 for the APF, b) Station S31 for the ACC and c) Station S30 for the MIZ during the ANT XIII-2 cruise. Figure was taken from Fig. 10 in Bracher and Tilzer (1999)



**Fig. 4.11:** Spectra of specific absorption  $a_{\phi}^{*}$  (absorption of phytoplankton normalised to chl *a*) at three representative stations: Station S21 for the APF, Station S31 for the ACC and Station S30 for the MIZ at a) 0m, b) 15m and c) 30m during the ANT XIII-2 cruise. Figure was taken from Fig. 11 in Bracher and Tilzer (1999)

important under low light conditions; but, on the whole the efficiency of capturing photons decreases. In addition to that, pigment packaging varies with cell size; large cells are stacking more pigments per cell than small cells (Johnsen and Sakshaug 1993, Johnsen et al. 1994).

Acclimation to low light was observed at the station within the MIZ bloom and three stations within the APF bloom where the upper mixed layer was very shallow (<20 m). The  $a_{\phi}^{*}[\lambda]$  values in phytoplankton samples from below the UML were significantly lower compared to samples from depths above, while the pigment composition within the water column did not significantly change (Bracher and Tilzer 1999 - Fig. 4.10). At those sites, still 15-30% of the daily primary production rate was fixed below the UML depth (Bracher et al. 1999).

We also observed a difference in  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$  between phytoplankton of the different areas due to cell size and species specific pigment composition (Bracher and Tilzer 1999 -Fig. 4.11 and Bracher et al. 1999 - Fig. 4.3 and Fig. 4.4). Lower values of  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$  were seen in the bloom samples where either the cells themselves were bigger or they were combined in long chains (diatoms) or colonies (*Phaeocystis*). Small cells having less pigments per cell are more efficient in capturing light than big cells. Due to the principle that bigger bodies have a smaller surface area than smaller ones, more pigments per cell are necessary in such bodies to encounter the same amount of photons as small bodies (Johnsen et al. 1994).

#### 4.3.3 Quantum yield

The maximal quantum yield of photosynthesis,  $\Phi_m$ , indicates the conversion of absorbed light energy to chemical energy and is a measure which depends besides on  $\alpha^*$ , also on  $\bar{a}_{\phi}^*$ , the spectrally weighted absorption coefficient of phytoplankton for PAR, which is influenced by  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$  (*see* chapter 2.4). According to Morel (1978) the  $\Phi_m$  value for green eutrophic waters are on average higher than those observed in blue, oligotrophic waters. Cleveland et al. (1989) observed under bloom conditions for short photosynthetic incubations, which minimise respiration of newly fixed carbon,  $\Phi_m$  for nitrogen-replete cells to approach maximal theoretical values (0.062-0.102 for 3-20 m) In contrast, when they revisited the location two weeks later, the nitracline was deeper and the phytoplankton appeared to be in post-bloom conditions which was indicated by higher phaeopigment concentrations and much lower  $\Phi_m$  values (0.033-0.044 at 3-20 m). In general, our results showed higher values in the blooming areas as opposed to the non bloom areas, except for the values within the MIZ bloom (Bracher et al. 1999 - Fig. 3.1). Here  $\Phi_m$  values , especially for the surface samples were even lower than in the ACC outside the APF. According to Cleveland et al. (1989) these low  $\Phi_m$  values in addition to the POC:PON and chl *a*: phaeo *a* ratios indicate that the final phase of the bloom has started (*see* Bracher et al. 1999).

#### 4.3.4 Sensitivity to enhanced UVR

An impact of increased levels of UVR to primary production of natural phytoplankton within the Southern Ocean has been measured by several studies (El-Sayed et al. 1990, Smith et al. 1992, Lesser et al. 1996, Neale et al. 1998, Bracher and Wiencke 1999). The balance between UV-B damage and repair of damaged sites is a non-linear function that is sensitive to the physiological state of the phytoplankton (Cullen and Lesser 1991, Lesser et al. 1994, Bracher and Wiencke 1999). Furthermore, laboratory and field studies indicate that algal sensitivity to UV-B appears to be species-specific (Jokiel and York 1984, Karentz et al. 1991a, Smith et al. 1992, Davidson and Marchant 1994), in dependence of phytoplankton cell size (Garcia-Pichel 1994, Bracher and Wiencke 1999) and underwater light field (Helbling et al. 1994, Bracher and Wiencke 1999).

The depth of the upper mixed layer and the rate of mixing determine the underwater light field. The ratio of UV-A/UV-B and blue light/UV-B increases with depth (Smith et al. 1992). Cullen and Lesser (1991) have shown that for an equal dose of UV-B, short exposure to high irradiance is more damaging than longer exposure to lower irradiance. Therefore, UVR damage can be acute to phytoplankton approaching the surface in a water column with a high mixing rate.

The information given by  $F_v/F_m$  value is an estimate of the maximum quantum yield of electron transport in photosystem II (i. e. excitation capture by open PSII centres) and can be used to assess the photosynthetic conversion efficiencies of phytoplankton (Schreiber et al. 1995). Simultaneous measurement of the ratio of variable to maximum fluorescence ( $F_v/F_m$ ) of dark acclimated algae and carbon fixation rates helped to



**Fig. 4.12:** Quantum yield of electron transport in PSII,  $F_v/F_{m_i}$  at surface water samples after sampling (t0), after four hours of incubation under a spectrum corresponding to an irradiance field encountered in 5 m depth under depleted (180 DU) and normal ozone concentrations (360 DU) during the ANT XIII-2 cruise. Stations are grouped to the areas within the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean which they are located in: MIZ, ACC, SAPF, APF, Figure was taken from Fig. 5 in Bracher and Wiencke (1999)

elucidate the different inhibitory processes affecting photosynthetic rates (Bracher and Wiencke 1999 - Fig. 4.12 and Fig. 4.13). While dynamic photoinhibition is a process of photoprotection, the chronic photoinhibition implies damage within the cell (Osmond 1994). All phytoplankton samples were sensitive to irradiance conditions inside the ozone hole, seen in a lowering of Fv/Fm. In samples taken from sites within the phytoplankton bloom primary production rates remained at values similar to those measured under conditions outside the ozone hole which indicates dynamic photoinhibition according to new definitions by Osmond (1994); photosynthesis was actively downregulated for a short time and the cells were efficiently protected from further negative effects of UV-B. Dynamic photoinhibition amplifies the nonphotochemical energy dissipation by converting the excessive absorbed energy into thermal radiation and is probably controlled under participation of certain carotenoids by the xanthophyll cycle (Krause and Weis 1991, Hanelt 1996). Strong lowering of carbon fixation rates in phytoplankton from outside the bloom areas indicate passively induced damage or at least chronic inhibition by enhanced UVR. Besides the degradation of the D<sub>1</sub> protein, probably ribulose biphosphate carboxylase / oxygenase



Fig. 4.13: Primary production rates after four hour incubation under a spectrum corresponding to an irradiance field encountered in 5 m depth under depleted (180 DU) and normal ozone concentrations (360 DU) a) in surface water samples and b) in 1% light depth water samples during the ANT XIII-2 cruise. Stations showing a significant higher production rate under conditions under normal ozone concentrations as compared to depleted ozone concentrations (360 DU >> 180DU) are indicated with grey colour (P<0.05), with grey stripes when P was only <0.1, with white colour when there was no significant difference between the two. Stations are grouped to the areas within the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean they which are located in: MIZ, ACC, SAPF, APF edge (within the APF, with high biomass but already low surface temperatures), APF centre. Figure was taken from Fig. 6 in Bracher and Wiencke (1999)

(RUBISCO) was down regulated (as shown *in* Lesser et al. 1996). Fast recovery as seen in the bloom sites indicates photoprotection mechanisms, whereas photodamaged proteins and pigments require several days for repair (Hanelt et al. 1992).

Besides quenching by dynamic photoinhibition, other strategies are known to reduce deleterious impacts of UVR to phytoplankton (for overview see Vincent and Roy 1993). An increasing number of naturally occurring compounds have been identified that absorb strongly in the UV-A and UV-B region of the spectrum. Their increase in cellular concentration under conditions of elevated UV dosages has taken to imply that they are produced as natural sunscreens, but it remains possible, that they play additional, as yet unknown roles. In phytoplankton, as UV-absorbing compounds, different mycosporine like amino acids (MAAs) have been identified, which absorb maximally in the range 310 to 360 nm (Carreto et al. 1990, Karentz et al. 1991b). In many cyanobacterial organisms scytonemin has been identified as a pigment which absorbs mainly in the UV-A region (e.g. Turian 1985). Carotenoids are also involved in another quenching mechanism besides the dynamic photoinhibition process. By the interaction of UVR and oxygen, toxic intermediates are produced which can be more damaging than the UV exposure itself. In addition to various enzymatic defences (Shibata et al. 1991), carotenoids can detoxify these radical intermediates by acting as general radical-trapping antioxidants (Burton and Ingold 1984). Repair mechanisms have been well studied for DNA damage and the photosystem II reaction centre. The repair system of PSII (Greenberg et al. 1989) and the induction of UV absorbing compounds (e.g. MAAs) synthesis (Riegger and Robinson 1997) are light controlled processes which work under PAR- or UV-A + PAR (especially blue light) irradiance. When mixing rates and depths are optimally, cells are held long enough in depths without UV-B, but where still enough UV-A and blue light is encountered; thus induction of MAAs and turnover rates of recovery in phytoplankton photosynthesis can compensate the UV damage.

It is important to note, that the sunscreen effect of MAAs is not only dependent on the amount of compounds synthesised, but also on the size of the cells (Garcia-Pichel 1994). Only within the blooms the phytoplankton cells were large enough (Fig. 4.3) that MAAs were acting efficiently in protecting against deleterious UVR (according to the definition of Garcia-Pichel 1994). Although outside the blooms phytoplankton

contained the greatest amount of MAAs in our study (Bracher and Wiencke 1999 - Fig. 4.14), MAAs could not protect efficiently the cells because of the small size of the cells (90% <20  $\mu$ m; Fig. 4.3). According to Garcia-Pichel at this size class only an investment >10% of the dry biomass can give efficient protection to UVR. Additional UV protection within the bloom areas may have been obtained by self shading and higher turnover rates of the various repair mechanisms due to the rate and depth of mixing. Species differences in sensitivity of induction processes have been found among diatoms and *Phaeocystis antarctica* for MAA synthesis (Riegger and Robinson 1997), they may also be different for other protection mechanisms and other phytoplankton species (and groups).

In summary, primary production in our study area from the APF south to the MIZ, seemed to be stronger impaired by enhanced levels of UVR outside of phytoplankton blooms than within.



**Fig. 4.14:** MAAs (mycosporine-glycine, porphyra-334, shinorine, palythine, palythene) measured by HPLC analysis during the ANT XIII-2 cruise. Stations are grouped to the areas within the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean which they are located in: MIZ, ACC, SAPF, APF. Figure was taken from Fig. 7a in Bracher and Wiencke (1999)

#### 4.4 Methodological aspects

In this thesis a simultaneous insight in biooptical processes determining primary production was given. Primary production data were obtained from the same natural samples by a detailed resolution of spectral compartments (4.4.1) using different scales and techniques (4.4.2).

#### 4.4.1 Spectral resolution of underwater light field and absorbance characteristics

The resolution of the underwater light field and the phytoplankton absorption characteristics on a spectral scale is necessary when primary production rates are derived from P versus E incubations under an artificial light source. Both characteristics are of great importance for modeling primary production on the basis of pigment concentrations revealed by remote sensing. This is because relationships between the underwater light climate and algal photosynthesis are not determined by light intensity only, but also by light quality.

Data on the spectral resolution of the underwater light field were used to compare the different compartments in the water attributing to the attenuation of light. The increase of  $\bar{a}_{\phi}^*$  with depth regardless of chlorophyll concentration due to the strong attenuation of water in the red spectral range at the sea surface has to be taken into account when estimating pigment concentration from reflectance data.

The comparison of two measures characterising the influence of phytoplankton on the attenuation of light (for definitions *see* chapter 2.1 and 2.3) lead us to conclude that measuring the chlorophyll specific absorption coefficient,  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$ , is important when using remote sensing ocean colour data for determining pigment concentration and primary production. While only one value of the specific attenuation coefficient,  $k_c[\lambda]$ , could be determined for all stations,  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$  was determined for each station at six depths. The determination of  $k_c[\lambda]$  has the following disadvantages (*see* Bracher and Tilzer 1999): at wavelengths > 600 nm due to Ramnan scattering (Stavn and Weidmann 1990) no  $k_c[\lambda]$  values can be obtained. Regional differences in  $k_c[\lambda]$  can only be obtained with an extensive sampling; no separate values are determined over depth, thus photoacclimation can not be studied. The contribution of phytoplankton is overestimated by  $k_c[\lambda]$  due to non-algal substances which are still influenced by the

amount of chlorophyll (Häse 1996); the correction of  $a[\lambda]$  by  $a_d[\lambda]$  to derive  $a_{\phi}[\lambda]$  (and by that  $a_{\phi} * [\lambda]$ ) seems to be much more accurate.

In addition, the spectral resolution of the underwater light field,  $E_d[\lambda]$ , and  $a_{\phi}^*[\lambda]$  are "ingredients" for determining the spectrally weighted absorption coefficient of phytoplankton for PAR,  $\bar{a}_{\phi}^*$ . Usually this value is necessary for correcting  $\alpha$ , when  $\alpha$  was obtained in a P versus E curve not performed under a natural light climate. Errors due to not correcting  $\alpha$  are pointed out in Bracher et al. 1999 (Table 4). Also the parameter  $\Phi_m$  is calculated with  $\alpha$  and  $\bar{a}_{\phi}^*$ .

**Table 4.1:** Comparison of ADP rates during ANT XIII-2 cruise calculated in our study including spectral correction of  $\alpha^*$  to not spectrally weighting  $\alpha^*$  (= not corrected). Table was taken from Table 4 from Bracher et al. 1999

	<u>α* not corrected</u>
n	22
min-max	59%-108%
mean	80%
stdev	9%

Different intercalibrations between instruments were necessary for the calculation of areal daily primary production (ADP) rates in Bracher et al. (1999) and Strass et al. (1999). Most important was the conversion of underwater PAR measured in W m<sup>-2</sup> with the SeaSoar light meter to  $\mu$ mol quanta m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, since each photon captured by plants influences the photosynthetic pathway in the same way regardless of its energy content. For this conversion the spectral resolution of the underwater light field measured by the MER underwater light meter on all stations within the grid of the map were used. The information on photons captured for photosynthesis is indispensable for comparison to other studies.

Due to the knowledge of the spectral composition of the underwater light field in dependence to the stratospheric ozone layer an incubator was constructed simulating natural irradiance conditions within the water column (Tüg 1996, Abele-Oeschger et al. 1997). In this incubator the same sample was incubated under irradiance conditions inside and outside the ozone hole and the "real" effect of enhanced UVR due to ozone

depletion was studied. In previous studies either parts of the natural irradiance fields have been cut off (El-Sayed et al. 1990, Neale et al. 1992, Smith et al. 1992, Helbling et al. 1992, Boucher and Prezelin 1996, Helbling et al. 1996), or, as often under artificial light sources, the UV radiation has been far too strong as compared to the natural conditions (Cullen and Lesser 1991, Davidson and Marchant 1994, 1996), or, different samples were incubated under the natural sun spectrum in- and outside the ozone hole (Smith et al. 1992). Since photoinhibition of photosynthesis by a specific wavelength (290 to 700 nm in nature) at any given time is a function of polychromatic damage and repair processes within an algal cell (Cullen et al. 1992), a small difference between an incubation spectrum and a natural sunlight spectrum may produce arbitrary results.

#### 4.4.2 Areal daily primary production rates

There are different ways to estimate primary production in the sea: direct measurements on natural phytoplankton samples are the "basis" for all further calculations and models. Resolving primary production on a mesoscale or small scale can be done in addition of either using on-line underwater fluorescence and light data obtained by a towed undulating instrument (e.g. SeaSoar) or using reflectance data from remote sensing (*see* 4.5).

Different methods exist for direct measurements of primary production. In algal cultures, carbon uptake must be lower than rates for oxygen evolution (*see* chapter 2.4). However, for natural samples, the oxygen budget of a P versus E sample, or a body of water, is related to the net community production, i.e. the gross photosynthesis minus respiratory losses in all organisms, heterotrophs included (Sakshaug et al. 1997). This makes it difficult to detect the small changes that arise, due to photosynthesis, in oxygen concentration after short (<24 h) incubations, except under bloom conditions (Williams et al. 1996). In addition, the <sup>14</sup>C method has a high sensitivity in oligotrophic waters, where the oxygen measurements soon reach their detection limit. Fluorescence measurements provide only information on mechanisms underlying variations in carbon assimilation and no discrete numbers of carbon fixation rates can be derived. Therefore, we focus in this chapter on measurements of carbon uptake.

Three incubation methods are common: a) the *in situ*, b) the simulated *in situ*, and c) the *in vitro* incubation. On expedition ANT XIII/2 the simulated *in situ* (Tremblay 1997)

and the *in vitro* incubation method (Bracher et al. 1999) were used. The range of daily areal production rates (ADP) were similar, but, at definite stations the variation was big (Table 4.2). Overall, only 8 stations were compared. The uncertainty of the results is probably due to differences between two different incubation methods. In the simulated *in situ* (SIS) method of Tremblay (1997) samples from 6 depths between surface and 0.1 % light depth were incubated 24 hours under natural light conditions on deck of the ship. In the *in vitro* (IV) method (Bracher et al. 1999) P versus E curves from surface and 1% light depth were performed in incubations over 4 hours under an artificial light source excluding UVR. Each P versus E curve contained 18 to 24 data points.

**Table 4.2:** Comparison of areal primary production rates (ADP) in [mg C m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>] measured at various stations during the ANTXIII/2 cruise by two different methods: the simulated *in situ* (SIS) method was used by Tremblay (1997) and the *in vitro* (IV) method was used in our study (Bracher et al. 1999)

	Tremblay (1997)	Bracher et al. (1999)
station	SIS-method	IV-method
9	440	172
13	1126	303
16	958	310
18	675	539
21	674	851
30	630	558
31	216	111
32	576	344

In the SIS-method UVR was included in the spectrum, but radiation within the bottles was 20 % higher in the PAR range, about the same in the UV-A range, and 50% lower in the UV-B range compared to the radiation at the sampled depth (unpubl. data). At several stations photoinhibition has been measured in surface water samples (Tremblay 1997). The cause of this photoinhibition might be either due to the naturally irradiances of UVR or due to an artefact by the unnaturally higher irradiances in the PAR range. In the Southern Ocean until now, photoinhibition has been reported only in SIS-incubations within polyethylene bags (Prezelin et al. 1994a, El-Sayed et al. 1990) or quartz bottles (Helbling et al. 1992) with significantly higher UVR transparency (75-

85%, Prezelin et al. 1994b), or in P versus E curves performed *in vitro* under simulated natural light conditions including UVR (Roettgers 1998). In contrast to that, in the IV-method UVR was excluded at all. In contrast to the rather blue colour encountered in the ocean, both incubation methods were performed under white light. Only the results of the IV-method were corrected by the *in situ* underwater light spectrum by correcting  $\alpha_{incubation}$  (*see* 4.4.1, Bracher et al. 1999), which is not possible to do for the SIS-method. With the IV-method it is possible to calculate areal daily primary production (ADP) rates until a depth, where no light during the daily cycle is measured at all; with the SIS-method ADP rates can only be calculated until the 0.1% depth. However, the comparison of ADP data until 0.1.% (between 50 and 100 m within the APFZ) and until 200 m depth showed that production below the 0.1% light level indeed makes only a negligible contribution to the complete vertically integrated production (Strass et al. 1999 - Table 4.3).

**Table 4.3:** Sensitivity of areal production rates to variation of the integration depth. The values indicate the average daily rates obtained from the whole survey period. within the APF and the SAPF during the ANT XIII-2 cruise. Table was taken from Table 2 in Strass et al. (1999)

integration depth	mean [mg C m <sup>-2</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> ]	standard deviation [mg C m <sup>-2</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> ]	range [mg C m <sup>-2</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> ]
1 % light depth	554	± 164	268 - 924
0.1 % light depth	583	± 172	294 - 973
200 m	585	± 172	295 - 975

Short incubations (order of 1h) provide estimates that are closer to the gross carbon uptake than long incubations, because the likelihood of labelled carbon being respired to  $CO_2$  and /or recycled within the cell increases with the duration of the incubation (Dring and Jewson 1982). In addition to that, it is recommended to keep incubation times as short as possible, since physiological acclimation of the photosynthetic apparatus to incubation conditions takes place, i.e. as a result of variations in light, temperature and nutrients (Sakshaug et al. 1997). Within 24 hour incubations, like it was done in the SIS-method, the physiological response of phytoplankton to the varying light field changes. This may be correct regarding differences in light intensity due to cloud cover,
but not for the above mentioned qualitative differences to the *in situ* underwater light field. By contrast, the P versus E experiments in Bracher et al. (1999) were performed by shorter incubations (four hours). However, the constant incubation conditions when performing P versus E curves may bear an error when calculating ADP rates; although weaker developed in the Antarctic Ocean as compared to other regions, phytoplankton physiology responds to the diurnal light cycle (Rivkin and Putt 1988, *see* discussion in Bracher et al. 1999). At least, light values for calculating ADP rates included the day cycle of underwater irradiance by combining in-air-on-line measurements of PAR,  $E_a[PAR]$ , the attenuation coefficient of PAR,  $k_d[PAR]$ , and the conversion factor r from in-air-PAR to underwater-PAR, obtained with the MER light meter at all stations (Bracher et al. 1999).

In comparison to both methods, natural conditions would be best simulated by *in situ* incubations, but often, especially in the Southern Ocean due to the rough weather conditions, they are too laborious to conduct. Incubation bottles themselves affect the light climate during incubation. Quartz or certain polyethylene (which are much cheaper) bottles are the best to take because they are transparent to all spectral wavelengths; still only 80 % of the incoming light is let through (Prezelin et al. 1994b). No method includes the influence of algae wandering within the water column due to (vertical and horizontal) mixing on the ADP rate. Until now this phenomenon is still very poorly investigated. Depending on mixing rates and depths, ADP rates by static incubation are either under- or overestimated (Harris and Piccinin 1977, Marra 1978, Mitchell and Holm-Hansen 1991b, Helbling et al. 1994).

During ANT XIII/2 a 3-dimensional map of primary production at the Antarctic Polar Front was obtained by a diagnostic model which used on-line data (of light attenuation, global radiation, chlorophyll fluorescence), except for the parameters describing the P versus E curve, gathered within a small areal grid (Strass et al. 1999). In contrast to experimental primary production estimates based on a few single stations, the diagnostic model is able to yield a synoptic map which gives the high horizontal resolution required to seek a correlation with mesoscale hydrographic details, and to reveal temporal variations resulting from changes in global solar radiation. Consequently, based on adequately resolved variations in time and space, average primary production rates can be obtained which are less likely biased than experimentally derived values (Strass et al. 1999 - Fig. 4.15). The effort to achieve this map of primary production was hardly bigger than for a few stations. Still it is questionable, if the values obtained by that model are of the same quality as direct measurements, since far more calibration and conversion steps were necessary. Light data were converted using spectrally resolved irradiance data of the stations, where also values of  $P_m$  and  $\alpha^*$  were obtained at the stations. Station data have been sampled not during the fine-scale survey itself, but prior or afterwards. In addition to that, the diagnostic model did not incorporate UVR or photoinhibition into the analysis since, it was based on the IV incubations and the light meter on the undulating instrument did only measure PAR. This is a quick method to obtain a simultaneous picture of primary production rates on a high spatial resolution. In contrast to experimental estimates, those data can be compared to primary production estimates given by remote sensing on a high spatial resolution.



Fig. 4.15: Mean ADP rates of primary production integrated vertically to 200 m depth (b) within the APF and the SAPF during the ANT XIII-2 cruise. Figure was taken from Fig. 8b in Strass et al. (1999)

### 4.5 Application to remote sensing

## 4.5.1 Obtaining pigment concentration

Remote sensing by satellites promises to provide detailed synoptic information on phytoplankton biomass and productivity on a temporal and spatial scale. Satellites, however, depend on clear skies to get an image of the ocean colour. Thus, in the Southern Ocean, where cloudy weather is prevailing, obtaining satellite data can be often severely restricted. Ocean colour data from the Southern Ocean have been gathered by the Coastal Zone Color Scanner (CZCS) on the Nimbus-7 satellite which was operational from 1978 to 1986 (Longhurst et al. 1995). Since October 1997 the Seaviewing-Wide-Field-of-view-Sensor (SeaWiFS) on SeaStar satellite is working. The remote sensed signal is used to infer chlorophyll a concentration from measurements of light reflected from near surface waters. Increased absorption with increased biomass at the blue end of the spectra result in an increased reflectance in the green and decreased reflectance in the blue (Morel and Prieur 1977). This dependence of the spectrum of water leaving radiance on chl a + phaeo a is the basis of remote sensing algorithms for phytoplankton pigments. Most part of the world oceans, nearly the whole Southern Ocean, belong to the case I waters, being defined as waters whose optical properties almost entirely are determined by phytoplankton and its associated debris and breakdown products (Morel 1988). Gordon et al. (1983) developed a global-processing-algorithm (GP) for case I waters:

$$\log (\text{chl } a + \text{phaeo } a) = \log a + b \log R_i$$
 (equation 4.1)

 $R_i = L_w[443] / L_w[550]$  for chl *a* + phaeo *a* < 1.5 mg m<sup>-3</sup>.

and 
$$a = 0.14$$
,  $b = -1.55$  ( $r^2 = 0.97$ ,  $n = 33$ )

or 
$$R_i = L_w[520] / L_w[550]$$
 for chl  $a + phaeo \ a \ge 1.5 \text{ mg m}^{-3}$   
and  $a = 0.63$ ,  $b = -4.72$   $(r^2 = 33, n = 33)$ 

with  $L_w$  = radiance just above the surface measured by remote sensing

The reflectance data obtained by remote sensing can be compared to reflectance data measured underwater as upwelling radiance, L<sub>u</sub>, (Austin 1980):

 $L_w \cdot 1.84 = L_u$  (equation 4.2)

One of the fundamental limitations of remotely sensed data on ocean colour is that information on the vertical structure of the pigment field, B(z) (with B = chl a + phaeo a at depth z), is lacking. It would not matter when B(z) were nearly uniform, but in many instances this is not the case. The existence of a peak in the profile, the deep chlorophyll maximum, is wide spread over much of the ocean (Cullen 1982, *see* chapter 3). Taking into account the vertical distribution of chlorophyll leads to small, but systematic differences in the calculated primary production (10% on basin scale, up to 20% at the

province scale- according to Sathyendranath et al. 1995) compared with an approach that would assume a uniform chlorophyll distribution of magnitude equal to satellite derived value (Morel and Berthon 1989).

**Table 4.4:** Different parameters describing the algorithm, which converts  $R_i$  (=reflectance data from the ocean surface obtained by remote sensing) into chl a + phaeo a (=pigment concentrations). Parameters were derived by correlating [chl a + phaeo a], determined by various in situ studies at different locations, to  $R_i$ , by using the algorithm: log (chl a + phaeo a) = log a+ b log  $R_i$ ; with  $R_i=L_w$  [ $\lambda_1$ ] /  $L_w$  [ $\lambda_2$ ]; with SO = Southern Ocean, ASO = Atlantic sector of Southern Ocean, and BASO = bloom within Atlantic sector of Southern Ocean; \* = in these studies reflectance data were derived by using upwelling radiation, measured with an underwater spectrometer

L <sub>w</sub> [441] / L <sub>w</sub> [550]							
citation	Gordon et al.	Mitchell and Holm-Hansen	our study	our study			
	1983	1991*	*	*			
where	global	SO	ASO	BASO			
N	33	122	13	10			
<b>r</b> 2	0.97	0.83	0.53	0.54			
а	0.14	0.53	0.12	0.19			
b	1.55	1.63	-1.12	-0.55			
a+c.l.		0.32	0.07	0.04			
b+c.l.		0.12	0.54	0.30			

L., [520]	' L.,	[550]
-----------	-------	-------

citation	Gordon et al.	Mitchell and Holm-Hansen	our study	our study
	1983	1991*	*	*
where	global	SO	ASO	BASO
N	33	122	13	10
r <sub>2</sub>			0.81	0.97
а	0.63	0.48	0.27	0.27
b	4.72	3.32	-5.23	-3.21
a+c.l.		0.38	0.07	0.02
b+c.l.		0.38	1.14	0.30

Mitchell and Holm-Hansen (1991a), have developed a Southern-Ocean-algorithm (SO) using a large data set of pigment and reflectance data from the area of the Drake Passage to the Antarctic Peninsula, since their results obtained by the GP algorithm were significantly different (Table 4.4). In accordance to them, we used our surface chl a + phaeo a and R<sub>i</sub> data of the second JGOFS cruise (Bracher and Tilzer 1999) for linear regression and developed separate algorithms for R<sub>i</sub> = L<sub>u</sub>[443] / L<sub>u</sub>[550] and R<sub>i</sub> =

 $L_u[520] / L_u[550]$ . For the stations in the bloom areas (>1 mg chl *a* m<sup>-3</sup>) we developed a bloom algorithm (Table 4.4). We only had R<sub>i</sub> data for three stations outside the bloom, therefore no separate algorithm for those stations could be developed. Linear regression for R<sub>i</sub> =  $L_u[520] / L_u[550]$  data gave much better correlation to chl *a* + phaeo *a* with r = 0.81 (bloom 0.97) as opposed to R<sub>i</sub> =  $L_u[443] / L_u[550]$  with 0.53 (bloom 0.54), (Fig. 4.16).



Fig. 4.16: The reflectance data,  $R_i$ , measured by the underwater spectrometer MER 2040 as upwelling radiance,  $L_u[\lambda]$ , as a function of surface chlorophyll *a* and phaeophytin *a* concentration (chl *a* + phaeo *a*) during ANT XIII/2 cruise (publication I). Black points mark reflectance data with  $R_i = L_u[443] / L_u[550]$  and white points mark  $R_i = L_u[520] / L_u[550]$ 

We compared calculated chl a + phaeo a concentrations by using our R<sub>i</sub> data and the GP, SO and our own algorithms, to the *in situ* measured chlorophyll concentrations (Fig. 4.17). Our algorithm (with R<sub>i</sub> = L<sub>u</sub> [520] / L<sub>u</sub> [550]), gave the far best estimate for chlorophyll concentrations. The SO and the GP algorithms overestimate pigment concentration significantly by >150% (± 151%) and >50% (±84%), respectively. For lower biomass (<1.5 mg chl a m<sup>-3</sup>) the GP algorithm was even better than the SO

algorithm, but, for high biomass the SO algorithm was better. Using our total algorithm standard deviation is still high with 47%, while the bloom algorithm shows only 8%.



**Fig. 4.17:** Data of chlorophyll *a* and phaeophytin *a* concentration at the surface,  $B_{ss}$  measured *in situ* (= IS) and calculated according to various algorithms (parameters *see* Table 4.2): by GP = according to the global-processing-algorithm developed by Gordon et al. (1983), the SO = the Southern-Ocean-algorithm developed by Mitchell and Holm-Hansen (1991), the ASO = the Atlantic-Southern-Ocean-algorithm developed in this study with *in situ* upwelling data, and the BASO = the Atlantic-Southern-Ocean-algorithm algorithm at phytoplankton blooms developed in our study with *in situ* upwelling data from stations with  $B_s > 1 \text{ mg m}^{-3}$ 

Regional and seasonal variations in the environment lead to significantly different biooptical properties of particulates (e.g. Mitchell and Kiefer 1988, Mitchell and Holm-Hansen 1991a, Lutz et al. 1995, Sathyendranath et al. 1996, Bracher and Tilzer 1999 and Bracher et al. 1999). Pigment specific inherent optical properties and apparent optical properties may result in different relationships between  $L_u[\lambda]$  and chl a + phaeo a (Morel 1988). Our results manifest when using remotely sensed ocean colour data to convert into pigment concentrations not only an algorithm specific for the Southern Ocean has to be developed as claimed by Mitchell and Holm-Hansen (1991a) and Mitchell (1992), but also different algorithms for the biogeochemical provinces within this ocean. When blooms are encountered at the APF or south by a decrease in the ratio of reflectance at 520 nm to 550 nm, one can be sure that they are formed by netplankton. In addition, at blooms of very shallow UMLs (<20 m) often phytoplankton below the UML show low light adaptation which results in a vertical change of  $a_{\phi}^*$ . Depending on the attenuation length this can still affect the reflectance signal. Therefore, for estimating chlorophyll concentrations a different algorithm has to be used than for the rest of the Southern Ocean. Otherwise those values will be underestimated within blooms.

# 4.5.2 Obtaining primary production rates

At present, remote sensing does not provide a direct measure of primary productivity; this must be inferred from the relationship between primary productivity and chlorophyll *a* concentration. For estimating local marine primary production in the ocean, several procedures are available using light-dependent models of photosynthesis, which require the following information: the sub-surface light field just below the sea surface (E<sub>0</sub>), as a function of time; the distribution of diffuse attenuation coefficient for downwelling light (k<sub>d</sub>) and the chlorophyll (B) with depth (z) in the water column; and finally as a function of depth, the parameters of the P versus E curve:  $\alpha^*$ , P\*<sub>m</sub> (Sathyendranath and Platt 1993). In addition, also the parameter characterising photoinhibition might be necessary  $\beta^*$ .

Any computation of primary production at large scales requires information, but resolved appropriately in space and time. Satellite provides some, but not all, of the required information with appropriate spatial and temporal resolutions: thus, cloud fields can be combined with atmospheric transmission models to obtain  $E_0$  (Bishop and Rossow 1991); sea surface colour fields contain information on near-surface pigment concentration  $B_s$ , and since B(z) and  $k_d(z)$  are closely related, at least in open ocean waters, we can also infer something about  $k_d$  (Gordon and Morel 1983, Sathyendranath and Morel 1983). But satellite remote sensing provides neither depth resolved B or  $k_d$ , nor the P versus E parameters. Therefore, large scale computations of primary production must be approached by combining satellite and *in situ* observations, and this requires techniques for extrapolating *in situ* observations in space and time, to match satellite data base. The relevant properties to be extrapolated are the parameters that define the shape of the chlorophyll profile (and therefore B and  $k_d$ ), and the P versus E parameters. According to Platt and Sathyendranath (1988) and Sathyendranath et al. (1995) this spatial discontinuity in biooptical characteristics should be recognised not only for conversion of reflectance data into pigment concentration, but also when deriving primary productivity from these values.

Sathyendranath et al. (1995) portioned the North Atlantic into biogeochemical provinces. The ocean was partitioned, in addition to relying on oceanographic intuition, by taking into consideration more than 6000 chlorophyll profiles, parameterised for their shape according to a standard equation (shifted Gaussian), and nearly 2000 sets of photosynthesis parameters from this part of the world. By this procedure, the ocean was divided into a set of biogeochemical provinces whose nominal boundaries, as well as being plausible to oceanographic insight, were also consistent with the observed patterns, considered seasonally in their data base. Biooptical information of our study within the area around the polar front will probably be sufficient to be used, in addition to information obtained by remote sensing, for deriving primary production rates at this time of the year (early summer). Here data acquisition of underwater light, chlorophyll fluorescence and CTD-parameters within the water column were obtained on-line, P versus E parameters were measured at numerous points within this area and extrapolated due to correlation with mesoscale hydrographic details (Strass et al. 1999). At other sites of our study within the Southern Ocean the information on biooptics was not obtained in this dense resolution, and therefore, before they can be extrapolated in a similar way like it was done in Strass et al. (1999) or described by Sathyendranath et al. (1995), additional data acquisition is necessary.

# 4.6 Concluding remarks and future perspectives

It is concluded from this thesis that biooptical characteristics, phytoplankton production, biomass and composition of phytoplankton within the Southern Ocean, are showing regional differences which are reflected in different biogeochemical provinces. In areas of enhanced biomass and primary productivity within the Southern Ocean phytoplankton are comprised mainly of net-plankton (>20  $\mu$ m), mostly dominated by diatoms. Only the second period of blooms within the MIZ and in coastal waters can be

dominated by big colonies of *Phaeocystis*. The frontal regions north of the APF (within the STC and the SAF) mainly consist of nanoplankton. By contrast, interfrontal areas year round are characterised by scarce phytoplankton biomass, low primary productivity and pico- and nanoplanktonic flagellates belonging to various algal classes.

The observed distribution of phytoplankton community composition is governed by a complex of inter-dependent factors which are the result of phytoplankton growth and loss factors. Phytoplankton blooms within the Southern Ocean are spatially and temporally restricted in their occurrence and mainly occur on sites where a shallow upper mixed layer (at least <50 m) has been established; still substantial biomass may extend to depths below the shallow UMLs, where growth rates are light-limited. This may be a result of hydrodynamically caused subduction of the surface waters where bloom formation had been facilitated earlier under favourable light conditions as a consequence of shallow mixed layer depths. In addition, phytoplankton growth may be restricted by temperature and iron availability, while only at the northern boundary of the APF silicate concentrations may limit phytoplankton (mainly diatom) growth. Grazing influences biomass build-up and the distribution of size fractions within phytoplankton communities. The understanding of the regulation of phytoplankton productivity and biomass in the Southern Ocean is crucial for the understanding on effects of global climate change by radiative forcing (enhanced UV radiation, heating, melting of pole caps, and CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations in the atmosphere) to the ocean's food web structures and carbon fluxes.

Effects of enhanced levels of UVR caused by stratospheric ozone depletion seems to impair primary production in the Southern Ocean stronger outside of phytoplankton blooms than within. Within blooms protection by MAAs acting as sunscreens is much more efficient because the phytoplankton community is mainly comprised of the fraction of cells, colonies or chains  $>20\mu$ m. Since smaller phytoplankton (<10 µm) and phytoplankton under unstable hydrological conditions are more susceptible to UVR damage, during austral spring the increasing UV-B radiation due to changed ozone levels in the stratosphere might delay the initiation of a bloom and alter species composition in the Southern Ocean. Thereby both the marine food web and the global carbon fluxes will be affected. To extrapolate our findings to a global-scale feature, phytoplankton productivity can be estimated on the basis of remotely sensed chl *a* concentrations provided that temporal and spatial resolution is sufficient. Photoacclimation and cell size are determining pigment packaging and backscattering. Spectral light absorption characteristics are pigment specific. Hence, variations in all above mentioned parameters lead to differences in pigment specific inherent (e. g. a\* $[\lambda]$ ) and apparent optical properties (e. g.  $k_c[\lambda]$ ), which affect the underwater light field. Thus, also the reflectance signal obtained by remote sensing is influenced. Since those biooptical parameters differ between the phytoplankton communities of the different biogeochemical provinces in the Southern Ocean, algorithms used for deriving correct pigment concentrations from remotely sensed reflectance data should not only be specific for the Southern Ocean as a whole, but also should be specific for the various biogeochemical provinces. This conclusion is supported by the comparison of *in situ* upwelling data and chlorophyll concentrations measured during our survey.

However, satellites depend on clear skies to obtain an image of the ocean. This represents a major problem in the Southern Ocean with prevailing cloudy weather. Moreover, remote sensing does neither provide information of vertical phytoplankton distribution, the underwater light field, nor the P versus E characteristics. Therefore, large - scale computations of primary production must be based on the combination of satellite and *in situ* observations, and this requires techniques for extrapolating *in situ* observations in space and time, to match the satellite data base. By on-line mapping, an array of relevant parameters can be obtained in a quasi-synoptic fashion over the vertical profile: temperature distribution, current patterns, flow patterns, underwater light field and chlorophyll concentration by using an instrument package comprising a shipboard based Acoustic Doppler Current Profiler and a towed undulating vehicle (e.g. SeaSoar) housing sensors for temperature, conductivity, pressure, PAR and chlorophyll fluorescence (instrument description see Pollard et al. 1995). We used such a device for obtaining input variables for our model resolving the spatial distribution of primary production at the APF. To obtain time series of data at one site, the instruments can be mounted on a platform suspended by buoys. In addition, in situ-multiwavelengthtransmissiometers suspended from such buoys deliver time - series information on phytoplankton composition based on pigment composition (Johnsen 1994). Our data

showed that differences in biooptical parameters due to species composition and photoacclimation among the biogeochemical provinces affect calculations of primary production by relating chlorophyll concentrations to underwater irradiance. When using our information on P versus E parameters and phytoplankton absorbance for deriving primary productivity, the spatial heterogenity in biooptical characteristics, as obtained by the conversion of reflectance data into pigment concentration, also has to be considered.

Between October and December, the effect of enhanced UVR due to ozone depletion has to be taken into account when estimating primary production rates. Consequently, assessments of P versus E curves should be conducted by using a sunshine simulator, used in Bracher and Wiencke (1999), under irradiance conditions responding to ozone layer concentrations measured in this area, in order to obtain the inhibition term  $\beta^*$ which has to be used in algorithms to. Information on stratospheric ozone layer concentrations above a certain area can be obtained daily from data derived by Tiros Operational Vertical Sounder (TOVS) aboard the NOAA polar orbiter. If primary production is estimated in the Southern Ocean at areas outside of blooms, the P versus E parameters charcteristic under this spectrum have to be taken into account, according to the TOVS data measured at that time and that place.

A future approach to estimate the photosynthetic parameters will be utilising environmental proxies, especially those which are accessible by remote sensing. But, for developing such an estimation procedure, one requires a body of data as a starting point. Knowledge of the initial slope of the light saturation curve as well as the assimilation number is inevitable, and until the insight to construct an estimation procedure for them, the main task is to extend their empirical data base. New techniques for measuring P versus E parameters in natural sea-water samples are developed: fast-repetition-ratefluorometer (FRRF), the-pump-and-probe-fluorometer (PPF) and the pulse-amplitudemodulated-fluorometer (PAM) (for further details *see*: Falkowski and Kolber 1993, Schreiber et al. 1995). When these techniques, which are fast and non-destructive, will be proven to be robust, and can be mounted on an undulating platform or towed instrument (e.g. SeaSoar), both vertical and horizontal profiling will be possible. Then, a great step towards filling the gaps in our knowledge of the distribution of the P versus E parameters in nature can be made. In addition, also sensors spectrally resolving the underwater light field including UVR should be mounted on an platform or a towed instrument.

#### 5. REFERENCES

Abele-Oeschger D, Tüg H, Röttgers R (1997) Dynamics of UV-driven hydrogen peroxide formation on an intertidal sandflat. Limnol Oceanogr 42(6): 1406-1415

Allanson BR, Hart RC, Lutjeharms JRE (1981) Observations on the nutrients, chlorophyll and primary produciton of the Southern Ocean south of Africa. S Afr J Ant Res 10(11): 3-13

Anderson JG, Toohey DW, Brune WH (1991) Free radicals within the Antarctic vortex: the role of CFCs in Antarctic ozone loss. Science 251: 39-46

Atlas D, Bannister TT (1980) Dependance of mean spectral extinction coefficient of phytoplankton on depth, water color, and species. Limnol Oceanogr 25(1): 157-159

Austin RW (1980) Gulf of Mexico, ocean-colour surface-truth analysis. Boundary-Layer Meteorol 18: 269-285

Bainbridge AE (1980) GEOSECS Atlantic expedition. V. 2. Sections and Profiles. U.S. GPO

Bakker DCE, de Baar HJW, Bathmann UV (1997) Changes of carbon dioxide in surface waters during spring in the Southern Ocean. Deep Sea Res II 44: 91-127

Bannister TT (1974) Production equations in terms of chlorophyll concentration, quantum yield, and upper limit production. Limnol Oceanogr 19(1): 1-12

Bannister TT, Weidemann AD (1984) The maximum quantum yield of phytoplankton photosynthesis *in situ*. J Plankton Res 6(2): 275-294

Bathmann UV, Scharek R, Klaas C, Dubischar CD, Smetacek VS (1997) Spring development of phytoplankton biomass and composition in major water masses of the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Deep Sea Res II 44(1-2): 51-67

Behrenfeld MJ, Falkowski PG (1997) Photosynthetic rates derived from satellite-based chlorophyll concentrations. Limnol Oceanogr 42(1): 1-20

Berger WH, Smetacek VS, Wefer G (1989) Productivity of the Ocean: past and present. John Wiley & Sons, New York

Berner T, Dubinsky Z, Wyman K, Falkowski PG (1989) Photoadaptation and the "package effect" in *Dunaniella tertiolecta* (Chlorophyceae). J Phycol 25,: 70-78

Berthon J-F, Morel A (1992) Validation of a spectral light-photosynthesis model and use of the model in conjunction with remotely sensed pigment observations. Limnol Oceanogr 37(4): 781-796

Bianchi F, Boldrin A, Coice F, Dickmann G, Kuosa H, Larsson A-M, Nöthig E-M, Sehlstedt PL, Socal G, Syvertsen EE (1992) Phytoplankton distribution in relation to sea

ice, hydrography and nutrients in the northwestern Weddell Sea in early spring 1988 during EPOS. Polar Biol 12: 225-235

Bidigare RR, Frank TJ, Zastrow C, Brooks JM (1986) The distribution of chlorophylls and their degradation products in the Southern Ocean. Deep Sea Res 33(7): 923-937

Bidigare RR, Prezelin BB, Smith RC (1992) Bio-optical models and the problem of scaling. In: Falkowski PG, Woodhead AD (eds) Primary productivity and biogeochemical cycling in the sea. Plenum Press, New York, p 175-212

Bishop JKB, Rossow WB (1991) Spatial and temporal variability of global surface solar irradiance. J Geophys Res 96(C9): 16839-16858

Booth CR, Madronich S (1994) Radiation amplification factors- improved formulation accounts for large increases in ultraviolet radiation associated with Antarctic ozone depletion. Antarct Res Ser 62: 39-42

Boucher NP, Prezelin BB (1996) An *in situ* biological weighing function for UV inhibition of phytoplankton carbon fixation in the Southern Ocean. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 144: 223-236

Bracher AU, Kroon BMA, Lucas MI (1999) Primary production, physiological state and composition of phytoplankton in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Mar Ecol Prog Ser: in press

Bracher AU, Tilzer MM (1999) Underwater light field and phytoplankton absorbance in different zones of the Southern Ocean during early summer 1995/1996. Deep Sea Res II: accepted

Bracher AU, Wiencke C (1999) Simulation of naturally enhanced UV-radiation on photosynthesis of Antarctic phytoplankton. Mar Ecol Prog Ser: in press

Bricaud A, Stramski D (1990) Spectral absorption coefficients of living phytoplankton and nonalgal biogenous matter: A comparison between the Peru upwelling area and the Sargasso Sea. Limnol Oceanogr 35(3): 562-582

Buma AGJ, de Baar HJW, Nolting RF, van Bennekom AJ (1991) Metal enrichment experiments in the Weddell-Scotia seas: Effects of iron and manganese on various plankton communities. Limnol Oceanogr 36: 1865-1878

Burton GW, Ingold KU (1984) ß-Carotene: an unusual type of lipid antioxidant. Science 224: 569-573

Caldwell MM (1981) Plant responses to solar ultraviolet radiation. In: Lange OL, Nobel PS, Osmond CB, Ziegler H (eds) Encyclopedia of plant physiology. Vol. 1. Springer Verlag, New York, p 169-197

Callot HJ (1991) Geochemistry of chlorophylls. In: Scheer H (ed) Chlorophylls. CRC Press, Ann Arbor, p 340-364

Carder KL, Lee ZP, Marra J, Steward RG, Perry MJ (1995) Calculated quantum yield of photosynthesis of phytoplankton in the marine light-mixed layers (59°N, 21°W). J Geophys Res 100(C4): 6655-6663

Carreto JI, Carignan MO, Daleo G, de Marco SG (1990) Occurence of mycosporine-like amino acids in the red-tide dinoflagellate *Alexandrium excavatum*: UV-photoprotective compounds? J Plankton Res 12(5): 909-921

Charlson RJ, Lovelock JE, Andreae MO, Warren SG (1987) Oceanic phytoplankton, atmospheric sulphur, cloud albedo and climate. Nature 326: 655-661

Chisholm SW, Morel FMM (eds) (1991) What controls phytoplankton productivity in nutrient-rich areas of the open sea? Limnol Oceanogr 36(8): 1507-1970

Cleveland JS, Perry MJ, Kiefer DA, Talbot MC (1989) Maximal quantum yield of photosynthesis in northwestern Sargasso Sea. J Mar Res 47: 869-886

Cleveland JS, Weidemann AD (1993) Quantifying absorption by aquatic particles: A multiple scattering correction for glass-fiber filters. Limnol Oceanogr 38(6): 1321-1327

Codispoti LA, Friedrich GE, Iverson RL, Hood DW (1982) Temporal changes in the inorganic carbon system of the south-eastern Bering Sea during spring 1980. Nature 296: 242-245

Comiso JC, Maynard NG, Smith WO, Sullivan CW (1990) Sattelite ocean colour studies of Antarctic ice edges in the summer/autumn. J Geophys Res 95: 9481-9496

Coohill TP (1989) Ultraviolet action spectra (280-329 nm) and solar effectiveness spectra for higher plants. Photochem Photobiol 50(4): 451-457

Cota GF, Smith WO, Nelson DM, Muench RD, Gordon LI (1992) Nutrient and biogenic particulate distributions, primary production and nitrogen uptake in the Weddell-Scotia Sea marginal ice-zone during winter. J Mar Res 50: 155-181

Crawford RM (1995) The role of sex in the sedimentation of a diatom bloom. Limnol Oceanogr 40: 200-204

Crutzen PJ (1992) Ultraviolet on the increase. Nature 356: 104-105

Cullen JJ (1982) The deep chlorophyll maximum: Comparing profiles of chlorophyll *a*. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 39: 791-803

Cullen JJ (1991) Hypothesis to explain high-nutrient, low-chlorophyll conditions in the open sea. Limnol Oceanogr 36(8): 1578-1599

Cullen JJ, Lesser MP (1991) Inhibition of photosynthesis by ultraviolet radiation as a function of dose and dosage rate: results from a marine diatom. Mar Biol 111: 183-190

Cullen JJ, Neale PJ, Lesser MP (1992) Biological weighting function for the inhibition of phytoplankton photosynthesis by ultraviolet radiation. Science 258: 646-650

Davidson AT, Marchant HJ (1994) The impact of ultraviolet radiation on *Phaeocystis* and selected species of Antarctic marine diatoms. Antarct Res Ser 62: 187-205

Davidson AT, Marchant HJ, de la Mare WK (1996) Natural UVB exposure changes the species composition of Antarctic phytoplankton in mixed culture. Aquat Micro Ecol 10: 299-305

de Angelis M, Barkow NI, Petrov VN (1987) Aerosol concentrations over the last climatic cycle (160 kyr) from Antarctic ice core. Nature 325: 318-321

de Baar HJW, Buma AGJ, Nolting RF, Cadee GC, Jacques G, Treguer PJ (1990) On iron limitation of the Southern Ocean: experimental observations in the Weddell and Scotia Seas. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 65: 105-122

de Baar HJW, de Jong JTM, Bakker DCE, Löscher BM, Veth C, Bathmann U, Smetacek V (1995) Importance of iron for plankon blooms and carbon dioxide drawdown in the Southern Ocean. Nature 373: 412-415

de Jong JTM, den Das J, Timmermans KR, de Baar HJW (1997) Field distribution of iron in a section of the Antarctic Polar Frontal Zone. Rep Polar Res 221: 53-61

Dring MJ, Jewson DH (1982) What does <sup>14</sup>C uptake by phytoplankton really measure? A theoretical modelling approach. Proc R Soc Lond B 214: 351-368

Dubinsky Z (1992) The functional and optical absorption cross-sections of phytoplankton photosynthesis. In: Falkowski PG, and Woodhead AD (eds) Primary productivity and biogeochemical cycles in the sea. Springer Verlag, New York, p 31-45

Dubinsky Z, Falkowski PG, Wyman K. (1986) Light harvesting and utilization by phytoplankton. Plant Cell Physiol Tokyo 27 1335-1349

Dubischar CD, Bathmann UV (1997) Grazing impact of copepods and salps on phytoplankton in the Antarctic sector of the Southern Ocean. Deep Sea Res II 42: 415-433

Dubischar CD, Bathmann UV (1998) Small sized mesozooplankton in pelagic systems of the polar frontal region in the Southern Ocean. EOS (Trans Am Geophys Union) 79(1): 89

Duce RA (1986) The impact of atmospheric nitrogen, phosphorus and iron species on marine biological productivity. In: Buat-Menard P (ed) The role of air-sea exchange in geochemical cycling. Reidel, p 497-525

El-Sayed SZ (1978) Primary productivity and estimates of potential yields of the Southern Ocean. In: McWhinnie MA (ed) Polar research: to the present and the future. p 141-160

El-Sayed SZ (1984) Productivity of the Antarctic waters- a reappraisal. In: Holm-Hansen O, Bolis L, Gilles R (eds) Marine phytoplankton and productivity. Springer 359, New York, p 19-34

El-Sayed SZ, Stephens FC, Bidigare RR, Ondrusek ME (1990) Effect of ultraviolet radiation on Antarctic marine phytoplankton. In: Kerry KR, Hempel G (eds) Antarctic Ecosystems. Ecological Change and Conservation. Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, p 379-385

El-Sayed SZ, Taguchi S (1981) Primary production and standing crop of phytoplankton along the ice-edge in the Weddell Sea. Deep Sea Res 28: 1017-1032

El-Sayed SZ, Weber LH (1985) Size-fractionation of Antarctic phytoplankton. Antarc J U S 20: 141-143

Eppley RW (1972) Temperature and phytoplankton growth in the sea. Fish Bull 70: 1063-1085

Eppley RW, Stewart E, Abbott MR, Heymann U (1985) Estimating ocean primary production from satellite chlorophyll. Introduction to regional differences and statistics for the Southern California Bight. J Plankton Res 7(1): 57-70

Escoubas J-M, Lomas M, LaRoche J, Falkowski PG (1995) Light intensity regulation of *cab* gene transcription is signaled by the redox state of the plastoquinone pool. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 10237-10241

Fahrbach E (1995) Die Polarmeere- ein Überblick. In: Hempel I, Hempel G (eds) Biologie der Polarmeere. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena, p 24-44

Falkowski PG (1981) Light-shade adaptation and assimilation numbers. J Plankton Res 3: 203-216

Falkowski PG (1983) Light-shade adaptation and vertical mixing of marine phytoplankton: A comparative field study. J Mar Res 41: 215-237

Falkowski PG (1995) Ironing out what controls primary production in the nutrient rich waters of the open sea. Global Change Biol 1: 161-163

Falkowski PG, Kolber Z (1993) Estimation of phytoplankton photosynthesis by active fluorescence. ICES Mar Sci Symp 197: 92-103

Falkowski PG, Owens TG, Ley AC, Mauzerall DC (1981) Effects of growth irradiance levels on the ratio of reaction centers in two species of marine phytoplankton. Plant Physiol 68: 969-975

Falkowski PG, Woodhead AD (eds) (1992) Primary productivity and biogeochemical cycles in the sea. Springer Verlag, New York

Fasham MJR, Ducklow HW, McKelvie SM (1990) A nitrogen-based model of plankton dynamics in the oceanic mixed layer. J Mar Res 48(3): 591-639

Fenton N, Priddle J, Tett P (1994) Variations in bio-optical properties of the surface waters in the Southern Ocean. Antarct Science 6(4): 443-448

Francois R, Altabet MA, Ein-Fen Y, Sigman DM, Bacon MP, Frank M, Bohrmann G, Bareille G, Labeyrie LD (1997) Contribution of Southern Ocean surface-water stratification to low atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentrations during the last glacial period. Nature 389: 929-935

Franks PJS (1992) Sink or swim: accumulation of biomass at fronts. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 82: 1-12

Fryxell GA (1989) Marine phytoplankton at the Weddell Sea ice edge: seasonal changes at the specific level. Polar Biol 10: 1-18

Fukuchi M, Tamura S (1982) Chlorophyll *a* distribution in the Indian sector of the Antarctic Ocean in 1978-1979. Antarctic Rec 74: 143-162

Garcia-Pichel F (1994) A model for internal self-shading in planktonic organisms and its implications for the usefulness of ultraviolet sunscreens. Limnol Oceanogr 39(7): 1704-1717

Garrison DL, Buck KR, Fryxell GA (1987) Algal assemblages in Antarctic pack ice and in ice-edge plankton. J Phycol 23: 564-572

Geider RJ, LaRoche J (1994) The role of iron in phytoplankton photosynthesis, and the potential for iron-limitation of primary productivity in the sea. Photosynth Res 39: 275-301

Gille ST, Kelly KA (1996) Scales of spatial and temporal variability in the Southern Ocean. J Geophys Res 101(C4): 8759-8773

Glover HE, Keller MD, Spinrad RW (1987) The effects of light quality and intensity on photosynthesis and growth of marine eukaryotic and prokaryotic phytoplankton clones. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 105: 137-159

Gordon HR, Clark DK, Brown JW, Brown OB, Evans RH, Broenkow WW (1983) Phytoplankton pigment concentrations in the Middle Atlantic Bight: Comparison of ship determinations and CZCS estimates. Appl Optics 22: 20-36

Greenberg BM, Gaba V, Canaani O, Malkin S, Mattoo AK, Edelman M (1989) Separate photosynthesizers mediate degradation of the 32-kDa photosystem II reaction center protein in the visible and UV spectral regions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86: 6617-6620

Häder D-P, Worrest RC (1991) Effects of enhanced solar ultra-violet radiation on aquatic ecosystems. Photochem Photobiol: 717-725

Häse C (1996) Die Vorhersage der Produktivität des Phytoplankton im Bodensee unter der Berücksichtigung der Temperatur sowie der spektralen Zusammensetzung des Unterwasser-Strahlungsfeldes. Hartung-Gore Verlag, Konstanz, p 1-182

Hanelt D (1996) Photoinhibition of photosynthesis in marine macroalgae. Sci Mar 60: 243-248

Hanelt D, Huppertz K, Nultsch W (1992) Photoinhibition of photosynthesis and its recovery in red algae. Bot Acta 105: 278-284

Harris GP, Picinin BB (1977) Photosynthesis by natural phytoplankton populations. Arch Hydrobiol 80: 405-457

Hart TJ (1934) On the phytoplankton of the south-west Atlantic and the Bellinghausen Sea, 1929-1931. Discovery Rep 8: 1-268

Hart TJ (1942) Phytoplankton periodicity in Antarctic surface water. Discovery Rep 21: 263-354

Hayes PK, Whitaker TM, Fogg GE (1984) The distribution and nutrient status of phytoplankton in the Southern Ocean between 20° and 70°W. Polar Biol 3: 153-165

Heese B (1996) Investigations of contributions by chemical and dynamical processes to the variability of stratospheric ozone above the Arctic. Rep Polar Res 196: 1-91

Helbling EW, Chalker BE, Dunlap WC, Holm-Hansen O, Villafane VE (1996) Photoacclimation of Antarctic marine diatoms to solar ultraviolet radiation. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 204: 85-101

Helbing EW, Villafane V, Ferrario M, Holm-Hansen O (1992) Impact of natural ultraviolet radiation on rates of photosynthesis and on specific marine phytoplankton species. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 80: 89-100

Helbling EW, Villafane V, Holm-Hansen O (1994) Effects of ultraviolet radiation on antarctic marine phytoplankton photosynthesis with particular attention to the influence of mixing. Antarct Res Ser 62: 207-227

Hempel G (1985) Antarctic Marine Food Webs. In: Siegfried WR, Condy PR, Laws RM (eds) Antarctic nutrient cycles and food webs. Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, p 266-270

Hense I, Bathmann UV, Hartmann C (1998) Spiny phytoplankton- slowing down the carbon pump in the Southern Ocean? EOS (Trans Am Geophys Union) 79(1) 89

Heywood RB, Priddle J (1987) Retention of phytoplankton by an eddy. Continental Shelf Research 7: 937-955

Hofmann DJ, Deshler T (1991) Evidence from balloon measurements for chemical depletion of stratospheric ozone in the Arctic winter 1989-90. Nature 349: 100-105

Holm-Hansen O, El-Sayed SZ, Frances-Chini GA, Cuhel RL (1977) Primary production and the factors controlling phytoplankton growth in the Southern Ocean. In: Adaptations within the Antarctic ecosystem. SCAR Symp Antarct Biol, Proc 3<sup>rd</sup>, p 11-50

Holm-Hansen O, Mitchell BG (1991) Spatial and temporal distribution of phytoplankton and primary production in the western Bransfield Strait region. Deep Sea Res 38(8-9): 961-980

Holm-Hansen O, Vernet M (1990) RACER: Phytoplankton distribution and rates of primary production during the austral spring bloom. Antarct J US 25: 135-136

Houghton JT, Meira Filho LG, Callander BA, Harris N, Kattenberg A, Maskell K (1996) Climate Change 1995. The science of climate change- Contribution of WGI to the second assessment report of the Intergovermental Panel on climate change. University Press, Cambridge, UK

Jacques G (1989) Primary production in the Antarctic Ocean during the austral summer. A review. Vie Milieu 39(1): 1-17

Jacques G (1983) Some ecophysiological aspects of the Antarctic phytoplankton. Polar Biol 2: 27-33

Jacques G, Panouse M (1991) Biomass and composition of size fractionated phytoplankton in the Weddell-Scotia Confluence area. Polar Biol 11: 315-328

Jochem FR, Mathot S, Queguiner B (1995) Size-fractionated primary production in the open Southern Ocean in austral spring. Polar Biol 15: 381-392

Johnsen G (1994) Light harvesting and utilization in marine phytoplankton: speciesspecific and photoadaptive responses. University Trondheim, Trondheim, p 1-46

Johnsen G, Sakshaug E (1993) Bio-optical characteristics and photoadaptive responses in the toxic and bloom-forming dinoflagellates *Gyrodinium aureolum*, *Gymnodinium galatheanum*, and two strains of *Prorocentrum minimum*. J Phycol 29: 627-642

Johnsen G, Samset O, Granskog L, Sakshaug E (1994) *In vivo* absorption characteristics in 10 classes of bloom-forming phytoplankton: taxonomic characteristics and responses to photoadaptation by means of discriminant and HPLC analysis. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 105: 149-157

Jokiel PL, York RH (1984) Importance of ultraviolet radiation in photoinhibiton of microalgal growth. Limnol Oceanogr 29: 192-199

Jones LW, Kok B (1966) Photoinhibition of chloroplast reactions. Plant Physiol 41: 1037-1043

Kanda H, Fukuchi M (1979) Surface chlorophyll *a* concentration along the course of the Fuji to and from Antarctica in 1977-1978. Antarct Rec 66: 37-49

Karentz D (1994) Ultraviolet tolerance mechanisms in Antarctic marine organisms. Antarct Res Ser 62: 93-110

Karentz D, Cleaver JE, Mitchell DL (1991a) Cell survival characteristics and molecular responses of Anarctic phytoplankton to ultraviolet-B radiation. J Phycol 27: 326-341

Karentz K, Mc Euen FS, Land MC, Dunlap WC. (1991b). Survey of mycosporine-like amino acid compounds in Antarctic marine organisms: potential protection from ultraviolet exposure. Mar Biol, 108, 157-166

Karsten G (1905) Das Phytoplankton des Antarktischen Meeres nach dem Material der deutschen Tiefseee- Expedition 1898-1899. Vol 2, Fischer Verlag, Jena, p 1-136

Kirk JTO (1994a) Light and photosynthesis in aquatic ecosystems. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, Cambridge University Press, London

Kirk JTO (1994b) Optics of UV-B radiation in natural waters. Arch Hydrobiol Beih Ergebn Limnol 43: 1-16

Kishino M, Takahashi M, Okami N, Ichimura S (1985) Estimation of the spectral absorption coefficients of phytoplankton in the sea. Bul Mar Sci 37(2): 634-642

Koike I, Holm-Hansen O, Biggs DC (1986) Inorganic nitrogen metabolism by Antarctic phytoplankton with special reference to ammonium cycling. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 30: 105-116

Kok B (1960) Efficiency of photosynthesis. In: Ruhland W (ed) Handbuch der Pflanzenphysiologie. Vol. 5(1), Springer Verlag, New York, p 563-633

Krause GH, Weis E (1991) Chlorophyll fluorescence and photosynthesis: the basics. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 42: 313-349

Lancelot C, Mathot S, Veth C, de Baar H (1993) Factors controlling phytoplankton iceedge blooms in the marginal ice zone of the Northwestern Weddell Sea during sea-ice retreat 1988 - field observations and mathematical modelling. Polar Biol 13: 377-387

Laubscher RK, Perrissinotto R, McQuaid CD (1993) Phytoplankton production and biomass at frontal zones in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Polar Biol 13: 471-481

Legendre L (1985) Hydrodynamic control of marine phytoplankton production: the paradox of stability. In: Nihoul JCJ (ed) Marine interface ecohydrodynamics. Elsevier Oceanography Series, p 191-207

Lehmann JT (1991) Interacting growth and loss rates: the balance of top-down and bottom-up controlls in plankton communities. Limnol Oceanogr 36(8): 1546-1554

Lesser MP, Cullen JJ, Neale PJ (1994) Carbon uptake in a marine diatom during acute exposure to ultraviolet-B radiation: relative importance of damage and repair. J Phycol 30: 183-192

Lesser MP, Neale PJ, Cullen JJ (1996) Acclimation of Antarctic phytoplankton to ultraviolet radiation: ultraviolet-compounds and carbon fixation. Mol Mar Biol Biotechn 5(4): 314-325

Lewis MR (1992) Sattelite ocean color observations of global biogeochemical cycles. In: Falkowski PG, Woodhead AD (eds) Primary productivity and biogeochemical cycles in the sea. Plenum Press, New York, p 139-154 Lewis MR, Warnock RE, Platt T (1985) Absorption and photosynthetic action spectra for natural phytoplankton populations: Implications for production in the open ocean. Limnol Oceanogr 30(4): 794-806

Lizotte MP, Priscu JC (1994) Natural fluorescence and quantum yields in vertically stationary phytoplankton from perennially ice-covered lakes. Limnol Oceanogr 39(6): 1399-1410

Löscher BM, De Baar HJW, De Jong JTM, Veth C, Dehars F (1997) The distribution of Fe in the Antarctic Circumpolar Current. Deep Sea Research II 44(1-2): 143-187

Long SP, Humphries S, Falkowski PG (1994) Photoinhibition of photosynthesis in nature. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 45: 633-662

Longhurst A (1991) Role of the marine biosphere in the global carbon cycle. Limnol Oceanogr 36: 1507-1526

Longhurst A, Sathyendranath S, Platt T, Caverhill C (1995) An estimate of global primary production in the ocean from satellite radiometer data. J Plank Res 17(6): 1245-1271

Lovelock JE (1979). Gaia, new look at life on Earth. Oxford University Press

Lubimova TG (1983) Ecological basis of exploitation of Antarctic krill. Natl Inst Polar Res 27: 211-219

Lutjeharms JRE, Foldvik A (1986) The thermal structure of the upper ocean layers between Africa and Antarctica during the period December 1978 to March 1979. S Afr J Antarct Res 16(1): 13-20

Lutjeharms JRE, Walters NM, Allanson BR (1985) Oceanic frontal systems and biological enhancement. In: Siegfried WR, Condy PR, Laws RM (eds) Antarctic nutrients cycles and food webs. Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, p 11-21

Lutz VA, Sathyendranath S, Head EJH (1996) Absorption coefficient of phytoplankton: regional variations in the North Atlantic. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 135: 197-213

Marra JH (1978) Phytoplankton photosynthetic response to vertical movement in a mixed layer. Mar Biol 46: 203-208

Martin JH (1990) Glacial-Interglacial CO<sub>2</sub> change: the iron hypothesis. Paleoceanography 5(1): 1-13

Martin JH, Fitzwater SE (1988) Iron deficiency limits phytoplankton growth in the north-east Pacific subarctic. Nature 331: 341-343

Martin JH, Fitzwater SE, Gordon RM. (1990a): Iron deficiency limits phytoplankton growth in the Antarctic waters. Global Biogechem Cycles 4(1): 5-12

Martin JH, Gordon RM, Fitzwater SE, Broenkow WW (1989) VERTEX: phytoplankton / iron studies in the Gulf of Alaska. Deep Sea Res 35: 649-680

Martin JH, Gordon RM, Fitzwater SE (1990b) Iron in Antarctic waters. Nature, 345, 156-158

Megard RO, Combs WS, Smith PD, Knoll AS (1979) Attenuation of light and daily integrated rates of photosynthesis attained by planktonic algae. Limnol Oceanogr 24: 1038-1050

Mitchell BG (1992) Predictive bio-optical relationships for polar oceans and marginal ice zones. J Mar Sys 3: 91-105

Mitchell BG, Brody EA, Holm-Hansen O, McClain C, Bishop JKB (1991) Light limitation of phytoplankton biomass and macronutrient utilization in the Southern Ocean. Limnol Oceanogr 36(8): 1662-1677

Mitchell BG, Holm-Hansen O (1991a) Bio-optical properties of Antarctic Peninsula waters: differentation from temperate ocean models. Deep Sea Res 38(8-9): 1009-1028

Mitchell BG, Holm-Hansen O (1991b) Observations and modeling of the Antarctic phytoplankton crop in relation to mixing depth. Deep Sea Res 38(8-9): 981-1007

Mitchell BG, Kiefer D (1988) Chlorophyll a specific absorption and fluorescence excitation spectra for light-limited phytoplankton. Deep Sea Res 35(6): 639-663

Morel A (1978) Available, usable and stored radiant energy in relation to marine photosynthesis. Deep Sea Res 25: 673-688

Morel A (1988) Optical modeling of the upper ocean in relation to its biogenous matter content (case I waters). J Geosphys Res 93(C9): 10749-10768

Morel A, Andre J-M (1991) Pigment distribution and primary production in the Western Mediterranean as derived and modeled from Coastal Zone Color Scanner observations. J Geophys Res 96(C7): 12685-12698

Morel A, Berthon J-F (1989) Surface pigments, algal biomass profiles, and potential production of the euphotic layer: relationships reinvestigated in view of remote-sensing application. Limnol Oceanogr 34(8): 1545-1562

Morel A, Bricaud A (1986) Inherent properties of algal cells including picoplankton: Theoretical and experimental results. Can Bull Fish Aquat Sci 214: 521-559

Morel A, Lazzara L, Gostan J (1987) Growth rate and quantum yield time response for a diatom to changing irradiances (energy and colour). Limnol Oceanogr 32: 1066-1084

Morel A, Prieur L (1977) Analysis of variations in ocean color. Limnol Oceanogr 22(4): 709-722

Morris I (1980) Photosynthetic products, physiological state, and phytoplankton growth. In: The physiological ecology of phytoplankton. Blackwell Science Publication, Berkeley, p 83-102 Neale PJ (1987) Algal photoinhibition and photosynthesis in the aquatic environment. In: Kyle DJ, Osmond CB, Arntzen CJ (eds) Photoinhibiton. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 36-65

Neale PJ, Davis RF, Cullen JJ (1998) Interactive effects of ozone depletion and vertical mixing on photosynthesis of Antarctic phytoplankton. Nature 392: 585-589

Neale PJ, Lesser MP, Cullen JJ (1992) Detecting UV-induced inhibition of photosynthesis in Antarctic phytoplankton. Antarct J: 122-124

Nelson DM, Gordon LI, Huber BA (1987) Spring distribution of density, nutrients and phytoplankton biomass in theice-edge zone of the Weddell / Scotia Sea. J Geophys Res 92: 7181-7190

Nelson DM, Smith WO (1991) Sverdrup revisited: critical depths, maximum chlorophyll levels, and the control of Southern Ocean productivity by the irradiancemixing regime. Limnol Oceanogr 36: 1650-1661

Neori A, Holm-Hansen O (1982) Effect of temperature on rate of photosynthesis in Antarctic phytoplankton. Polar Biol 1: 33-38

Nöthig E-M (1988) Untersuchungen zur Ökologie des Phytoplanktons im südlichen Weddellmeer im Januar/Februar 1985 (Antarktis). Rep Polar Res 53: 1-118

Orsi AH, Whitworth III T, Nowlin Jr WD (1995) On the meridional extent and fronts of the Antarctic circmpolar current. Deep Sea Res 42: 641-673

Osmond CB (1994) What is photoinhibition? Some insights from comparisons of shade and sun plants. In: Baker NR, Bowyer NR (eds) Photoinhibition of photosynthesis, from the molecular mechanisms to the field. BIOS Scientific Publ Oxford, Oxford, p 1-24

Palmisano AC, SooHoo JB, Moe RM, Sullivan CW (1987) Sea ice microbial communities. VII. Changes in under-ice spectral irradiance during the development of Antarctic sea ice microalgal communities. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 35: 165-173

Palmisano AC, SooHoo JB, SooHoo SL, Kottmeier ST, Craft LL, Sullivan CW (1986) Photoadaptation in *Phaeocystis pouchetii* advected beneath annual sea-ice in McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. J Plankton Res 8: 891-906

Peng TH, Freyer HD (1987) Revised estimates of the atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> variations based on the tree-ring. Tellus B39: 439

Perissinotto R, Duncombe Rae CM, Boden BP, Allanson BR (1990) Vertical stability as a controlling factor of the marine phytoplankton production at the Prince Edward Archipelago (Southern Ocean). Mar Ecol Prog Ser 60: 205-209

Platt T, Gallegos CL, Harrison WG (1980) Photoinhibition of photosynthesis in natural assemblages of marine phytoplankton. J Mar Res 38(4): 687-701

Platt T, Sathyendranath S (1988) Oceanic primary production: estimation by remote sensing at local and regional scales. Science 241: 1613-1620

Pollard RT, Read JF, Allen JT, Griffiths G, Morrison AI (1995) On the physical structure of a front in the Bellinghausen Sea. Deep Sea Res II 42 (4-5): 955-982

Prezelin BB (1992) Diel periodicity in phytoplankton productivity. In: Berman T, Gons HJ, Mur LR (eds) The daily growth cycle of phytoplankton. Kluver Academic Publ, Belgium, p I-35

Prezelin BB, Boucher NP, Schofield O (1994b) Evaluation of field studies of UVB radiation effects on Antarctic marine primary production. In: Biggs RH, Joyner MEB (ed) A NATO advanced workshop:Stratospheric Ozone depletion / UV-B radiation in the biosphere. Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, p 181-194

Prezelin BB, Boucher NP, Smith RC (1994a) Marine primary production under the influence of the Antarctic ozone hole: Icecolors '90. Antarct Res Ser 62: 159-186

Prezelin BB, Tilzer MM, Schofield O, Haese C (1991) The control of the production process of phytoplankton by the physical structure of the aquatic environment with special reference to its optical properties. Aquatic Sci 53: 136-186

Priddle J, Boyd IL, WhitehouseMJ, Murphy EJ, Croxall JP (1996) Estimates of Southern Ocean primary production- constraints from predator carbon demand and nutrient drawdown. J Mar Sys 5(11): 1473-1504

Riegger L, Robinson D (1997) Photoinduction of UV-absorbing compounds in Antarctic diatoms and *Phaeocystis antarctica*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 160: 13-25

Rivkin RB, Putt M (1988) Seasonal pattern of diel periodicity in photosynthesis by polar phytoplankton: species-specific responses. J Phycol 24: 369-376

Robertson JE, Watson AJ (1995) A summer-time sink for atmospheric carbon dioxide in the Southern Ocean between 88°W and 80°E. Deep Sea Res II 42: 1081-1091

Roessler CS, Perry MJ, Carder KL (1989) Modeling *in situ* phytoplankton absorption from total absorption spectra in productive inland marine waters. Limnol Oceanogr 34(8): 1510-1523

Roettgers R (1998) Photosynthesis of natural Antarctic phytoplankton under simulated solar irradiance, including effects of enhanced UV-B radiation. EOS (Trans Am Geophys Union) 79(1): 29

Rowan KS (1989) Photosynthetic pigments in algae. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge

Rundel RD (1983) Action spectra and estimation of biologically effective UV radiation. Physiol Plant 58: 360-366

Sakshaug E, Bricaud A, Dandonneau Y, Falkowski PG, Kiefer DA, Legendre L, Morel A, Parslow J, Takahashi M (1997) Parameters of photosynthesis: definitions, theory and interpretation of results. J Plankton Res 19(11): 1637-1670

Sakshaug E, Holm-Hansen O (1984). Factors governing production in polar oceans. In: Holm-Hansen O, Bolis L, Gilles R (eds) Marine phytoplankton and productivity. Springer Verlag, New York, p 1-18

Sakshaug E, Holm-Hansen O (1986) Photoadaptation in Antarctic phytoplankton: variations in growth rate, chemical composition and P versus I curves. J Plankton Res 8: 459-473

Sakshaug E, Johnsen G, Andresen K, Vernet M (1991) Modeling of light-dependent algal photosynthesis and growth: experiments with the Barents Sea diatoms *Thalassiosira nordenskioeldii* and *Chaetoceros furcellatus*. Deep Sea Res 38(4): 415-430

Sakshaug E, Slagstad D (1991) Light and productivity of phytoplankton in polar marine ecosystems. Polar Res 10: 69-85

Sarmiento JL, Siegenthaler U (1992) New production and the global carbon cycle. Falkowski PG, and Woodhead AD (eds) Primary productivity and biogeochemical cycles. Plenum Press, New York, p 317-332

Sarmiento JL, Toggweiler JR (1984) A new model for the role of the oceans determining atmospheric  $pCO_2$ . Nature 308: 621

Sarmiento JL, Toggweiler JR, Najjar R (1988) Ocean carbon-cycle dynamics and atmospheric pCO<sub>2</sub>. In: Charnock H, Lovelock JE, Liss PS, Whitfield M (eds) Tracers in the ocean, London, p 3-21

Sasaki H (1984) Distribution of nano- and microplankton in the Indian sector of the Southern Ocean. Mem Natl Inst Polar Res Spec Issue 32: 38-50

Sathyendranth S, Gouveia AD, Shetya SR, Ravindran P, Platt T (1991) Biological control of surface temperature in the Arabian Sea. Nature 349: 54-56

Sathyendranath S, Longhurst A, Caverhill CM, Platt T (1995) Regionally and seasonally differentiated primary production in the North Atlantic. Deep Sea Res I 42(10): 1773-1802

Sathyendranath S, Morel A (1983) Light emerging from the sea- interpretation and uses in remote sensing. In: Cracknell AP (ed) Remote sensing applications in marine science and technology. D Reidel Publishing Company, Dordrecht, p 323-357

Sathyendranath S, Platt T (1993) Remote sensing of water-column primary production. In: Li WKW, Maestrini SY (eds) Measurements of primary production from the molecular to the global scale. ICES Mar Sci Symp, 197, Copenhagen, p 236-243

Sathyendranath S, Platt T, Caverhill CM, Warnock RE, Lewis MR (1989) Remote sensing of oceanic primary production: computations using a spectral model. Deep Sea Res 36(3): 431-453

Sathyendranath S, Platt T, Irwin BD, Veldhuis MJW, Kraay GW, Harrison WG (1996) Some bio-optical characteristics of phytoplankton in the NW Indian Ocean. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 132: 299-311

Savidge G, Harbour D, Gilpin LC, Boyd PW (1995) Phytoplankton distribution and production in the Bellinghausen Sea, austral spring 1992. Deep Sea Res II 42(4-5): 1201-1224

Savidge G, Priddle J, Gilpin LC, Bathmann U, Murphy EJ, Owens NJP, Pollard RT, Turner DR, Veth C, Boyd P (1996) An Assessment of the role of the marginal ice zone in the carbon cycle of the Southern Ocean. Antarctic Sci 8(4): 349-358

Scharek R, van Leeuwe MA, de Baar HJW (1997) Responses of Southern Ocean phytoplankton to the addition of trace metals. Deep Sea Res II 44(1-2): 209-227

Scheer H (1991) Chlorophylls. CRC Press, Ann Arbor, p 1-1257

Schofield O, Prezelin BB, Bidigare RR, Smith RC (1993) *In situ* photosynthetic quantum yield. Correspondence to hydrographic and optical variability within the Southern California bight. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 93: 25-37

Schofield O, Prezelin BB, Johnson G (1996) Wavelength dependency of the maximum quantum yield of carbon fixation for two red tide dinoflagellates, *Heterocapsa pygmaea* and *Prorocentrum minimum* (Pyrrophyta): implications for measuring photosynthetic rates. J Phycol 32: 574-583

Schofield O, Prezelin BB, Smith RC, Stegmann PM, Nelson NB, Lewis M, Baker KS (1991) Variability in spectral and nonspectral measurements of photosynthetic light utilization efficiencies. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 78: 253-271

Schreiber U, Hormann H, Neubauer C, Klughammer C (1995) Assessment of photosytem II photochemical quantum yield by chlorophyll fluorescence quenching analysis. Aust J Plant Physiol 22: 209-220

Schültke M (1998) Diatomeenverteilung und Biomasse im Bereich der antarktischen Polarfront. Diplomarbeit, Universität Bremen, p 1-58

Shibata H, Baba K, Ochiai H (1991) Near UV radiation induces shock proteins in *Anacystis nidulans*. Plant Cell Physiol 32: 771-776

Siegenthaler U, Sarmiento JL (1993) Atmospheric carbon dioxide and the ocean. Nature 365: 119-125

Sievers HA, Nowlin WD (1988) Upper ocean charcteristics in 'Drake Passage and adjoining areas of the Southern Ocean, 39°W-95°W. In: Sahrhage D (ed) Antarctic Ocean resources and variability. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, p 57-80

Smetacek V, Scharek R, Gordon LI, Eicken H, Fahrbach E, Rohardt G, Moore S (1990) Early spring phytoplankton blooms in ice platelet layers of the southern Weddell Sea, Antarctica. Deep Sea Res 39(2): 153-168 Smetacek VS (1985) Role of sinking in diatom life-history cycles: ecological, evolutionary and geological significance. Mar Biol 84: 239-251

Smith RC (1989) Ozone, middle ultraviolet radiation and the aquatic environment. Photochem Photobiol 50: 459-468

Smith RC, Baker KS (1981) Optical properties of the clearest natural waters 200-800 nm). Appl Opt 20: 177-184

Smith RC, Eppley RW, Baker KS (1982) Correlation of primary production as measured aboard ship in Southern California Coastal waters and as estimated from satellite chlorophyll images. Mar Biol 66: 281-288

Smith RC, Prezelin BB, Baker KS, Bidigare RR, Boucher NP, Coley T, Karentz D, MacIntyre S, Matlick HA, Menzies D, Ondrusek M, Wan Z, Waters KJ (1992) Ozone depletion: ultraviolet radiation and phytoplankton biology in Antarctic waters. Science 255: 952-959

Smith WO, Nelson DM (1985) Phytoplankton biomass near a receding ice-edge in the Ross Sea. In: Siegfried WR, Condy PR, Laws RM (eds) Antarctic nutrient cycles and food webs. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, p 70-77

Smith WO, Nelson DM (1986) The importance of ice-edge blooms in the Southern Ocean. BioScience 36: 251-257

Smith WO, Sakshaug E (1990) Polar phytoplankton. In: Smith WO (ed) Polar oceanography. Part B. Chemistry, biology and geology. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, San Diego, p 477-525

Sommer U (1986) Nitrate- and silicate-competition among Antarctic phytoplankton. Mar Biol 91: 345-351

Sommer U (1989) Maximal growth rates of Antarctic phytoplankton: Only weak dependence on cell size. Limnol Oceanogr 34(6): 1109-1112

Stambler N, Lovengreen C, Tilzer MM (1997) The underwater light field in the Bellinghausen and Amundsen Seas (Antarctica). Hydrobiol 344: 41-56

Stavn RH, Weidemann AD (1988) Optical modeling of clear ocean light fields: Ramnan scattering effect. Appl Opt 27: 4002-4011

Stoecker DK, Putt M, Moisan T (1995) Nano- and microplakton dynamics during the spring *Phaeocystis* sp. bloom in McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. J Mar Biol Ass UK 75: 815-832

Stolarski RS, Bojkov R, Bishop L, Zerefos C, Staehelin J, Zawodny J (1992) Measured trends in stratospheric ozone. Science 256: 342-349

Strass VH, Naveira Garabato AC, Bracher AU, Pollard RT Lucas MI (1999) A 3-D mesoscale map of primary production at the Antarctic Polar Front: results of a diagnostic model. Deep Sea Res II: accepted

Sullivan CW, Arrigo KR, McClain CR, Comiso JC, Firestone J (1993) Distributions of phytoplankton blooms in the Southern Ocean. Science 262: 1832-1837

Sullivan CW, McClain CR, Comiso JC, Smith WO (1988) Phytoplankton standing crops within the Antarctic ice edge assessed by satellite remote sensing. J Geophys Res 93: 12487-12498

Sverdrup HU (1953) On conditions for the vernal blooming of phytoplankton. Journal Du Conseil International Pour L'Exploration De La Mer 18: 287-295

Takahashi T, Olafsson J, Goddard JG, Chipman DW, Suterland SC (1993) Seasonal variation of  $CO_2$  and nutrients in the high latitude surface oceans: a comparative study. Glob Biogeochem Cycles 7: 843-878

Tanimura A (1981) Distribution of the surface chlorphyll *a* along the course of the Fuji to and from Antarctica. Antarctic Rec 72: 5-48

Taylor HW, Gordon AL, Molinelli E (1978) Climatic charcteristics of the Antarctic Polar Zone. J Geophys Res 83: 4572-4578

Tilzer MM (1984) Seasonal and diurnal shifts of photosynthetic quantum yields in the phytoplankton of Lake Constance. Verh Intern Verein Limnol 22: 958-962

Tilzer MM, Dubinsky Z (1987) Effects of Temperature and day length on the mass balance of Antarctic phytoplankton. Polar Biol 7: 35-42

Tilzer MM, Elbrächter M, Gieskes WW, Beese B (1986) Light-temperature interactions in the control of photosynthesis in Antarctic Phytoplankton. Polar Biol 5: 105-111

Tilzer MM, Gieskes WW, Heusel R, Fenton N (1994) The impact of phytoplankton on the spectral water transparency in the Southern Ocean: implications for primary productivity. Polar Biol 14: 127-136

Tilzer MM, Häse C, Conrad I (1993) Estimation of *in situ* primary production from parameters of the photosynthesis-light curve obtained in laboratory incubators. ICES Mar Sci Symp 197: 181-195

Treguer PJ, Jacques G (1986) L'ocean Antarctique. La Recherche 178: 746-755

Treguer P, Jaques G (1992) Dynamics of nutrients and phytoplankton, and fluxes of carbon, nitrogen and silicon in the Antarctic Ocean. Polar Biol 12: 149-162

Tremblay J-E (1997) Size-fractionated uptake of carbon and nitrogen in the Southern Ocean. Rep Polar Res 221: 92-95

Trenberth KE, Large WG, Olson JG (1990) The mean annual cycle in global ocean wind stress. J Phys Oceanogr 20: 1742-1760

Tüg H (1996) Sunshine simulation. Ann Rep Alfred-Wegener-Insitute for Pol Mar Res 1994-1995: 43-46

Turian GG (1985) Colonisation primaires des murs de beton par une *Chrysocapsa* (Cyanobacterie) a pigment U.V.-protecteur. Sausurea 16: 43-48

Turner DR, Owens NJP (1995) A biogeochemical study in the Bellinghausen Sea: Overview of the STERNA 1992 expedition. Deep Sea Res II 42(4-5): 907-932

van Leeuwe MA, Scharek R, de Baar HJW, de Jong JTM, Goeyens L (1997) Iron enrichment experiments in the Southern Ocean: physiological responses of plankton communities. Deep Sea Res II 44: 189-207

Verlencar XN, Somasunder K, Qasim SZ (1990) Regeneration of nutrients and biological productivity in Antarctic waters. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 61: 41-59

Verstraete DR, Storch TA, Dunham VL (1980) A comparison of the influence of iron on growth and nitrate metabolism of *Anabena* and *Scenedesmus*. Physiol Plant 50: 47-51

Vincent WF, Roy S (1993) Solar ultraviolet-B radiation and aquatic primary production: damage, protection, and recovery. Environ Rev 1: 1-11

von Bröckel K (1985) Primary production data from the south-western Weddell Sea. Polar Biol 4: 75-80

Walker JCG, Klein C, Schidlowski M, Schopf JW, Stevenson DJ, Walter MR (1983) Environmental evolution of the archean-early proterozoic Earth. In: Schopf JW (ed) Earth's earliest biosphere: its origin and evolution. Princeton University Press, Princeton N.J., p 260-272

Wantanabe K, Nakajima Y (1983) Surface chlorophyll *a* concentration along the course of the Fuji (1980/81) to the Southern Ocean. Antarct Rec 77: 33-43

Webb WL, Newton M, Starr D (1974) Carbon dioxide exchange of *Alnus rubra*: a mathematical model. Ecologia 17: 281-291

Wefer G, Fischer G, Fuetterer D, Gersonde R (1988) Seasonal particle flux in the Brainsfield Strait, Antarctica. Deep Sea Res 35(6): 891-898

Williams PJ le B, Robinson C, Sondergaard M, Jespersen A-M, Bentley TL, Lefevre D, Richardson K, Riemann B (1996) Algal <sup>14</sup>C and carbon metabolisms. 2. Experimental observations with the diatom *Skeletonema costatum*. J Plankton Res 18(10): 1961-1974

#### DANKSAGUNG

Mein herzlicher Dank gilt meinem Doktorvater Prof. Max Tilzer, der mir das Thema der vorliegenden Arbeit überließ und mich während meiner Promotionszeit mit anregenden Diskussionen und hilfreicher Kritik betreute.

Dr. habil. Christian Wiencke danke ich sehr für das stete Interesse an meiner Arbeit, die Übernahme der offiziellen Betreuung und die Begutachtung meiner Arbeit.

Mein Dank gilt auch allen Wissenschaftlerinnen und Wissenschaftlern der Expedition ANT XIII/2 des Forschungschiffes "Polarstern", die mir wichtige Daten für die Anfertigung dieser Arbeit zu Verfügung gestellt haben. Für die Hilfsbereitschaft bei der Arbeit auf See danke ich der Besatzung an Bord, dem Fahrtleiter Victor Smetacek und ganz besonders Tine Bratrich und Renate Lehmann, die mich auf der ganzen Reise zu allen Tages- und Nachtzeiten bei den Messungen unterstützt haben und viel dazu beigetragen haben, daß die harte Arbeit, auch sehr viel Spaß gemacht hat.

Herzlich bedanken möchte ich mich bei den Mitarbeiterinnen und Mitarbeitern des Alfred-Wegener- Insitutes, sowie Wissenschaftlern/innen anderer Insitute, mit denen ich während meiner Dissertation zusammenarbeiten konnte und denen ich viele Hilfen, Anregungen und Ratschläge zu verdanken habe. Dabei möchte ich besonders nennen Erika Alhusen, Kai Bishof, Steffen Burkhardt, Sarah Bury, Nicole Dijkman, Corinna Dubischar, Jörg Dutz, Clivia Häse, Dieter Hanelt, Thomas Hanken, Christian Hamm, Peter Hartig, Elisabeth Helmke, Inga Hense, Ulrich Hoge, Ola Holby, Bernd Kroon, Ulf Karsten, Mike Lucas, Ingrid Lukait, Evi Nöthig, Alberto Naveira Garabato, Norbert Rieper, Rüdiger Roettgers, Thomas Sawall, Meint Schültke, Helga Schwarz, Volker Strass, Marika Sündermann, David Thomas, Jean-Eric Tremblay, Helmut Tüg.

Herzlichen Dank gilt meinen Zimmerkameradinnen Nicole, Erika und Marika und meinen Zimmernachbarn Horst, Sven und Christof, die durch ihre gute Laune und ihre Hilfsbereitschaft während der verschiedenen Phasen der Arbeit vieles angenehmer und schöner machten. Anschließend danke ich sehr meinen Eltern, die mich mit Vertrauen und ihrer Unterstützung bis zur Dissertation begleitet haben. Insbesondere dafür, daß ich dank ihrer Babysitter-Dienste mich zwei Monate vollständig der Fertigstellung der Arbeit widmen konnte. Widmen möchte ich die Arbeit meinem Mann Piet, der mich mit Geduld während meiner ganzen Promotionszeit unterstützte und durch sein gestalterisches Know-how maßgeblich zur Verschönerung der Arbeit beitrug.

# Folgende Hefte der Reihe "Berichte zur Polarforschung" sind bisher erschienen:

Sonderheft Nr. 1/1981 – "Die Antarktis und ihr Lebensraum" Eine Einführung für Besucher – Herausgegeben im Auftrag von SCAR Heft Nr. 1/1982 – "Die Filchner-Schelfeis-Expedition 1980/81" zusammengestellt von Heinz Kohnen Heft Nr. 2/1982 – "Deutsche Antarktis-Expedition 1980/81 mit FS "Meteor" First International BIOMASS Experiment (FIBEX) – Liste der Zooplankton- und Mikronektonnetzfänge zusammengestellt von Norbert Klages Heft Nr. 3/1982 - "Digitale und analoge Krill-Echolot-Rohdatenerfassung an Bord des Forschungs-schiffes ,Meteor" (im Rahmen von FIBEX 1980/81, Fahrtabschnitt ANT III), von Bodo Morgenstern Heft Nr. 4/1982 – "Fichner-Scheffeis-Expedition 1980/81" Liste der Planktonfänge und Lichtstärkemessungen zusammengestellt von Gerd Hubold und H. Eberhard Drescher Heft Nr. 5/1982 – "Joint Biological Expedition on RRS 'John Biscoe', February 1982" by G. Hempel and R. B. Heywood Hett Nr. 6/1982 – "Antarktis-Expedition 1981/82 (Unternehmen "Eiswarte")" zusammengestellt von Gode Gravenhorst Heft Nr. 7/1982 – "Marin-Biologisches Begleitprogramm zur Standorterkundung 1979/80 mit MS "Polar-sirkel" (Pre-Site Survey)" – Stationslisten der Mikronekton- und Zooplanktonfänge sowie der Bodenfischerei zusammengestellt von R. Schneppenheim Zusammengesteilt von R. Schneppenneim
Heft Nr. 8/1983 – "The Post-Fibex Data Interpretation Workshop"
by D. L. Cram and J.-C. Freytag with the collaboration of J. W. Schmidt, M. Mall, R. Kresse, T. Schwinghammer
Heft Nr. 9/1983 – "Distribution of some groups of zooplankton in the inner Weddell Sea in summer 1979/80"
by I. Hempel, G. Hubold, B. Kaczmaruk, R. Keller, R. Weigmann-Haass
Heft Nr. 10/1983 – "Fluor im antarktischen Ökosystem" – DFG-Symposium November 1982 zusammengestellt von Dieter Adelung Heft Nr. 11/1983 – "Joint Biological Expedition on RRS 'John Biscoe', February 1982 (II)" Data of micronecton and zooplankton hauls, by Uwe Piatkowski Heft Nr. 12/1983 – "Das biologische Programm der ANTARKTIS-I-Expedition 1983 mit FS "Polarstern"" Stationslisten der Plankton-, Benthos- und Grundschleppnetzfänge und Liste der Probennahme an Robben und Vögeln, von H. E. Drescher, G. Hubold, U. Platkowski, J. Plötz und J. Voß Heft Nr. 13/1983 - "Die Antarktis-Expedition von MS "Polarbjörn" 1982/83" (Sommerkampagne zur Atka-Bucht und zu den Kraul-Bergen), zusammengestellt von Heinz Kohnen Sonderheft Nr. 2/1983 – "Die erste Antarktis-Expedition von FS, Polarstern' (Kapstadt, 20. Januar 1983 – Rio de Janeiro, 25. März 1983)", Bericht des Fahrtleiters Prof. Dr. Gotthilf Hempel Sonderheft Nr. 3/1983 – "Sicherheit und Überleben bei Polarexpeditionen" zusammengestellt von Heinz Kohnen Heft Nr. 14/1983 – "Die erste Antarktis-Expedition (ANTARKTIS I) von FS ,Polarstern' 1982/83" herausgegeben von Gotthilf Hempel Sonderheft Nr. 4/1983 – "On the Biology of Krill Euphausia superba" – Proceedings of the Seminar and Report of the Krill Ecology Group, Bremerhaven 12. - 16. May 1983, edited by S. B. Schnack Heft Nr. 15/1983 – "German Antarctic Expedition 1980/81 with FRV 'Walther Herwig' and RV 'Meteor" – First International BIOMASS Experiment (FIBEX) – Data of micronekton and zooplankton hauls by Uwe Piatkowski and Norbert Klages Sonderheft Nr. 5/1984 – "The observatories of the Georg von Neumayer Station", by Ernst Augstein Sondernett Nr. 15/1984 – "FIBEX cruise zooplankton data" by U. Piatkowski, I. Hempel and S. Rakusa-Suszczewski Heft Nr. 17/1984 – Fahrtbericht (cruise report) der "Polarstern'-Reise ARKTIS I, 1983" von E. Augstein, G. Hempel und J. Thiede Heft Nr. 17/1984 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS II mit FS "Polarstern' 1983/84", De Status des Erit elbehabilitet G. Qued 2, bezutsgegeben von D. Fütterer Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten 1, 2 und 3, herausgegeben von D. Fütterei Heft Nr. 19/1984 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS II mit FS "Polarstern 1983/84", Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt 4, Punta Arenas-Kapstadt (Ant-II/4), herausgegeben von H. Kohnen Heft Nr. 20/1984 – "Die Expedition ARKTIS II des FS "Polarstern" 1984, mit Beiträgen des FS "Valdivia" und des Forschungsflugzeuges "Falcon 20" zum Marginal lee Zone Experiment 1984 (MIZEX)" von E. Augstein, G. Hempel, J. Schwarz, J. Thiede und W. Weigel Heft Nr. 21/1985 – "Euphausiid larvae in plankton from the vicinity of the Antarctic Penisula, February 1982" by Sigrid Marschall and Elke Mizdalski Heft Nr. 22/1985 – "Maps of the geographical distribution of macrozooplankton in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean" by Uwe Platkowski Heft Nr. 23/1985 – Undersichungen zur Einktigesmonthelogie und Nahrungsaufnahme der Latven Hett Nr. 23/1985 – "Untersuchungen zur Funktionsmorphologie und Nahrungsaufnahme der Larven des Antarktischen Krills Euphausia superba Dana" von Hans-Peter Marschall

Heft Nr. 24/1985 – "Untersuchungen zum Periglazial auf der König-Georg-Insel Südshetlandinseln/ Antarktika. Deutsche physiogeographische Forschungen in der Antarktis. – Bericht über die Kampagne 1983/84" von Dietrich Barsch, Wolf-Dieter Blümel, Wolfgang Flügel, Roland Mäusbacher, Gerhard Stäblein, Wolfgang Zick Heft Nr. 25/1985 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS III mit FS "Polarstern' 1984/1985" herausgegeben von Gotthilf Hempel Heft Nr. 26/1985 - "The Southern Ocean"; A survey of oceanographic and marine meteorological research work by Hellmer et al. Heft Nr. 27/1986 – "Spätpleistozäne Sedimentationsprozesse am antarktischen Kontinentalhang vor Kapp Norvegia, östliche Weddell-See" von Hannes Grobe Vol Kapp Norvegia, ostitiche Wedden-see von Harines Groom Heft Nr. 28/1986 – "Ise Expedition ARXTIS III mit, Polarstern 1985 mit Beiträgen der Fahrtteilnehmer, herausgegeben von Rainer Gersonde Heft Nr. 29/1986 – "5 Jahre Schwerpunktprogramm "Antarktisforschung" der Deutschen Forschungsgemeissnchatt." Rückblick und Ausblick. Zusammengestellt von Gotthilf Hempel, Sprecher des Schwerpunktprogramms Heft Nr. 30/1986 - "The Meteorological Data of the Georg-von-Neumayer-Station for 1981 and 1982" by Marianne Gube and Friedrich Obleitner Heft Nr. 31/1986 – "Zur Biologie der Jugendstadien der Notothenioidei (Pisces) an der Antarktischen Halbinsel" von A. Kellermann Heft Nr. 32/1986 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS IV mit FS "Polarstern' 1985/86' mit Beiträgen der Fahrtteilnehmer, herausgegeben von Dieter Fütterer Heft Nr. 33/1987 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-IV mit FS "Polarstern' 1985/86 -Bericht zu den Fahrtabschnitten ANT-IV/3-4" von Dieter Karl Fütterer Heft Nr. 34/1987 – "Zoogeographische Untersuchungen und Gemeinschaftsanalysen an antarktischen Makroplankton" von U. Piatkowski Heft Nr. 35/1987 – "Zur Verbreitung des Meso- und Makrozooplanktons in Oberflächenwasser der Weddell See (Antarktis)" von E. Boysen-Ennen Heft Nr. 36/1987 - "Zur Nahrungs- und Bewegungsphysiologie von Salpa thompsoni und Salpa fusiformis" von M. Reinke Heft Nr. 37/1987 – "The Eastern Weddell Sea Drifting Buoy Data Set of the Winter Weddell Sea Project (WWSP)" 1986 by Heinrich Hoeber und Marianne Gube-Lehnhardt Heft Nr. 38/1987 - "The Meteorological Data of the Georg von Neumayer Station for 1983 and 1984" by M. Gube-Lenhardt Heft Nr. 39/1987 – "Die Winter-Expedition mit FS "Polarstern' in die Antarktis (ANT V/1-3)" herausgegeben von Sigrid Schnack-Schiel Heft Nr. 40/1987 – "Weather and Synoptic Situation during Winter Weddell Sea Project 1986 (ANT V/2) July 16 - September 10, 1986" by Werner Rabe Heft Nr. 41/1988 - "Zur Verbreitung und Ökologie der Seegurken im Weddellmeer (Antarktis)" von Julian Gutt Heft Nr. 41/1968 – "Zur verbiending und Okologie der Seegdiken im Weddemisen (Ander Heft Nr. 42/1988 – "The zooplankton community in the deep bathyal and abyssal zones of the eastern North Atlantic" by Werner Beckmann Heft Nr. 43/1988 – "Scientific cruise report of Arctic Expedition ARK IV/3" Wissenschaftlicher Fahrtbericht der Arktis-Expedition ARK IV/3" Heft Nr. 44/1988 - "Data Report for FV 'Polarstern' Cruise ARK IV/1, 1987 to the Arctic and Polar Fronts" by Hans-Jürgen Hirche Heft Nr. 45/1998 – "Zoogeographie und Gemeinschaftsanalyse des Makrozoobenthos des Weddellmeeres (Antarktis)" von Joachim Voß Heft Nr. 46/1988 – "Meteorological and Oceanographic Data of the Winter-Weddell-Sea Project 1986 (ANT V/3)" by Eberhard Fahrbach Heft Nr. 47/1988 – "Verteilung und Herkunft glazial-mariner Gerölle am Antarktischen Kontinentalrand des östlichen Weddellmeeres" von Wolfgang Oskierski Heft Nr. 48/1988 - "Variationen des Erdmagnetfeldes an der GvN-Station" von Arnold Brodscholl Heft Nr. 49/1988 - "Zur Bedeutung der Lipide im antarktischen Zooplankton" von Wilhelm Hagen Heft Nr. 50/1988 - "Die gezeitenbedingte Dynamik des Ekström-Schelfeises, Antarktis" von Wolfgang Kobarg Heft Nr. 51/1988 – "Ökomorphologie nototheniider Fische aus dem Weddellmeer, Antarktis" von Werner Ekau Heft Nr. 52/1988 – "Zusammensetzung der Bodenfauna in der westlichen Fram-Straße" von Dieter Piepenburg Heft Nr. 53/1988 – "Untersuchungen zur Ökologie des Phytoplanktons im südöstlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis) im Jan./Febr. 1985" von Eva-Maria Nöthig (Andrata) in 1987 1978 - 1978 Von Evel ward a Voling Heft Nr. 54/1986 - "Die Fischfaund des östlichen und südlichen Weddellmeeres: geographische Verbreitung, Nahrung und trophische Stellung der Fischarten" von Wiebke Schwarzbach Heft Nr. 55/1988 – "Weight and length data of zooplankton in the Weddell Sea in austral spring 1986 (Ant. V/3)" by Elke Mizdalski

Heft Nr. 56/1989 – "Scientific cruise report of Arctic expeditions ARK IV/1, 2 & 3" by G. Krause, J. Meinke und J. Thiede

Heft Nr. 57/1989 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS V mit FS ,Polarstern' 1986/87" Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten ANT V/4-5 von H. Miller und H. Oerter Heft Nr. 58/1989 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS VI mit FS "Polarstern' 1987/88" von D. K. Fütterer Heft Nr. 59/1989 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS V/1a, 1b und 2 mit FS "Polarstern' 1988" von M. Spindler Heft Nr. 60/1989 - "Fin zweidimensionales Modell zur thermohalinen Zirkulation unter dem Schelfeis" von H. H. Heilmer Heft Nr. 61/1989 - "Die Vulkanite im westlichen und mittleren Neuschwabenland, /estfjella und Ahlmannryggen, Antarktika" von M. Peters Heft Nr. 62/1989 – "The Expedition ANTARKTIS VII/1 and 2 (EPOS I) of RV 'Polarstern' in 1988/89", by I. Hempel Heft Nr. 63/1989 – "Die Eisalgenflora des Weddellmeeres (Antarktis): Artenzusammensetzung und Biomasse sowie Ökophysiologie ausgewählter Arten" von Annette Bartsch Heft Nr. 64/1989 - "Meteorological Data of the G.-v.-Neumayer-Station (Antarctica)" by L. Helmes Heft Nr. 65/1989 - "Expedition Antarktis VII/3 in 1988/89" by I. Hempel, P. H. Schalk, V. Smetacek Heft Nr. 66/1989 – "Geomorphologisch-glaziologische Detailkartierung des arid-hochpolaren Borgmassivet, Neuschwabenland, Antarktika" von Karsten Brunk Heft Nr. 67/1990 - "Identification key and catalogue of larval Antarctic fishes", edited by Adolf Kellermann Heft Nr. 68/1990 – "The Expedition Antarktis VII/4 (Epos leg 3) and VII/5 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1989", edited by W. Arntz, W. Ernst, I. Hempel Heft Nr. 69/1990 - "Abhängigkeiten elastischer und rheologischer Eigenschaften des Meereises vom Eisgefüge", von Harald Hellmann Heft Nr. 70/1990 - "Die beschalten benthischen Mollusken (Gastropoda und Bivalvia) des Weddellmeeres, Antarktis", von Stefan Hain Weddelineers, Andrika, von Gelarinka in Versier and Ve Heft Nr. 72/1990 – "Distribution and abundance of planktonic copepods (Crustacea) in the Weddell Sea in summer 1980/81", by F. Kurbjeweit and S. Ali-Khan Heft Nr. 73/1990 – "ZUr Frühdiagenese von organischem Kohlenstoff und Opal in Sedimenten des südlichen und östlichen Weddellmeeres", von M. Schlüter Heft Nr. 74/1990 – "Expeditionen ANTARKTIS-VIII/3 und VIII/4 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1989" von Rainer Gersonde und Gotthilf Hempel Heft Nr. 75/1991 – "Quartäre Sedimentationsprozesse am Kontinentalhang des Süd-Orkey-Plateaus im nordwestlichen Weddelimeer (Antarktis)", von Sigrun Grünig Heft Nr. 76/1990 - "Ergebnisse der faunistischen Arbeiten im Benthal von King George Island Hert Nr. 76/1990 – "Ergebnisse der faunistischen Arbeiten im Benthal von Ning George Island (Südshetlandinseln, Antarktis)", von Martin Rauschert Heft Nr. 77/1990 – "Verteilung von Mikroplankton-Organismen nordwestlich der Antarktischen Halbinsel unter dem Einfluß sich ändernder Umweltbedingungen im Herbst", von Heinz Klöser Heft Nr. 78/1991 – "Hochauflösende Magnetostratigraphie spätquartärer Sedimente arktischer Meeresgebiete", von Norbert R. Nowaczyk Heft Nr. 79/1991 – "Ökophysiologische Untersuchungen zur Salinitäts- und Temperaturtoleranz antarktischer Grünalgen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des β-Dimethylsulfoniumpropionat (DMSP) - Stoffwechsels", von Ulf Karsten Heft Nr. 80/1991 – "Die Expedition ARKTIS VII/1 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1990", herausgegeben von Jörn Thiede und Gotthilf Hempel herausgegeben von John Thiede und Gotthill Hempel Heft Nr. 81/1991 – "Paläoglaziologie und Paläozeanographie im Spätquartär am Kontinentalrand des südlichen Weddelmeeres, Antarktis", von Martin Melles Heft Nr. 82/1991 – "Quantifizierung von Meereseigenschaften: Automatische Bildanalyse von Dünnschnitten und Parametisierung von Chlorophyll- und Salzgehaltsverteilungen", von Hajo Eicken Heft Nr. 83/1991 – "Das Fließen von Schelfeisen - numerische Simulationen mit der Metholde der finiten Differenzen", von Jürgen Determann Heft Nr. 84/1991 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-VIII/1-2, 1989 mit der Winter Weddell Gyre Study der Forschungsschilfe "Polarstern' und "Akademik Fedorov", von Ernst Augstein, Nikolai Bagriantsev und Hans Werner Schenke Heft Nr. 85/1991 – "Zur Entstehung von Unterwassereis und das Wachstum und die Energiebilanz des Meereises in der Atka Bucht, Antarktis", von Josef Kipfstuhl

Heft Nr. 86/1991 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS, von Osen Kiptstum Heft Nr. 86/1991 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-VIII mit FS "Polarstern' 1989/90. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ANT-VIII/S", von Heinz Miller und Hans Oerter Heft Nr. 87/1991 – "Scientific cruise reports of Arctic expeditions ARK VI/1-4 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1989", edited by G. Krause, J. Meincke & H. J. Schwarz

Heft Nr. 88/1991 – "Zur Lebensgeschichte dominanter Copepodenarten (*Calanus finmarchicus, C. glacialis, C. hyperboreus, Metridia longa*) in der Framstraße", von Sabine Diel

Heft Nr. 89/1991 – "Detaillierte seismische Untersuchungen am östlichen Kontinentalrand des Weddell-Meeres vor Kapp Norvegia, Antarktis", von Norbert E. Kaul Heft Nr. 90/1991 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-VIII mit FS "Polarstern" 1989/90. Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten ANT-VIII/6-7", herausgegeben von Dieter Karl Fütterer und Otto Schrems Heft Nr. 91/1991 – "Blood physiology and ecological consequences in Weddell Sea fishes (Antarctica)", by Andreas Kunzmann Heft Nr. 92/1991 – "us sommerlichen Vorteilung des Mesozoonlagktons im Nansen-Beckap by Andreas Kunzmann Heft Nr. 92/1991 – "Zur sommerlichen Verteilung des Mesozooplanktons im Nansen-Becken, Nordpolarmeer", von Nicolai Mumm Heft Nr. 93/1991 – "Die Expedition ARKTIS VII mit FS "Polarstern", 1990. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ARK VII/2", herausgegeben von Gunther Krause Heft Nr. 94/1991 – "Die Entwicklung des Phytoplanktons im östlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis) beim Übergang vom Spätwinter zum Frühjahr", von Renate Scharek Heft Nr. 95/1991 – "Radioisotopenstratigraphie, Sedimentologie und Geochemie jungquartärer Sedimente des östlichen Arktischen Ozeans", von Horst Bohrmann North Nr. 96/1091 – Ularainen Grümenteriogenstruktigtung im Consentu Stud. Oct Octoberd" Heft Nr. 96/1991 – "Holozäne Sedimentationsentwicklung im Scoresby Sund, Ost-Grönland", von Peter Marienfeld von Peter Marienfeld Heft Nr. 97/1991 – "Strukturelle Entwicklung und Abkühlungsgeschichte von Heimefrontfjella (Westliches Dronning Maud Land/Antarktika)", von Joachim Jacobs Heft Nr. 98/1991 – "Zur Besiedlungsgeschichte des antarktischen Schelfes am Beispiel der Isopoda (Crustacea, Malacostraca)", von Angelika Brandt Heft Nr. 99/1992 – "The Antarctic ice sheet and environmental change: a three-dimensional modelling study", by Philippe Huybrechts Heft Nr. 100/1992 – "Die Expeditionen ANTARKTIS IX/1-4 des Forschungsschiffes "Polarstern" 1990/91" herausgegeben von Ulrich Bathmann, Meinhard Schulz-Bäldes, Eberhard Fahrbach, Victor Smetacek und Hans-Wolfgang Hubberten Heft Nr. 101/1992 – "Wechselbeziehungen zwischen Schwermetalikonzentrationen (Cd, Cu, Pb, Zn) im Meerwasser und in Zooplanktonorganismen (Copepoda) der Arktis und des Atlantiks", von Christa Pohl Heft Nr. 102/1992 – "Physiologie und Ultrastruktur der antarktischen Grünalge Heft Nr. 102/1992 – "Physiologie und Ultrastruktur der antarktischen Grünalge Prasiola crispa ssp. antarctica unter osmotischem Streß und Austrocknung", von Andreas Jacob Heft Nr. 103/1992 – "Zur Ökologie der Fische im Weddellmeer", von Gerd Hubold Heft Nr. 104/1992 – "Mehrkanalige adaptive Fitter für die Unterdrückung von multiplen Reflexionen in Verbindung mit der freien Oberfläche in marinen Seismogrammen", von Andreas Rosenberger Heft Nr. 105/1992 – "Radiation and Eddy Flux Experiment 1991 (*REFLEX I*)", von Jörg Hartmann, Christoph Kottmeier und Christian Wamser Heft Nr. 106/1992 – "Ostracoden im Epipelagial vor der Antarktischen Halbinsel - ein Beitrag zur Systematik sowie zur Verbreitung und Populationsstruktur unter Berücksichtigung der Saisonalität", von Rüdiger Kock Heft Nr. 107/1992 - "ARCTIC '91; Die Expedition ARK-VIII/3 mit FS "Polarstern' 1991", Hert Nr. 10//1992 – "ARCHC '91: Die Expedition ARK-VIII/3 mit FS, Polarstern '1991", von Dieter K. Fütterer Hert Nr. 108/1992 – "Dehnungsbeben an einer Störungszone im Ekström-Schelfeis nördlich der Georg-von-Neumayer-Station, Antarktis. – Eine Untersuchung mit seismologischen und geodätischen Methoden", von Uwe Nixdorf. Methoden", von Uwe Nixdorf. Heft Nr. 109/1992 – "Spätquaräre Sedimentation am Kontinentalrand des südöstlichen Weddellmeeres, Antarktis", von Michael Weber. Heft Nr. 110/1992 – "Sedimentfazies und Bodenwasserstrom am Kontinentalhang des norwestlichen Weddellmeeres", von Isa Brehme. Heft Nr. 111/1992 – "Die Lebensbedingungen in den Solekanälchen des antarktischen Meereises", von Jürgen Weissenberger. Heft Nr. 112/1992 – "Zur Taxonomie von rezenten benthischen Foraminiferen aus dem Nansen Becken, Arktischer Ozeam", von Julta Wollenburg. Heft Nr. 113/1992 – "Die Expedition ARKTIS VIII/1 mit FS "Polarstern' 1991", herausgegeben von Gerhard Kattner. Heft Nr. 114/1992 – Die Gründungenbase deutscher Polarforschunn. 1865 - 1875" Heft Nr. 114/1992 – "Die Gründungsphase deutscher Polarforschung, 1865 - 1875", von Reinhard A. Krause.
Heft Nr. 115/1992 – "Scientific Cruise Report of the 1991 Arctic Expedition ARK VIII/2 of RV 'Polarstern' (EPOS II)", by Eike Rachor.
Heft Nr. 115/1992 – "The Meteorological Data of the Georg-von-Neumayer-Station (Antarctica) for 1988, 1989, 1990 and 1991", by Gert König-Langlo.
Heft Nr. 117/1992 – "Die mafischen Gänge des Stackleton Range / Antarktika: Petrographie, Geochemie, Isotopengeochemie und Paláomagnetik", von Rüdiger Hotten.
Heft Nr. 119/1993 – "Gefrierschutz bei Fischen der Polarmeere", von Andreas P. A. Wöhrmann.
Heft Nr. 119/1993 – "East Siberian Arctic Region Expedition '92: The Laptev Sea - its Significance for Arctic Sea-Ice Formation and Transpolar Sediment Flux", by D. Dethieff, D. Nürnberg, E. Reinmitz, M. Saarso and Y. P. Sacchenko, – "Expedition to Novaja Zemlja and Franz Josef Land with RV. 'Dalnie Zelentsy'', by D. Nürnberg and E. Groth. Heft Nr. 114/1992 - "Die Gründungsphase deutscher Polarforschung, 1865 - 1875",
Heft Nr. 121/1993 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS X/3 mit FS ", Polarstern' 1992", herausgegeben von Michael Spindler, Gerhard Dieckmann und David Thomas Heft Nr. 122/1993 – "Die Beschreibung der Korngestalt mit Hilfe der Fourier-Analyse: Parametrisierung der morphologischen Eigenschaften von Sedimentpartikeln", von Michael Diepenbroek. Heft Nr. 123/1993 - "Zerstörungsfreie hochauflösende Dichteuntersuchungen mariner Sedimente", von Sebastian Gerland. Worl Socialitäti (1993) - "Umsatz und Verteilung von Lipiden in arktischen marinen Organismen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung unterer trophischer Stufen", von Martin Graeve. Heft Nr. 125/1993 - "Ökologie und Respiration ausgewählter arktischer Bodenfischarten", von Christian F. von Dorrien. Heft Nr. 126/1993 – "Quantitative Bestimmung von Paläoumweltparametern des Antarktischen Oberflächenwassers im Spätquartier anhand von Transferfunktionen mit Diatomeen", von Ulrich Zielinski Heft Nr. 127/1993 – "Sedimenttransport durch das arktische Meereis: Die rezente lithogene Heft Nr. 127/1993 – "Sedimenttransport durch das arktische Meereis: Die rezente lithogene und biogene Materialfracht", von Ingo Wollenburg. Heft Nr. 128/1993 – "Cruise ANTARKTIS X/3 of RV 'Polarstern': CTD-Report", von Marek Zwierz. Heft Nr. 128/1993 – "Reproduktion und Lebenszyklen dominanter Copepodenarten aus dem Weddellmeer, Antarktis", von Frank Kurbjeweit Heft Nr. 130/1993 – "Untersuchungen zu Temperaturregime und Massenhaushalt des Filchner-Ronne-Schelfeises, Antarktis, unter besonderer Berücksichtigung von Anfrier- und Abschmetzprozessen", von Klaus Grosfeld Heft Nr. 131/1993 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS X/5 mit FS "Polarstern' 1992", herausgegeben von Rainer Gersonde Heft Nr. 132/1993 – "Bildung und Abgabe kurzkettiger halogenierter Kohlenwasserstoffe durch Heft Nr. 132/1993 – "Bildung und Abgabe kurzkettiger halogenierter Kohlenwasserstoffe durch Makroalgen der Polarregionen", von Frank Laturnus Heft Nr. 133/1994 – "Radiation and Eddy Flux Experiment 1993 (*REFLEX II*)", by Christoph Kottmeier, Jörg Hartmann, Christian Wamser, Axel Bochert, Christof Lüpkes, Dietmar Freese and Wolfgang Cohrs \* Heft Nr. 134/1994 - "The Expedition ARKTIS-IX/1", edited by Hajo Eicken and Jens Meincke Heft Nr. 135/1994 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS X/6-8", herausgegeben von Ulrich Bathmann, Victor Smetacek, Hein de Baar, Eberhard Fahrbach und Gunter Krause Heft Nr. 136/1994 – "Untersuchungen zur Ernährungsökologie von Kaiserpinguinen (Aptenodytes forsteri) Hert Mr. Todrey – "offestability of a consideration of the second sec von Georg Beyerle Heft Nr. 139/1994 - "Charakterisierung der Isopodenfauna (Crustacea, Malacostraca) des Scotia-Bogens aus biogeographischer Sicht: Ein multivariater Ansatz", von Holger Winkler. Heft Nr. 140/1994 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS X/4 mit FS "Polarstern" 1992", herausgegeben von Peter Lemke herausgegeben von Peter Lemke Heft Nr. 141/1994 – "Stabilitenaltimetrie über Eis – Anwendung des GEOSAT-Altimeters über dem Ekströmisen, Antarktis", von Clemens Heidland Heft Nr. 142/1994 – "The 1993 Northeast Water Expedition. Scientific cruise report of RV 'Polartstern' Arctic cruises ARK IX/2 and 3, USCG 'Polar Bear' cruise NEWP and the NEWLand expedition", edited by Hans-Jürgen Hirche and Gerhard Kattner Heft Nr. 143/301994 – "Busian-German Cooperation in the Siberian Shelf Seas: Geo-System Laptex Sea", edited by Heidemarie Kassens, Hans-Wolfgang Hubberten, Sergey M. Pryamikov and Rüdiger Stein And Rudiger Stein Heft Nr. 145/1994 – "The 1993 Northeast Water Expedition. Data Report of RV ,Polarstern' Arctic Cruises IX/2 and 3", edited by Gerhard Kattner and Hans-Jürgen Hirche. Heft Nr. 146/1994 – "Radiation Measurements at the German Antarctic Station Neumayer Heft Nr. 146/1994 – "Radiation Measurements at the German Antarctic Station Neumayer 1982 - 1992", by Torsten Schmidt and Gerd König-Langlo. Heft Nr. 147/1994 – "Arustenstrukturen und Verlauf des Kontinentalrandes im Weddell-Meer / Antarktis", von Christian Hübscher. Heft Nr. 148/1994 – "The expeditions NORILSK/TAYMYR 1993 and BUNGER OASIS 1993/94 of the AWI Research Unit Potsdam", edited by Martin Melles. Heft Nr. 149/1994 – "Die Expedition ARCTIC '93. Der Fahrtabschnitt ARK-IX/4 mit FS -Polarstern' 1933", herausgegeben von Dieter K. Fütterer. Heft Nr. 151/1994 – "Der Energiebedart der Pygoscelis-Pinguine: eine Synopse", von Boris M. Culik. Heft Nr. 151/1994 – "Russian-German Cooperation: The Transdrift I Expedition to the Laptev Sea", edited by Heidemarie Kassens and Valeriy Y. Karpiy. Heft Nr. 152/1994 – "Die Expedition ANTAKTIS-X mit FS .Polarstern' 1992. Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten / ANT-X / 1a und 2", herausgegeben von Heinz Miller. Heft Nr. 153/1994 – "Aminosäuren und Huminstoffe im Stickstoffkreislauf polarer Meere", von Ulrike Hubberten. von Ulrike Hubberten. Netf Nr. 154/1994 – "Regional and seasonal variability in the vertical distribution of mesozooplankton in the Greenland Sea", by Claudio Richter.

Heft Nr. 155/1995 – "Benthos in polaren Gewässern", herausgegeben von Christian Wiencke und Wolf Arntz. Heft Nr. 156/1995 – "An adjoint model for the determination of the mean oceanic circulation, air-sea fluxes and mixing coefficients", by Reiner Schlitzer. Heft Nr. 157/1995 – "Biochemische Untersuchungen zum Lipidstoffwechsel antarktischer Copepoden", von Kirsten Fahl Heft Nr. 158/1995 - "Die Deutsche Polarforschung seit der Jahrhundertwende und der Einfluß Erich von Drygalskis", von Cornelia Lüdecke. von Cornelia Lüdecke. Heft Nr. 159/1995 – "The distribution of ∂\*O in the Arctic Ocean: Implications for the freshwater balance of the halocline and the sources of deep and bottom waters", by Dorothea Bauch. Heft Nr. 160/1995 – "Rekonstruktion der spätquartären Tiefenwasserzirkulation und Produktivität im östlichen Südatlantik anhand von benthischen Foraminiferenvergesellschaftungen", von Gerhard Schmiedl. Heft Nr. 161/1995 – "Der Einfluß von Salinität und Lichtintensität auf die Osmolytkonzentrationen, die Zellvolumina und die Wachstumsraten der antarktischen Eisdiatomeen *Chaetoceros sp.* und *Navicula sp.* unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Aminosäure Prolin", von Jürgen Nothnagel. Heft Nr. 152/1995 – "Meereistransportiertes lithogenes Feinmaterial in spätquartären Tiefseesedimenten des zentralen östlichen Arktischen Ozeans und der Framstraße", von Thomas Letzig. Heft Nr. 153/1995 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XI/2 mit FS "Polarstern" 1993/94", herausgegeben von Rainer Gersonde. Heft Nr. 164/1995 – "Regionale und altersabhängige Variation gesteinsmagnetischer Parameter in marinen Sedimenten der Arktis", von Thomas Frederichs. Heft Nr. 165/1995 – "Vorkommen, Verteilung und Umsatz biogener organischer Spurenstoffe: Sterole in antarktischen Heft Nr. 165/1995 – "Vorkommen, Verteilung und Umsatz biogener organischer Spurenstoffe: Sterole in antarktischen Gewässern", von Georg Hanke.
Heft Nr. 166/1995 – "Vergleichende Untersuchungen eines optimierten dynamisch-thermodynamischen Meereismodells mit Beobachtungen im Weddellmeer", von Holger Fischer.
Heft Nr. 167/1995 – "Rekonstruktionen von Paläo-Umweltparametern anhand von stabilen Isotopen und Faunen-Vergesellschaftungen planktischer Foraminiferen im Südatlantik", von Hans-Stefan Niebler
Heft Nr. 168/1995 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XII mit FS "Polarstern" 1993/94.
Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten ANT XII/1 und 2", herausgegeben von Gerhard Katner und Dieter Karl Fütterer Heft Nr. 169/1995 – "Medizinische Untersuchung zur Circadianrhythmik und zum Verhalten bei Überwinterern auf einer antarktischen Forschungsstation", von Hans Wortmann antarktischen Forschungsstation", von Hans Wortmann Heft-Nr. 170/1995 – DFG-Kolloquium: Terrestrische Geowissenschaften – Geologie und Geophysik der Antarktis. Heft Nr. 171/1995 – "Strukturentwicklung und Petrogenese des metamorphen Grundgebirges der nördlichen Heimfrontfjella (westliches Dronning Maud Land/Antarktika)", von Wilfried Bauer. Heft Nr. 172/1995 – "Die Struktur der Erdkruste im Bereich des Scoresby Sund, Ostgrönland: Ergebnisse refraktionsseismischer und gravimetrischer Untersuchungen", von Holger Mandler. Heft Nr. 173/1995 – "Paläozoische Akkretion am paläopazifischen Kontinentalrand der Antarktis in Nordvictorialand – P-TD-Geschichte und Deformationsmechanismen im Bowers Terrane", von Stefan Matzer. Heft Nr. 174/1905 – "The Euroeffice AB/RTIG V/10 elementer in 1004" editor by Honger W. Hubberton Heft Nr. 175/1995 – "Russian-German Cooperation: The Expedition TAYMYR 1994", edited by Hans-W. Hubberten Heft Nr. 175/1995 – "Russian-German Cooperation: The Expedition TAYMYR 1994", edited by Christine Siegert and Gmitry Bolshiyanov. Heft Nr. 176/1995 – "Russian-German Cooperation: Laptev Sea System", edited by Heidemarie Kassens, Heft Nr. 176/1995 – "Russian-German Cooperation: Laptev Sea System", edited by Heidemarie Rassens, Dieter Piepenburg, Jörn Thiede, Leonid Timokhov, Hans-Wolfgang Hubberten and Sergey M. Priamikov. Heft Nr. 177/1995 – "Organischer Kohlenstoff in spätquartären Sedimenten des Arktischen Ozeans: Terrigener Eintrag und marine Produktivität", von Carsten J. Schubert Heft Nr. 178/1995 – "Cruise ANTARKTIS XII/4 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1995: CTD-Report", by Jüri Sildam. Heft Nr. 178/1995 – Cruise ANTARKTIS XI/4 of NY Polatsiern in 1995. Cruisepher, by sun sindam. Heft Nr. 179/1995 – Benthische Foraminiferenfaunen als Wassermassen-, Produktions- und Eisdriftanzeiger im Arkti-schen Ozean", von Jutta Wollenburg. Heft Nr. 180/1995 – "Biogenopal und biogenes Barium als Indikatoren für spätquartäre Produktivitätsänderungen am antarktischen Kontinentalhang, atlantischer Sektor", von Wolfgang J. Bonn. Heft Nr. 181/1995 – "Die Expedition ARKTIS X/1 des Forschungsschiffes "Polarstern' 1994", herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach. Heft Nr. 182/1995 – "Laptev Sea System: Expeditions in 1994", edited by Heidemarie Kassens. Heft Nr. 183/1996 – "Interpretation digitaler Parasound Echolotaufzeichnungen im östlichen Arktischen Ozean auf der Grundlage physikalischer Sedimenteigenschaften", von Uwe Bergmann. Heft Nr. 184/1996 – "Distribution and dynamics of inorganic nitrogen compounds in the troposphere of continental, coastal, marine and Arctic areas", by Maria Dolores Andrés Hernández. Heft Nr. 185/1996 – ""Verbreitung und Lebensweise der Aphroditen und Polynoiden (Polychaeta) im östlichen Weddell-meer und im Lazarevmeer (Antarktis)", von Michael Stiller. Heft Nr. 186/1996 – "Reconstruction of Late Quaternary environmental conditions applying the natural radionuclides <sup>200</sup>Th, "Be, <sup>201</sup>Pa and <sup>201</sup>U: A study of deep-sea sediments from the eastern sector of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current System", by Martin Frank. System", by Martin Frank. Heft Nr. 187/1996 – "The Meteorological Data of the Neumayer Station (Antarctica) for 1992, 1993 and 1994", by Gert König-Langlo and Andreas Herber. Heft Nr. 188/1996 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XI/3 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1994", herausgegeben von Heinz Miller und Hannes Grobe. Heft Nr. 189/1996 – "Die Expedition ARKTIS-VI/3 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1990", herausgegeben von Heinz Miller und Hannes Grobe

Heft Nr. 190/1996 - "Cruise report of the Joint Chilean-German-Italian Magellan ,Victor Hensen' Campaign in 1994", edited by Wolf Arntz and Matthias Gorny. Heft Nr. 191/1996 - "Leitfähigkeits- und Dichtemessung an Eisbohrkernen", von Frank Wilhelms. Heft Nr. 192/1996 – "Photosynthese-Charakteristika und Lebensstrategie antarktischer Makroalgen", von Gabriele Weykam. Heft Nr. 193/1996 - "Heterogene Reaktionen von N2O5 und Hbr und ihr Einfluß auf den Ozonabbau in der polaren Stratosphäre", von Sabine Seisel. Heft Nr. 194/1996 - "Ökologie und Populationsdynamik antarktischer Ophiuroiden (Echinodermata)", von Corinna Dahm Hett Nr. 195/1996 - "Die planktische Foraminilere Neogloboquadrina pachyderma (Ehrenberg) im Weddellmeer, Hett Nr. 195/1996 – "Die plankusche Forammere rivergroupgebung paus gester Antarktis", von Doris Berberich. Hett Nr. 196/1996 – "Untersuchungen zum Beitrag chemischer und dynamischer Prozesse zur Variabilität des stratosphärischen Ozons über der Arktis", von Birgit Heese Hett Nr. 197/1996 – "The Expedition ARKTIS-XI/2 of 'Polarstern' in 1995", edited by Gunther Krause. Heft Nr. 198/1996 - "Geodynamik des Westantarktischen Riftsystems basierend auf Apatit-Spaltspuranalysen", von Frank Lisker Heft Nr. 199/1996 – "The 1993 Northeast Water Expedition. Data Report on CTD Measurements of RV 'Polarstern' Cruises ARKTIS IX/2 and 3", by Gerion Budéus and Wolfgang Schneider. Heft Nr. 200/1996 - "Stability of the Thermohaline Circulation in analytical and numerical models", by Gerrit Lohmann. Heft Nr. 201/1996 – "Trophische Beziehungen zwischen Makroalgen und Herbivoren in der Potter Cove (King George-Insel, Antarktis)", von Katrin Iken. Heft Nr. 202/1996 – "Zur Verbreitung und Respiration ökologisch wichtiger Bodentiere in den Gewässern um Svalbard (Arktis)", von Michael K. Schmid. Heft Nr. 203/1996 – "Dynamik, Rauhigkeit und Alter des Meereises in der Arktis – Numerische Untersuchungen mit einem großskaligen Modell", von Markus Harder. Heft Nr. 204/1996 – "Zur Parametrisierung der stabilen atmosphärischen Grenzschicht über einem antarktischen Schelfeis", von Dörthe Handorf. Heft Nr. 205/1996 - "Textures and fabrics in the GRIP ice core, in relation to climate history and ice deformation", by Thorsteinn Thorsteinsson. Heft Nr. 206/1996 – "Der Ozean als Teil des gekoppelten Klimasystems: Versuch der Rekonstruktion der glazialen Zirkulation mit verschieden komplexen Atmosphärenkomponenten", von Kerstin Fieg. Heft Nr. 207/1996 – "Lebensstrategien dominanter antarktischer Oithonidae (Cyclopoida, Copepoda) und Oncaeidae (Poecilostomatoida, Copepoda) im Bellingshausenmeer", von Cornelía Metz Heft Nr. 208/1996 - "Atmosphäreneinfluß bei der Fernerkundung von Meereis mit passiven Mikrowellenradiometern", von Christoph Oelke. Heft Nr. 209/1996 - "Klassifikation von Radarsatellitendaten zur Meereiserkennung mit Hilfe von Line-Scanner-Messungen", von Axel Bochert. Heft Nr. 210/1996 – "Die mit ausgewählten Schwämmen (Hexactinellida und Demospongiae) aus dem Weddellmeer, Antarktis, vergesellschaftete Fauna", von Kathrin Kunzmann. Heft Nr. 211/1996 – "Russian-German Cooperation: The Expedition TAYMYR 1995 and the Expedition KOLYMA 1995", by Dima Yu. Bolshiyanov and Hans-W. Hubberten. Heft Nr. 212/1996 – "Surface-sediment composition and sedimentary processes in the central Arctic Ocean and along the Eurasian Continental Margin", by Ruediger Stein, Gennadij I. Ivanov, Michael A. Levitan, and Kirsten Fahl. Heft Nr. 213/1996 - "Gonadenentwicklung und Eiproduktion dreier Calanus-Arten (Copepoda): Freilandbeobachtungen, Histologie und Experimente", von Barbara Niehoff Heft Nr. 214/1996 - "Numerische Modellierung der Übergangszone zwischen Eisschild und Eisschelf", von Christoph Mayer Heft Nr. 215/1996 - "Arbeiten der AWI-Forschungsstelle Potsdam in Antarktika, 1994/95", herausgegeben von Ulrich Wand Heft Nr. 216/1996 – "Rekonstruktion quartärer Klimaänderungen im atlantischen Sektor des Südpolarmeeres anhand von Radiolarien", von Uta Brathauer.

Heft Nr. 217/1996 – "Adaptive Semi-Lagrange-Finite-Elemente-Methode zur Lösung der Flachwassergleichungen: Implementierung und Parallelisierung", von Jörn Behrens. Heft Nr. 218/1997 - "Radiation and Eddy Flux Experiment 1995 (REFLEX III)", by Jörg Hartmann, Axel Bochert, Dietmar Freese, Christoph Kottmeier, Dagmar Nagel and Andreas Reuter.

Heft Nr. 219/1997 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XII mit FS ,Polarstern' 1995. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ANT-XII/3, herausgegeben von Wilfried Jokat und Hans Oerter. Heft Nr. 220/1997 - "Ein Beitrag zum Schwerefeld im Bereich des Weddellmeeres, Antarktis.

Nutzung von Altimetermessungen des GEOSAT und ERS-1\*, von Tillo Schöne. Heft Nr. 221/1997 – "Die Expeditionen ANTARKTIS-XIII/1-2 des Forschungsschiffes "Polarstern' 1995/96",

Hert Nr. 22/1997 – "Die Laberhauen Andre Lakas und Victor Smetacek."
Hert Nr. 222/1997 – "Tectonic Structures and Glaciomarine Sediméntation in the South-Eastern Weddell Sea from Seismic Reflection Data", by László Oszkó.

Heft Nr. 223/1997 - "Bestimmung der Meereisdicke mit seismischen und elektromagnetisch-induktiven Verfahren", von Christian Haas.

Heft Nr. 224/1997 - "Troposphärische Ozonvariationen in Polarregionen", von Silke Wessel.

Heft Nr. 225/1997 - "Biologische und ökologische Untersuchungen zur kryopelagischen Amphipodenfauna des arktischen Meereises", von Michael Poltermann.

Heft Nr. 226/1997 - "Scientific Cruise Report of the Arctic Expedition ARK-XI/1 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1995", edited by Eike Bachor.

Heft Nr. 227/1997 – "Der Einfluß kompatibler Substanzen und Kryoprotektoren auf die Enzyme Malatdehydrogenase (MDH) und Glucose-6-phosphat-Dehydrogenase (G6P-DH) aus Acrosiphonia arcta (Chlorophyta) der Arktis", von Katharina Kück.

Heft Nr. 228/1997 - "Die Verbreitung epibenthischer Mollusken im chilenischen Beagle-Kanal", von Katrin Linse. Heft Nr. 229/1997 – "Das Mesozooplankton im Laptevmeer und östlichen Nansen-Becken - Verteilung und Gemeinschaftsstrukturen im Spätsommer", von Hinrich Hanssen.

Heft Nr. 230/1997 – "Modell eines adaptierbaren, rechnergestützten, wissenschaftlichen Arbeitsplatzes am Alfred-Wegener-Institut für Polar- und Meeresforschung", von Lutz-Peter Kurdelski

Heft Nr. 231/1997 - "Zur Ökologie arktischer und antarktischer Fische: Aktivität, Sinnesleistungen und Verhalten", von Christopher Zimmermann

Heft Nr. 232/1997 - "Persistente chlororganische Verbindungen in hochantarktischen Fischen",

von Stephan Zimmermann

Heft Nr. 233/1997 - "Zur Ökologie des Dimethylsulfoniumpropionat (DMSP)-Gehaltes temperierter und polarer Phytoplanktongemeinschaften im Vergleich mit Laborkulturen der Coccolithophoride *Emiliania huxleyi* und der antarkti-schen Diatomee *Nitzschia lecointei*<sup>+</sup>, von Doris Meyerdierks.

Heft Nr. 234/1997 – "Die Expedition ARCTIC '96 des FS "Polarstern' (ARK XIII) mit der Arctic Climate System Study (ACSYS)", von Ernst Augstein und den Fahrtteilnehmern.

Heft Nr. 235/1997 – "Polonium-210 und Blei-219 im Südpolarmeer: Natürliche Tracer für biologische und hydrographische Prozesse im Oberflächenwasser des Antarktischen Zirkumpolarstroms und des Weddellmeeres", von Jana Friedrich

Heft Nr. 236/1997 – "Determination of atmospheric trace gas amounts and corresponding natural isotopic ratios by means of ground-based FTIR spectroscopy in the high Arctic", by Arndt Meier. Heft Nr. 237/1997 – "Russian-German Cooperation: The Expedition TAYMYR/SEVERNAYA ZEMLYA 1996", edited by Martin Melles, Birgit Hagedorn and Dmitri Yu. Bolshiyanov

Heft Nr. 238/1997 - "Life strategy and ecophysiology of Antarctic macroalgae", by Iván M. Gómez. Heft Nr. 239/1997 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XIII/4-5 des Forschungsschiffes ,Polarstern' 1996",

herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach und Dieter Gerdes.

Heft Nr. 240/1997 – "Untersuchungen zur Chrom-Speziation in Meerwasser, Meereis und Schnee aus ausgewählten Gebieten der Arktis", von Heide Giese.

Heft Nr. 241/1997 – "Late Quaternary glacial history and paleoceanographic reconstructions along the East Greenland continental margin: Evidence from high-resolution records of stable isotopes and ice-rafted debris", by Seung-II Nam.

Hett Nr. 242/1997 - "Thermal, hydrological and geochemical dynamics of the active layer at a continuous permafrost site, Taymyr Peninsula, Siberia", by Julia Boike.

Heft Nr. 243/1997 - "Zur Paläoozeanographie hoher Breiten: Stellvertreterdaten aus Foraminiferen", von Andreas Mackensen.

Heft Nr. 244/1997 – "The Geophysical Observatory at Neumayer Station, Antarctica, Geomagnetic and seismological observations in 1995 and 1996", by Alfons Eckstaller, Thomas Schmidt, Viola Graw, Christian Müller and Johannes Rogenhager

Heft Nr. 245/1997 - "Temperaturbedarf und Biogeographie mariner Makroalgen - Anpassung mariner Makroalgen an tiefe Temperaturen, von Bettina Bischoff-Bäsmann.

Heft Nr. 246/1997 - "Ökologische Untersuchungen zur Fauna des arktischen Meereises", von Christine Friedrich. Heft Nr. 247/1997 – "Entstehung und Modifizierung von marinen gelösten organischen Substanzen", von Berit Kirchhoff. Heft Nr. 248/1997 – "Laptev Sea System: Expeditions in 1995", edited by Heidemarie Kassens.

Heft Nr. 249/1997 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS XIII/3 (EASIZ I) of RV 'Polarstern' to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1996", edited by Wolf Arntz and Julian Gutt.

Heft Nr. 250/1997 - "Vergleichende Untersuchungen zur Ökologie und Biodiversität des Mega-Epibenthos der Arktis

Heft Nr. 251/1997 – "Zeitliche und räumliche Verteilung von Mineralvergesellschaftungen in spätquartären Sedimenten des Arktischen Ozeans und ihre Nützlichkeit als Klimaindikatoren während der Glazial/Interglazial-Wechsel", von Christoph Vogt.

Heft Nr. 252/1997 ~ "Solitäre Ascidien in der Potter Cove (King George Island, Antarktis). Ihre ökologische Bedeutung und Populationsdynamik", von Stephan Kühne,

Heft Nr. 253/1997 - "Distribution and role of microprotozoa in the Southern Ocean", by Christine Klaas. Heft Nr. 254/1997 - "Die spätquartäre Klima- und Umweltgeschichte der Bunger-Oase, Ostantarktis",

von Thomas Kulbe

Heft Nr. 255/1997 - "Scientific Cruise Report of the Arctic Expedition ARK-XIII/2 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", edited by Ruediger Stein and Kirsten Fahl. Heft Nr. 256/1998 – "Das Radionuklid Tritlum im Ozean: Meßverfahren und Verteilung von Tritlum im Südatlantik und im Weddellmeer", von Jürgen Sültenfuß.
Heft Nr. 257/1998 – "Untersuchungen der Saisonalität von atmosphärischem Dimethylsulfid in der Arktis und Antarktis", von Christoph Kleefeld Heft Nr. 258/1998 - Bellingshausen- und Amundsenmeer: Entwicklung eines Sedimentationsmodells", von Frank-Oliver Nitsche Heft Nr. 259/1998 -- "The Expedition ANTARKTIS-XIV/4 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", by Dieter K. Fütterer. Heft Nr. 260/1998 - "Die Diatomeen der Laptevsee (Arktischer Ozean): Taxonomie und biogeographische Verbreitung", von Holger Cremer Heft Nr. 261/1998 - "Die Krustenstruktur und Sedimentdecke des Eurasischen Beckens, Arktischer Ozean: Resultate aus seismischen und gravimetrischen Untersuchungen", von Estella Weigelt. Heft Nr. 262/1998 - "The Expedition ARKTIS-XIII/3 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", by Gunther Krause. Heft Nr. 263/1998 -- "Thermo-tektonische Entwicklung von Oates Land und der Shackleton Range (Antarktis) basierend auf Spaltspuranalysen", von Thorsten Schäfer. Heft Nr. 264/1998 – "Messungen der stratosphärischen Spurengase CIO, HCI, O<sub>3</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, H<sub>2</sub>O und OH mittels flugzeugge-tragener Submillimeterwellen-Radiometrie", von Joachim Urban. Heft Nr. 265/1998 - "Untersuchungen zu Massenhaushalt und Dynamik des Ronne Ice Shelfs, Antarktis", von Astrid Lambrecht. Heft Nr. 266/1998 - "Scientific Cruise Report of the Kara Sea Expedition of RV 'Akademic Boris Petrov' in 1997", edited by Jens Matthiessen and Oleg Stepanets. Heft Nr. 267/1998 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XIV mit FS "Polarstern' 1997. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ANT-XIV/3", herausgegeben von Wilfried Jokat und Hans Oerter Heft Nr. 268/1998 - "Numerische Modellierung der Wechselwirkung zwischen Atmosphäre und Meereis in der arktischen Eisrandzone", von Gerit Birnbaum. Heft Nr. 269/1998 - "Katabatic wind and Boundary Layer Front Experiment around Greenland (KABEG '97)", by Günther Heinemann. Heft Nr. 270/1998 - "Architecture and evolution of the continental crust of East Greenland from integrated geophysical studies", by Vera Schlindwein. Heft Nr. 271/1998 – "Winter Expedition to the Southwestern Kara Sea - Investigations on Formation and Transport of Turbid Sea-Ice", by Dirk Dethleff, Per Loewe, Dominik Weiel, Hartmut Nies, Gesa Kuhlmann, Christian Bahe and Gennady Tarasov. Heft Nr. 272/1998 - "FTIR-Emissionsspektroskopische Untersuchungen der arktischen Atmosphäre", von Edo Becker. Heft Nr. 273/1998 - "Sedimentation und Tektonik im Gebiet des Agulhas Rückens und des Agulhas Plateaus (,SETA-RAP')", von Gabriele Uenzelmann-Neben. Heft Nr. 274/1998 -- "The Expedition ANTARKTIS XIV/2", by Gerhard Kattner. Heft Nr. 275/1998 – "Die Auswirkung der 'NorthEastWater'-Polynya auf die Sedimentation von NO-Grönland und Untersuchungen zur Paläo-Ozeanographie seit dem Mittelweichsel", von Hanne Notholt. Heft Nr. 276/1998 – "Interpretation und Analyse von Potentialfelddaten im Weddellmeer, Antarktis: der Zerfall des Superkontinents Gondwana", von Michael Studinger. Heft Nr. 277/1998 – "Koordiniertes Programm Antarktisforschung". Berichtskolloquium im Rahmen des Koordinierten Programms "Antarktisforschung mit vergleichenden Untersuchungen in arktischen Eisgebieten", herausgegeben von Hubert Miller. Heft Nr. 278/1998 – "Messung stratosphärischer Spurengase über Ny-Ålesund, Spitzbergen, mit Hilfe eines bodengebundenen Mikrowellen-Radiometers", von Uwe Raffalski. Heft Nr. 279/1998 - "Arctic Paleo-River Discharge (APARD). A New Research Programme of the Arctic Ocean Science Board (AOSB)<sup>1</sup>, edited by Ruediger Stein. Heft Nr. 280/1998 – "Fernerkundungs- und GIS-Studien in Nordostgrönland" von Friedrich Jung-Rothenhäusler. Heft Nr. 28/1998 – "Rekonstruktion der Oberflächenwassermassen der östlichen Laptevsee im Holozän anhand von aquatischen Palynomorphen", von Martina Kunz-Pirrung. Heft Nr. 282/1998 – "Scavenging of <sup>23</sup>'Pa and <sup>220</sup>Th in the South Atlantic: Implications for the use of the <sup>23</sup>'Pa/<sup>20</sup>Th ratio as a paleoproductivity proxy", by Hans-Jürgen Walter. Heft Nr. 283/1998 - "Sedimente im arktischen Meereis - Eintrag, Charakterisierung und Quantifizierung", von Frank Lindemann. Heft Nr. 284/1998 - "Langzeitanalyse der antarktischen Meereisbedeckung aus passiven Mikrowellendaten", von Christian H. Thomas. Heft Nr. 285/1998 - "Mechanismen und Grenzen der Temperaturanpassung beim Pierwurm Arenicola marina (L.)", von Angela Sommer.

Heft Nr. 286/1998 - "Energieumsätze benthischer Filtrierer der Potter Cove (King George Island, Antarktis)", von Jens Kowalke.

Heft Nr. 287/1998 - "Scientific Cooperation in the Russian Arctic: Research from the Barents Sea up to the Laptev Sea", edited by Eike Rachor.

Heft Nr. 288/1998 – "Alfred Wegener. Kommentiertes Verzeichnis der schriftlichen Dokumente seines Lebens und Wirkens", von Ulrich Wutzke.

Heft Nr. 289/1998 – "Retrieval of Atmospheric Water Vapor Content in Polar Regions Using Spaceborne Microwave Radiometry", by Jungang Miao. Heft Nr. 290/1998 – "Strukturelle Entwicklung und Petrogenese des nördlichen Kristallingürtels der Shackleton Range, Antarktis: Proferozoische und Ross-orogene Krustendynamik am Rand des Ostantarktischen Kratons", Use Aval Remmer von Axel Brommer.

Heft Nr. 291/1998 – "Dynamik des arktischen Meereises - Validierung verschiedener Rheologieansätze für die Anwendung in Klimamodellen", von Martin Kreyscher.

Anwendung in Kuinamodellen, von Martin Kreyscher. Heft Nr. 292/1998 – "Anthropogene organische Spurenstoffe im Arktischen Ozean, Untersuchungen chlorierter Bi-phenyle und Pestizide in der Laptevseo, technische und methodische Entwicklungen zur Probenahme in der Arktis und zur Spurenstoffanalyse", von Sven Utschakowski. Heft Nr. 293/1998 – "Rekonstruktion der spätguartären Klima- und Umweltgeschichte der Schirmacher Oase und des

Wohlthat Massivs (Ostantarktika)", von Markus Julius Schwab.

Heft Nr. 294/1998 - "Besiedlungsmuster der benthischen Makrofauna auf dem ostgrönländischen Kontinentalhang", von Klaus Schnack

Heft Nr. 295/1998 – "Gehäuseuntersuchungen an planktischen Foraminiferen hoher Breiten: Hinweise auf Umweltveränderungen während der letzten 140.000 Jahre", von Harald Hommers. Heft Nr. 296/1998 – "Scientific Cruise Report of the Arctic Expedition ARK-XIII/1 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", edited by Michael Spindler, Wilhelm Hagen and Dorothea Stübing.

Heft Nr. 297/1998 - "Radiometrische Messungen im arktischen Ozean - Vergleich von Theorie und Experiment", von Klaus-Peter Johnsen.

Heft Nr. 298/1998 – "Patterns and Controls of CO<sub>2</sub> Fluxes in Wet Tundra Types of the Taimyr Peninsula, Siberia -the Contribution of Soils and Mosses", by Martin Sommerkorn. Heft Nr. 299/1998 – "The Potter Cove coastal ecosystem, Antarctica. Synopsis of research performed within the frame

of the Argentinean-German Cooperation at the Dallmann Laboratory and Jubany Station (Kind George Island, Antarctica, 1991 - 1997)", by Christian Wiencke, Gustavo Ferreyra, Wolf Arntz & Carlos Rinaldi.

Heft Nr. 300/1999 - "The Kara Sea Expedition of RV 'Akademik Boris Petrov' 1997: First Results of a Joint Russian-German Pilot Study", edited by Jens Matthiessen, Oleg V. Stepanets, Ruediger Stein, Dieter K. Fütterer, and Eric M. Galimov.

Heft Nr. 301/1999 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS XV/3 (EASIZ II)", edited by Wolf E. Arntz and Julian Gutt.

Heft Nr. 302/1999 - "Sterole im herbstlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis): Großräumige Verteilung, Vorkommen und Um-satz", von Anneke Mühlebach.

Heft Nr. 303/1999 - "Polare stratosphärische Wolken: Lidar-Beobachtungen, Charakterisierung von Entstehung und Entwicklung", von Jens Biele.

Heft Nr. 304/1999 – "Spätquartäre Paläoumweltbedingungen am nördlichen Kontinentalrand der Barents- und Kara-See. Eine Multi-Parameter-Analyse", von Jochen Knies.

Heft Nr. 305/1999 – "Arctic Radiation and Turbulence Interaction Study (ARTIST)", by Jörg Hartmann, Frank Albers, Stefania Argentini, Axel Bochert, Ubaldo Bonaté, Wolfgang Cohrs, Alessandro Conidi, Dietmar Freese, Teodoro Geor-giadis, Alessandro Ippoliti, Lars Kaleschke, Christof Lüpkes, Uwe Maixner, Giangiuseppe Mastrantonio, Fabrizio Raveg-nani, Andreas Reuter, Giuliano Trivellone and Angelo Viola. Heft Nr. 306/1999 – "German-Russian Cooperation: Biogeographic and biostratigraphic investigations on selected sediment cores from the Eurasian continental margin and marginal seas to analyze the Late Quaternary climatic variability", edited by Robert R. Spielhagen, Max S. Barash, Gennady I. Ivanov, and Jörn Thiede.

Heft Nr. 307/1999 – "Struktur und Kohlenstoffbedarf des Makrobenthos am Kontinentalhang Ostgrönlands", von Dan Seiler.

Heft Nr. 308/1999 - "ARCTIC '98: The Expedition ARK-XIV/1a of RV 'Polarstern' in 1998", edited by Wilfried Jokat. Heft Nr. 309/1999 – "Variabilität der arktischen Ozonschicht: Analyse und Interpretation bodengebundener Millimeterwellenmessungen", von Björn-Martin Sinnhuber.

Heft Nr. 310/1999 – "Rekonstruktion von Meereisdrift und terrigenem Sedimenteintrag im Spätquartär: Schwermineral-assoziationen in Sedimenten des Laptev-See-Kontinentalrandes und des zentralen Arktischen Ozeans", von Marion Behrends.

Heft Nr. 311/1999 - "Parameterisierung atmosphärischer Grenzschichtprozesse in einem regionalen Klimamodell der Arktis", von Christoph Abegg.

Heft Nr. 312/1999 – "Solare und terrestrische Strahlungswechselwirkung zwischen arktischen Eisflächen und Wolken", von Dietmar Freese.

Heft Nr. 313/1999 - "Snow accumulation on Ekströmisen, Antarctica", by Elisabeth Schlosser, Hans Oerter and Wolfgang Graf.

Heft Nr. 314/1999 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XV/4 des Forschungsschiffes "Polarstern' 1998", herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach.

Heft Nr. 315/1999 - "Expeditions in Siberia in 1998", edited by Volker Rachold.

Heft Nr. 316/1999 – Dependent in Stochastin Frederick, State Frederick, State Frederick, Heft Nr. 316/1999 – Die postglatziale Sedimentationsgeschichte der Laptewsee: schwermineralogische und sedimentpetrographische Untersuchungen", von Bernhard Peregovich.

Heft-Nr. 317/1999 - "Adaption an niedrige Temperaturen: Lipide in Eisdiatomeen", von Heidi Lehmal.

Heft-Nr. 318/1999 – "Effiziente parallele Lösungsverfahren für elliptische partielle Differentialgleichungen in der numerischen Ozeanmodellierung", von Natalja Rakowsky.

Heft-Nr. 319/1999 - "The Ecology of Arctic Deep-Sea Copepods (Euchaetidae and Aetideidae). Aspects of their Distribution, Trophodynamics and Effect on the Carbon Flux", by Holger Auel.

Heft-Nr. 320/1999 - "Modellstudien zur arktischen stratosphärischen Chemie im Vergleich mit Meßdaten", von Veronika Eyring.

Heft-Nr. 321/1999 - "Analyse der optischen Eigenschaften des arktischen Aerosols", von Dagmar Nagel. Heft-Nr. 322/1999 – "Massungen des arktischen stratosphärischen Ozons: Vergleich der Ozonmessungen in Ny-Ålesund, Spitzbergen, 1997 und 1998", von Jens Langer Heft-Nr. 323/1999 – "Untersuchung struktureller Elemente des südöstlichen Weddellmeeres / Antarktis auf der Basis mariner Potentialfelddaten", von Uwe F. Meyer.

Heft-Nr. 324/1999 – "Geochemische Verwitterungstrende eines basaltischen Ausgangsgesteins nach dem spätpleistozänen Gletscherrückzug auf der Taimyrhalbinsel (Zentralsibirien) - Rekonstruktion an einer sedimentären Abfolge des Lama Sees", von Stefanie K. Harwart.

Heft-Nr. 325/1999 - "Untersuchungen zur Hydrologie des arktischen Meereises - Konsequenzen für den kleinskaligen

Stofftransport", von Johannes Freitag. Heft-Nr. 326/1999 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XIV/2 des Forschungsschiffes 'Polarstern' 1998", herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach.

Heft-Nr. 227/1999 – "Gemeinschaftsanalytische Untersuchungen der Harpacticoidenfauna der Magellanregion, sowie erste similaritätsanalytische Vergleiche mit Assoziationen aus der Antarktis", von Kai Horst George.

Heft-Nr. 328/1999 – "Rekonstruktion der Paläo-Umweltbedingungen am Laptev-See-Kontinentalrand während der beiden letzten Glazial/Interglazial-Zyklen anhand sedimentologischer und mineralogischer Untersuchungen", von Claudia Müller.

Heft-Nr. 329/1999 - "Räumliche und zeitliche Variationen atmosphärischer Spurengase aus bodengebundenen Messungen mit Hilfe eines Michelson Interferometers", von Justus Notholt.

Heft-Nr. 330/1999 - "The 1998 Danish-German Excursion to Disko Island, West Greenland", edited by Angelika Brandt,

Helpe A. Thomsen, Henning Heide-Jørgensen, Reinhardt M. Kristensen and Hilke Ruhberg. Heft-Nr. 331/1999 – "Poseidon" Cruise No. 243 (Reykjavik - Greenland - Reykjavik, 24 August - 11 September 1998): Climate change and the Viking-age fjord enviroment of the Eastern Settlement, sw Greenland", by Gerd Hoffmann, Antoon Kuijpers, and Jörn Thiede.

Heft-Nr. 332/1999 - "Modeling of marine biogeochemical cycles with an emphasis on vertical particle fluxes",

by Regina Usbeck. Heft-Nr. 333/1999 - "Die Tanaidaceenfauna des Beagle-Kanals und ihre Beziehungen zur Fauna des antarktischen

Festlandsockels", von Anja Schmidt.

Heft-Nr. 334/1999 - "D-Aminosäuren als Tracer für biogeochemische Prozesse im Fluß-Schelf-Ozean-System der Arktis", von Hans Peter Fitznar

Heft-Nr, 335/1999 - "Ökophysiologische Ursachen der limitierten Verbreitung reptanter decapoder Krebse in der Antarktis", von Markus Frederich

Heft-Nr. 336/1999 – "Ergebnisse der Untersuchung des grönländischen Inlandeises mit dem elektromagnetischen Reflexionsverfahren in der Umgebung von NGRIP", von Fidan Göktas.

Heft-Nr. 337/1999 – "Paleozoic and mesozoic tectono-thermal history of central Dronning Maud Land, East Antarctica, – evidence from fission-track thermochronology", by Stefanie Meier.

Heft-Nr. 338/1999 - "Probleme hoher Stoffwechselraten bei Cephalopoden aus verschiedenen geographischen Breiten", von Susanne Zielinski.

Heft-Nr. 339/1999 - "The Expedition ARKTIS XV/1", edited by Gunther Krause.

Heft-Nr. 340/1999 - "Microbial Properties and Habitats of Permafrost Soils on Taimyr Peninsula, Central Siberia", by Nicolé Schmidt.

Heft-Nr. 341/1999 – "Photoacclimation of phytoplankton in different biogeochemical provinces of the Southern Ocean and its significance for estimating primary production", by Astrid Bracher.

vergriffen/out of print.
 nur noch beim Autor/only from the outhor.

÷

. .

.